Introduction

Melvin I. Urofsky

As we go to press, we have just received
word of the resignation of Justice John Paul
Stevens from the Supreme Court after a long
and distinguished career. The Journal will pay
tribute to Justice Stevens, long a friend of the
Society, in our next issue.

The case of Dred Scott (1857) continues
to receive attention more than a century and a
half after the Taney Court handed down what
Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes called a
“self-inflicted wound.” Scholars and layper-
sons alike for many years were unanimous in
their condemnation of Chief Justice Taney’s
opinion, which is considered one of the worst
case examples of judicial activism and a cause
of the Civil War that broke out four years later. b
More recent scholarship, while not defending
slavery, notes that the Court had precedents for
at least some of its arguments, and that it also
mirrored public sentiment in many important
particulars. Associate Justice Stephen Breyer
reflects some of this new thinking in his visit to
one of the most famous—or infamous—cases
in the Court’s history.

While we do take the Court and its mem-
bers seriously, we need to be reminded from

time to time of Judge Jerome Frank’s ad-
monition that just because a person dons
the silk robe, he or she does not stop be-
ing a fully rounded human being with inter-
ests that reach beyond the bench. The ancient
and noble game of golf is, when referring to
government leaders, often associated with
the executive branch. William Howard Taft,
Dwight Eisenhower, and William J. Clinton
were all well known for their love of—if
not always success at—playing the game. But
apparently members of the Court also en-
joyed going to the links, and Ross Davies
shows us how two members of the Court be-
came enamored of—one might even say ad-
dicted to—trying to get that little ball into the
cup.

While working on his dissertation at the
University of Minnesota, David Schroeder
experienced what every graduate student in
history dreams about: getting access to a hith-
erto unknown cache of private documents. In
his case, the family of Justice Pierce Butler
allowed him to examine a box of letters that
Butler wrote to his son during the time between
Butler’s nomination to the Court by President
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Warren G. Harding in late 1922 and the time
he took the oath in early 1923. In those days,
nominees did not appear personally before the
Senate Judiciary Committee, and so could not
personally answer charges made against them.
How Butler felt about the attacks on him and
how he weathered the storm comprise the basis
for this article.

Well into the latter part of the twentieth
century, historians of the Court had to rely pri-
marily on the published record, the briefs filed
by litigants, and the opinions in the U.S. Re-
ports. Not until Harlan Fiske Stone allowed
Alpheus T. Mason access to his Court papers
did we begin to get a glimpse of the inner
workings of the nation’s highest tribunal. Since
then, other Justices have allowed scholarly ac-
cess to their papers, usually by depositing them
in the Library of Congress and occasionally
placing time restrictions on when they will be
opened. But when we do begin to read the case
files, the notes left by Justices and their clerks,
as well as the inter-Chambers memoranda, we
get a much better idea of how the Court con-
ducts its business. L.A. Powe, a professor of
law at the University of Texas Law School,
experienced the business of the Court first-
hand when he served as a law clerk to William

O. Douglas, and his books on the Court have
been marked not only by a keen intelligence
but also by a familiarity with the Court’s in-
ner workings. In this article, he shows how the
Warren Court’s efforts to deal with obscenity
and the strictures of the First Amendment led
to some compromises among the Justices that
adversely affected at least one person, Ralph
Ginzburg.

Today, we are so used to Justices issu-
ing concurring opinions that we often assume
that, like majority and dissenting opinions,
such opinions have always been there. In some
ways, this is true: they have been there in em-
bryonic form ever since the Court gave up
seriatim opinions during the tenure of Chief
Justice John Marshall. But they were not al-
ways seen or identified as concurrences for
many years. In their article, Charles Turner,
Lori Beth Way, and Nancy Maveety trace the
emergence of these “comments” into what we
now recognize as concurrences.

Last, but not least, Grier Stephenson
brings us up to date on some of the more impor-
tant books that have appeared recently relating
to the history of the Court.

As always, a diverse menu, and we hope
you will enjoy.



Beginning to Write Separately:
The Origins and Development
of Concurring Judicial Opinions

CHARLES C. TURNER, LORI BETH WAY, AND NANCY MAVEETY*

Introduction

While political scientists and legal academics have both evinced a “fascination with disagree-
ment on courts,”! this scholarly concentration on conflict rather than consensus has tended to
focus on dissent and dissenting opinions. As far as we can tell, there is no authoritative history
of concurring opinions in the U.S. Supreme Court. This article is a first effort to correct that
oversight by examining developments and change in concurring behavior from the founding
through the White Court (1921). This period covers the emergence of an institutionally inde-
pendent national judicial branch and ends before the start of the modern, policy-making Court
era, which we argue begins with the Taft Court and the creation of a fully discretionary docket.

Why should there be a history of con-
currences on the Supreme Court? For one, it
remains unclear whether propositions about
the causes and consequences of dissent on
multi-member appellate courts also apply to
concurrence. In other words, are they vari-
ants of the same phenomenon of dissensus, or
are they categorically different decision- and
policy-making expressions? Some early legal
writings on the practice of separate opinion-
writing assert that it is “unnecessary” to dis-

tinguish dissenting and concurring opinions.?

Other authors agree that the increasing promi-
nence of constitutional adjudication drives an
increase in all separate opinions.’ Yet their dif-
ference in proportion relative to opinions for
the Court in the two centuries since the Court’s
first instance of substantive discord suggests
that concurrence should be accounted for
differently from dissent.*

Another reason for attention to the con-
curring opinion is that there has been a great
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deal of change in the use of this device over
the nation’s history. Indeed, from its found-
ing up through the 1940 Term, the Supreme
Court issued 306 concurrences. In compari-
son, in the five Court Terms from 1967 through
1971 there were 335 concurrences. Schwartz
remarked on the “proliferation of concur-
ring opinions” since 1937, a date strongly
linked with the replacement of Charles Evans
Hughes, a strong Chief Justice, by Harlan
Fiske Stone, a weaker leader.> Other scholars,
concurring with this observation, have offered
a variety of institutional, legal interpretative
and personnel-based explanations for the in-
crease.

One of our goals here is to explore the in-
stitutional, behavioral, and perhaps attitudinal
developments that help account for this radi-
cal change. We are interested not only in fre-
quency, but in the content and rhetorical pur-
pose of the concurring opinion over time. Qur
approach in this article will be to examine the
very definition of concurrence, then trace the
institutional development of concurring opin-
ions over the Court’s first 130 years and ex-
plore the messages being sent by the concur-
rences themselves. The concluding discussion
offers some tentative suggestions about the de-
velopment of the concurring opinion.

Defining Concurrence

We define a “concurring” opinion as one in
which a Justice who has voted with the ma-
jority in the disposition of the case but is not
content to merely join the majority writes sep-
arately. Often, such an opinion will explic-
itly state its reasons for separation, though
it is not necessary for it to do so. Today,
such opinions always take a written form,
even in the rare circumstance in which a Jus-
tice insists on reading from the Bench. In the
early Court, however, remarks were more typ-
ically delivered orally.® Table 1 provides a cur-
sory look at the quantity of concurrences in
early Courts.

Though this definition is unlikely to raise
more than a quibble today, defining a concur-
ring opinion has not always been so straight-
forward. Some of the first American dic-
tionaries, Webster’s Dictionary (1806) and
Samuel Johnson’s A Dictionary of the En-
glish Language (1824), focused primarily
on the non-legal, agreement-based definitions
of the term.” For example, Johnson’s second
definition of “concur” is “to agree; to join in
one action, or opinion,” and his second defi-
nition of “concurrence” is “agreement; act of
joining in any design or measures.” Webster’s

TABLE 1: Concurrences by Chief Justice Era™

Number of Total Number Concurrences as % of
Chief Years Concurrences of Opinions Total Opinions
Jay 1789-1795 0 27 .00
Rutledge 1795-1796 0 6 .00
Ellsworth 1796-1801 2 37 .05
Marshall 1801-1835 40 1,238 .03
Taney 1837*-1864 64 2,007 ' .03
Chase 1864-1873 25 1,424 .02
Waite 1874-1887 36 3,684 .01
Fuller 1888-1910 67 6,037 .01
White 1910-1921 18 3,167 .01

*There was no Chief Justice during the 1836 Term. No concurrences were issued that year.
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expanded dictionary, published as An Ameri-
can Dictionary of the English Language in
1828, defined “concur” as “to agree; to join
or unite, as in one action or opinion; to meet,
mind with mind; as, the two houses of par-
liament concur in the measure.”® The defini-
tions are substantively unchanged almost two
decades later in the revised edition.® These
definitions all stress the commonality conno-
tations of concurrence and do not suggest a
difference between agreeing and concurring,
which difference is central to the modern le-
gal use of the term. Though it is impossible
to determine with certainty whether this nu-
anced difference was generally agreed upon
in legal circles at the time, the evidence be-
low from early opinions indicates that the
term was commonly used in Court opinions,
whether everyone meant the same thing by it or
not.

Though the word was in common usage
throughout the Court’s history, there is evi-
dence to suggest that its meaning changed over
the course of the nineteenth century. While
earlier definitions of concurrence included
the word “consent,” it was always explicitly
presented as consent among equals, never as
consent to a higher power or authority. This
begins to change by the early twentieth cen-
tury, when Webster includes the definition
“to assent; to consent” and lists as synonyms
“acquiesce; assent.”'® These definitions im-
ply something unequal about the relationship
between the concurrer and the concurree; the
former seems to be giving in to the latter, or
acknowledging legitimacy, in a manner akin to
modern legal usage.

The standard American legal dictionary,
Black’s Law Dictionary, was not published
until 1891.!! The brief definitions of both
“concur” and “concurrence” in that volume
refer to the equal rights of claimants in the
French civil-law tradition and make no ac-
knowledgement of the term’s use in judi-
cial opinion-writing. It is only in the sec-
ond edition of Black’s Law (1910) that the

modern judicial sense of “concur” is finally
presented:

To agree; accord; consent. In the
practice of appellate courts, a “con-
curring opinion” is one filed by one
of the judges or justices, in which he
agrees with the conclusion or the re-
sult of another opinion filed in the
case (which may be either the opin-
ion of the court or a dissenting opin-
ion) though he states separately his
views of the case or his reasons for
so concurring.'?

Significantly, this definition is published at
roughly the same time as the change in the
Webster definition. What might this mean?
One possibility seems to be that, while judges
had been “concurring” for over a century, it
was only in the early years of the twenti-
eth century that wordsmiths and legal schol-
ars alike began to acknowledge and reflect
upon this process in an overt, explicit man-
per. If the American legal community and the
citizenry at large underwent changes in their
use of this term between the late eighteenth
and early twentieth centuries, then one might
expect to see the catalyst for that change in
the evolution of concurring behavior by jurists
during this era.

Seriatim and the Prehistory
of Concurrences

The lack of an explicitly acknowledged legal
definition of the term makes identifying con-
curring opinions during the early years of the
Supreme Court a challenge. The practice of se-
riatim, in which each judge delivers an individ-
ual opinion, was developed in English appel-
late courts and adopted by colonial, and then
state and federal, appellate courts in Amer-
ica.”® As the first Chief Justice, John Jay—
always more of an elitist than an innovator—
adopted this approach due in part to the ca-
chet it would hold among European nations,
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the respect of which he vigorously sought for
the new nation.'* In fact, though the practice
largely ceased at the Supreme Court in 1801, it
continued for some time in other U.S. appellate
courts,

During the late eighteenth and early nine-
teenth centuries, there were many cases in
which separate opinions were given that defy
the contemporary four-category scheme of
opinion of the court, concur, concur in part and
dissent in part, and dissent.!> Some scholars
merely list these others as “opinions” or “state-
ments” or ignore them entirely.'® We would
like to suggest, however, that at least some
of these early writings should be regarded as
proto-concurrences. Indeed, though the norm
of concurrence was not yet formalized in this
era, examining separate opinions in which a
Justice presents a written (or transcribed oral)
opinion that is distinguished from the opinion
of the Court (or the majority of his Brethren),
but does not disagree with the disposition of
the case, allows us to understand the ways in
which concurrences developed over time. Due
to the ambiguity of many of these separate
opinions and the differing categorizations em-
ployed by scholars, our method has been to
read through each case in this early era to iden-
tify proto-concurrences.

This search for proto-concurrences and/or
concurring opinions begins with the Court
years from 1790 to 1800. This time period
is generally considered the seriatim era,!’
with the language of decisions presented
with words to this effect—“The judges de-
livered their opinions seriatim in the follow-
ing manner”—preceding the individual opin-
ions. The seriatim era presents a particular
challenge for the study of concurrence be-
cause, with every (or nearly every) Justice
stating an opinion in most cases, the case
ends up with what might be considered only
concurrences and dissents. Indeed, even dis-
tinguishing concurrences from dissents be-
comes tricky, because Justices did not always
feel the need to explicitly state their view on
the case outcome or how those views may

be similar to or different from the views of
their Brethren. Presumably the lawyers present
were able to decipher who won and who
lost.

Despite the seriatim reputation of the pre—
Marshall Court, there are cases in this pe-
riod with “by the Court” rulings, and not
every Justice felt compelled to speak in ev-
ery case.'® We believe there are also a handful
of opinions in this era that are properly labeled
proto-concurrences—ones where a Justice ex-
plicitly points out that the basis of his ruling
differs from the other Justices, even though
he reaches the same conclusion in the case
outcome.

In one such case, Calder v. Bull (1798),
Justice James Iredell writes, “Though I con-
cur in the general result of the opinions, which
have been delivered, I cannot entirely adopt
the reasons that are assigned upon the occa-
sion.”'® This is the first opinion issued by
a Supreme Court Justice that explicitly uses
the term “concur.” Justice Iredell could ar-
guably be deemed the father of judicial concur-
rences, since it was he again, in Sims v. Irvine
(1799), who used language that is fairly typ-
ically found in modern concurrences. Iredell
begins his opinion in Sims by saying that
“[t}hough I concur with the other Judges of
the Court in affirming the Judgment of the
Circuit Court, yet as I differ from them in
the reasons for affirmance, I think it proper
to state my opinion particularly.”?® We iden-
tify such opinions as part of the development
of the concurrence because the Justice is com-
menting on his ideas relative to what he sees as
the majority’s reasonings and is claiming his
views as unique from theirs. Such contextual
remarks were not generally made in the seri-
atim period, as each Justice merely sought to
give his view of the case. As has been histor-
ically illustrated, Chief Justice John Marshall
was most inclined to encourage the Justices of
the Court to speak in one voice. His leadership
inspired a profound change in the Court that
can be seen, in some cases, through separate
opinions.
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Chief Justice Marshall and the End
of Seriatim

The conversation between Chief Justice Mar-
shall and his fellow Justices over the issuing
of separate opinions may have gone somewhat
like Bob Dylan’s description of a conversation
between God and Abraham on the issue of free
will: *“You can write separately if you want,
but next time you see me you'd better run.” In-
deed, during the entire thirty-four-year period
that Marshall served, concurrences were is-
sued in only thirty-one cases according to our
count (about 3 percent of all cases) and dis-
sents were issued in only seventy cases (about
6 percent).?! Marshall himself only wrote three
concurrences and two dissents, despite issuing
some 486 majority opinions.”? Marshall took
office on January 31, 1801, and in the first case
decided under his leadership, the opinion be-
gins: “MARSHALL, Chief Justice, delivered
the opinion of the court.”? This style signaled
the end of seriatim and the beginning of the
opinion structure used today.**

The shift was sudden and dramatic. Jus-
tices went from speaking their mind in nearly
every case to falling in line with a single opin-
ion, typically that of the Chief. In fact, no one
concurred on the Marshall Court until Justice
Samuel Chase issued the following in 1804:

I concur with my brethren, as to the

operation of the testimony given by

the Providence Insurance Company

in evidence to the jury, and that it cre-

ated no legal obligation on the com-

pany; but [ am also of opinion that the

testimony given by them in evidence

was inadmissible, and that the circuit

court ought not to have permitted the

same to have been given in evidence

to the jury.”
This first concurrence of the post-seriatim era
is notable because it clearly and briefly states
the essence of what has come to be the “text-
book™ concurrence: Chase agrees with his
Brethren on some particulars, including the
case outcome, but differs on others. While

there are other ways to concur, as will be seen
below, Chase’s opinion illustrates what most
Court observers think of when they hear the
term.

We also find in the Marshall era a num-
ber of “hidden” or “potential” concurrences.
These sometimes take the form of one-line
statements with no indication of reason: for
example, “Cushing, J., concurred.” Occasion-
ally, it seems, extenuating circumstances pre-
vent Justices from saying all they would in a
case. For example, Cushing was probably ill in
this example from the end of the 1806 Term, as
he was listed as too ill to attend the entire 1807
Term. Though we consider these concurrences
for enumerative purposes, we have classified
them as “concurring without opinion.”®

Hidden or potential concurrences can also
be found lurking inside majority opinions. For
example, in Rhinelander v. Insurance Com-
pany of Pennsylvania, Chief Justice Mar-
shall writes the sole opinion, but he hints
that another Justice agrees in the outcome
but is persuaded by different reasons.?” That

In 1804, Justice Samuel Chase issued the first con-
curring opinion of the post-seriatim era. He agreed
with his Brethren on some particulars, including the
case outcome, but differed on others.
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Marshall identifies neither the Justice in
question nor his reasons suggests that such
disagreements may have been viewed as unim-
portant by the Marshall Court, or at least
by Marshall himself.?® Further evidence that
Marshall may have cowed his colleagues into
agreement can be found in majority opinions in
which Marshall speaks of “unanimous” agree-
ment, only to have another Justice speak up and
say that he disagrees. One can only guess how
many potential concurrences are lost to us due
to Marshall’s domineering approach. Indeed,
in some cases, Marshall takes the responsibil-
ity out of the hands of his Brethren entirely, by
including in his opinion of the Court the rea-
sons other (unnamed) judges have given for de-
ciding the case and then concluding that “they
acquiesce, however, cheerfully in the opinion
of the majority of the court.”?’

This issue—of Justices making their dis-
agreements known in Chambers but not to the
public—speaks directly to the issue of vocal-
ity that we are concerned with in this project.
It appears that Justices of the early Court of-
ten saw their task as a unitary one—voting on
the case outcome—and left the other part, le-
gal reasoning, to the opinion of the Court. This
may explain why majority opinions sometimes
suggest a lack of agreement, and even some
dissent, in cases where no written opinions
exist to express these differing views. If Mar-
shall Court Justices tended to see their task
as deciding, and Justices today see deciding
and speaking as coequal,®® then it is worth
attempting to identify when, why, and how
this significant change in the judiciary took
place.

Further complications arise from the fail-
ure of Justices on the early Courts to fully
vet their opinions prior to announcing them.
In this era, Justices occasionally issue spon-
taneous concurrences from the Bench after
hearing the views of another. In one illustra-
tive case, Young v. Black, Justice Joseph Story
delivers the opinion of the Court and then
Justice Brockholst Livingston concurs in the
opinion, offering some views that he believes

differ from those expressed in the opinion of
the Court.?! Following this, Justice Story joins
Livingston’s concurrence! One suspects that,
had the judges more thoroughly aired their
views in conference or during the opinion-
drafting process, as is the standard practice
today, there would have been no need for Liv-
ingston to concur.

This early era of the Court was popu-
lated by cases and controversies very differ-
ent from those typical today. Maritime and
prize cases were much more common than
those dealing with civil rights and liberties,
particularly after the War of 1812. Another
difference was the likelihood of a Justice hear-
ing a case at the Supreme Court that he had
already been responsible for deciding while
traveling on the circuit. Justices responded
to this circumstance with marked irritability,
particularly at times when their Brethren dis-
agreed with them, though they recused them-
selves from voting in these cases. Justice Story
seems to have been particularly likely to “say
something” in such cases. Though such state-
ments are not usually identified by the Court
Reporter as concurrences, since they are the
comments of non-voting judges, we have noted
their presence because they suggest a desire by
some Justices in some circumstances to speak
as well as vote. Indeed, in some cases they
speak when they cannot vote.’?

By roughly 1816, coinciding with the be-
ginning of Henry Wheaton’s tenure as offi-
cial Court Reporter, some uniformity begins
to occur in the issuing of opinions, such that
it becomes easier to distinguish separate opin-
ions from mere statements or other errata. In
March of that year, Congress passed a law re-
quiring publication of all Court decisions. This
institutional development certainly increased
public awareness of Court opinions and may
have created an additional incentive for writ-
ing separately. Justices may have been more
willing to take on the task of issuing separate
opinions with the knowledge that their views
would have some permanence beyond the im-
mediate courtroom.
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That being said, the failure to record exact
votes of Justices and the lack of specific “con-
cur” or “dissent” language in these opinions
makes distinguishing between these two types
laborious. Moreover, as opinions were not re-
quired to be filed in writing until 1835, there
may have been some early oral concurrences
that were reported either inaccurately or not at
all.?®

Finally, many of the opinions that some
sources list as merely “opinion” rather than as
concurrences or dissents may actually be best
classified as concurring opinions in light of
the historical development of this type of writ-
ing.3* Some concurrences even end up being
labeled dissents. Court Reporters, and even
the Justices themselves, might not have yet
developed the communal vocabulary to think
of these writings as “concurrences” at the time
and therefore did not label them as such. How-
ever, read with our definition of the term in
mind, many of these opinions are likely con-
currences, and we suggest that they should be
labeled as such. For example, in Cherokee Na-
tion v. State of Georgia, LexisNexis lists both
William Johnson and Henry Baldwin’s opin-
ions as dissents.>> When one reads those opin-
ions, however, it becomes clear that both re-
ject the plaintiff’s motion and therefore agree
with the decision in Marshall’s Opinion of the
Court. In an era prior to the institutionaliza-
tion of opinion language, Justices often failed
to make their vote clear when they wrote sep-
arately. In order to develop an accurate picture
of the evolution of the concurrence, we have
sought to correct these categorization errors
wherever possible.

Justice Johnson, the first of President
Thomas Jefferson’s appointees and therefore
the first political rival of Marshall and the
Federalists, became the first Justice to distin-
guish himself as a frequent concurrer. Much
has been made of Justice Johnson’s reply to
Jefferson’s inquiry about the demise of seri-
atim, in which the Justice claims that his col-
leagues would be incapable of continuing the
practice: “Cushing was incompetent, Chase

could not be got to think or write, Paterson
was a slow man and willingly declined the
trouble, and the other two Judges (Marshall
and Bushrod Washington) you know are com-
monly estimated as one judge.”*® In his book
on the pre—Marshall Court, Scott Gerber points
out, however, that Johnson and Jefferson were
both Democrat-Republicans, and that Johnson
was disparaging his Federalist brethren.>’ Po-
litically motivated or not, Johnson was sincere
about his desire to speak: he singlehandedly
wrote more than half of all the Marshall Court
CONCUITENCES.

Johnson’s commitment to writing sepa-
rately makes his concurrences a good place
to look for a better understanding of the prac-
tice on the Marshall Court. Why and when
did Johnson concur? The answer to the first
question seems to be that he wanted to pro-
vide a judicial voice for his political party, or
at least provide an alternative to the Federalist-
dominated majority opinions. As to when,
Johnson offers some insight in his concurrence
to Cherokee Nation v. Georgia, where he states
that it is his practice to write opinions in all
constitutional questions. This is an overt state-
ment that the subject matter and/or salience of
a case has, at least for some Justices, a bearing
on the decision to concur.

The movement toward uniformity that be-
gan during Wheaton’s tenure was largely com-
plete by the early Peters Reportership, which
began in 1828. Richard Peters indicates most
separate opinions as either concurrences or
dissents. Thus, the transition from seriatim to
the modern practice of opinions of the Court,
concurrences, and dissents was largely formal-
ized by the end of the Marshall Court.

Despite Marshall’s institutionalization of
the single-opinion approach, the possibility,
appropriateness, and usefulness of multivocal-
ity remained an issue of contention throughout
his tenure. Motives, of course, were often self-
interested. Both President Jefferson and Presi-
dent James Madison advocated a return to seri-
atim because, while individual opinions would
prove the worth of each Justice, they feared the
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Because Justices on the early Courts did not fully vet
their opinions prior to announcing them, they occa-
sionally issued spontaneous concurrences from the
Bench after hearing the views of another Justice.
Joseph Story (above) once delivered the opinion of
the Court. Then, when Brockholst Livingston (below)
concurred in the opinion, offering some views that he
believed differ from those expressed in the opinion of
the Court, Story joined Livingston’s concurrence.

Marshall practice removed individual respon-
sibility and weakened chances for impeach-
ment as a check on the judiciary.’® Despite
occasional pining for a return to past practice.
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however, no Justice seriously embarked on this
return. Even Justice Johnson, the first reason-
ably prolific concurrer, was resigned to merely
filing his own opinions, rather than challeng-
ing larger Court practice. Marshall wanted the
Court to speak with a unified voice and, dur-
ing his tenure, it did so the vast majority of the
time.

Concurrence Content on the
Marshall Court

Empirical quantification of concurring opin-
ions on the early Court is fraught with dif-
ficulty, and extant sources disagree on a so-
lution. Both LexisNexis and The First One
Hundred Justices: Statistical Studies on the
Supreme Court of the United States (1978)
by Albert P. Blaustein and Roy M. Mersky
count and categorize concurrences in a manner
that differs from our count, which was based on
our own close review of the Marshall opinions,
using the bound volumes of the U.S. Supreme
Court Reports.

Analysis of the Marshall Court inevitably
raises the question of “the Marshall factor™:
the power of personality or a personal leader-
ship style in shaping institutional norms and
conventions. Institutional norms of judicial
agreement do seem to have been established
in the Marshall era—at least, their presence
can be inferred from patterns of behavior.
In their study of time and consensual norms
on the Supreme Court, Gregory Caldeira and
Christopher J.W. Zorn have argued that concur-
rence and dissent are co-integrated, that a com-
mon element underlies levels of both, and that,
historically and developmentally speaking, in-
creases in concurrence appear to follow or lag
increases in dissent.’” While their findings are
subject to the interpretation of error-correction
models in general, they conclude that “the in-
fluence of chief justices on concurrences and
dissents operates primary through its effect on
the long-term norms of the Court.”*’ Consen-
sual norms are thus a dynamic process. The
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TABLE 2: Types of Concurrences
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Category

Description

Groundlaying

Establishes an alternative test or interpretation for possible future

use; points to a different part of the Constitution or different

statute than does the majority opinion; can take on three forms:

(1) The majority is correct regarding the particular law or section
of the Constitution at issue and is correct regarding the legal
test they used, but their interpretation was wrong.

(2) The majority is correct regarding the particular law or section
of the Constitution at issue but is utilizing the wrong legal test
or emphasizing the wrong precedent.

(3) The majority is incorrect regarding the particular law or
section of the Constitution at issue.

Signaling

Speculates on how the Justice might decide future cases; indicates to

future litigants what types of cases to bring (or not bring) or
arguments to make (or not make); goes out of the way to discuss
issues not in contention; makes recommendations to legislatures;
makes recommendations to parties or courts in a remand.

Weakening

Narrows the scope of the majority opinion (and, therefore, its stare

decisis power) by specifically pointing to disagreements with the
majority opinion; notes that the majority made a decision that was
unnecessary and should not have been made; often notes they are
not signing on to a portion of the Court’s opinion.

Preserving

Residual category that indicates that the opinion does not meet the

requirements of any of the other three codes; provides a
descriptive history; “just noting” for the record; sometimes
expresses a warning or expresses annoyance; simply a dialogue
with a dissent, other concurrence, or even an amicus brief.

most salient aspect of Caldeira and Zorn’s re-
search for this study is their observation of
no Chief Justice—specific influences on short-
term changes in concurrences, with Chief Jus-
tices responding to and exerting influence on
norms on the Court in dealing with conflict.*!

Concurrences are not all the same.
Lawrence Baum’s recent work on judging as
“self-presentation” to audiences notwithstand-
ing, Justices’ motives are fairly difficult if not
impossible to ascertain.*> We can, however,
evaluate the content of their concurrences for
consistent themes. In previous work, we have
identified four categories of modern concur-

rences.*> Those categories include Ground-
laying, Signaling, Weakening, and Preserving
concurrences. A brief description of each cat-
egory of concurrence follows (see Table 2 for
a more thorough description). Groundlaying
concurrences are those in which a Justice dis-
agrees with the way in which the majority in-
terpreted the issues in the case or preferred a
different means of analysis. Signaling opinions
send a clear message to a specific audience re-
garding the opinion of the Justice on a relevant
matter: for example, a concurrence is coded
as Signaling when the Justice indicates to a
lower court or legislative body how he would
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like to see them behave. Weakening concur-
rences are those in which the Justice either
narrows the scope of the opinion or indicates
that the Court has made a ruling on a particular
matter it should not have. Finally, Preserving is
the residual category of concurrences. In these
concurrences, Justices are not saying anything
that is of jurisprudential significance. Histor-
ically, many have viewed concurrences as all
being Preserving opinions. In other words, the
assumption was that concurrences said little of
importance. Our examinations of the content
of concurrences, however, have revealed that
concurrences often contain contentions that
are both jurisprudentially and institutionally
important. While the general rule is to cre-
ate exhaustive and exclusive categories, some
opinions do contain more than one theme
and, therefore, receive more than one code
(with, of course, the exception of Preserving
opinions).

In order to compare the content of con-
currences, we employ thematic analysis. This
process provides for the categorization of qual-
itative information; it helps make “thick de-
scription” comparable.** Here, thematic anal-
ysis involved the development of a set of codes
for identifying recurring themes and goals in
concurring opinions. In examining the text
of the concurrences, we looked for both par-
ticular phrases in an opinion—including key
words—and the general goal of the concur-
rence, which could be traced back to the text
of the opinion. The key factor here is the ex-
plicit language of the concurrence, not what
can merely be inferred or extrapolated.

Next, we began a detailed reading of each
of the Marshall Court members’ concurrences
from the 1801 through the 1835 sessions. We
identified 40 opinions of the Marshall Court as
concurrences. If these first concurrences say
little of jurisprudential significance, then we
should expect that a high percentage of the
Marshall Court concurrences would be Pre-
serving opinions. The results of the thematic
analysis resulted in the coding of eighteen, or
45 percent, of the concurrences as Preserving
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opinions. Therefore, a little over half of the
opinions contained language of jurispruden-
tial and/or institutional significance. An ex-
ample of a Preserving opinion can be found
in Johnson’s opinion in U.S. v. Morris (1825).
Here Johnson writes, “I entirely concur with
my brethren in the opinion, that the power of
the Secretary to remit extends as well to cases
after as before judgment rendered. The ques-
tion is one which I have had to consider re-
peatedly in my circuit, and which I so decided
more than twelve years ago.”* He then goes
on to write about what he decided in previous
cases.

Fourteen, or 35 percent, of the opinions
were coded as “Groundlaying.” In these opin-
ions, Justices largely indicated that while they
agreed with the outcome of the case, they did
so for different reasons and felt compelled to
note why. An example of a Groundlaying opin-
1on is Livingston’s concurrence in Durousseau
v. the United States (1810). There, he writes
that “I concur in the reversal of these judg-
ments, but not in the construction which the
Chief Justice puts upon the third section of the
act of March, 1808”; he then explains how that
section should be interpreted.*®

Eight, or 20 percent, of the concurrences
indicated “Signaling” language. In these con-
currences, Justices were largely indicating to
lower courts how they should rule in particu-
lar areas of case law. For example, Johnson
signals in Huidekoper’s Lessee v. Douglass
(1805) when he decides to give his opinion
on a question that was not addressed by the
Court. He says that “I concur in the decision
given by the Court in this case; but there was a
question suggested and commented on in the
argument which has not been noticed by the
court, but which appears to me to merit some
consideration.”’ Subsequently, he gives his
legal opinion on the matter.

Finally, the smallest number of concur-
rences was coded “Weakening.” Only five
opinions, or 12.5 percent, of concurrences ex-
hibited Weakening language. In these concur-
rences, Justices explicitly indicated that the
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Court had interpreted the law incorrectly or
ruled on some issue they should not have.
Given what we know about the Marshall Court,
it is not surprising that this category results in
the smallest number of opinions. The only con-
currence that Justice Thomas Todd wrote was
a Weakening opinion, in Finely v. Lynn (1810).
This was what would today be an opinion con-
curring in part and dissenting in part. In it,
Todd indicated that he “concurred in the opin-
ion of the court that the debt of Wells & Co.
was a debt to be paid by Finley, but he differed
upon the other part of the case, being of opin-
ion, that the complainant was not entitled to a
relief which by his bill he had made a merit of
waiving.”4®

Only four of the opinions indicated two
categories of behavior (e.g., Groundlaying and
Weakening).

Given this analysis, it appears from the
very early days of the Court that Justices were
engaging in concurring behavior that was ju-
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risprudentially and institutionally significant.
Groundlaying concurrences are important ju-
risprudentially because they identify alterna-
tive means for interpretation of the doctrine
at issue. Weakening concurrences are signifi-
cant in both dimensions: they undermine the
Court’s interpretation, which could have the
impact of reducing the persuasiveness of
the majority’s legal reasoning; and they are in-
stitutionally significant because they indicate
when Justices feel comfortable with or com-
pelled to undermine the majority coalition.
Signaling behavior results in obvious mes-
sages to other institutions or possible future
litigants and therefore indicates interaction be-
tween institutions. Finally, Preserving opin-
ions are indications of the “judicial egocen-
trism” that some Court watchers have worried
about regarding separate opinion-writing.*’
Table 3 identifies all the Justices of
the Marshall Court, the number of concur-
rences they wrote, and (if they wrote any) the

TABLE 3: Concurrence Types during the Marshall Court

Total
Justice Concurrences Groundlaying Signaling Weakening  Preserving
Cushing 0 0 0 0 0
Paterson 0 0 0 0 0
Chase 1 0 1 0 0
Washington 2 0 0 0 2
Moore 0 0 0 0 0
Marshall 3 0 0 0 3
Johnson 21 8 6 2 9
Livingston 6 2 1 2 1
Todd 1 0 0 1 0
Duvall 0 0 0 0 0
Story 3 2 0 0 1
Thompson 0 0 0 0 0
Trimble 0 0 0 0 0
McLean 2 0 0 0 2
Baldwin 1 1 0 0 0
Wayne 0 0 0 0 0
Total 40 13 8 S 18
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types of concurrences. As previously noted,
Johnson was by far the most prolific concur-
rer. In fact, it would not be overstating the
case to say that the story of concurrences on
the Marshall Court is mostly a one-man show.
While Iredell was the first Justice to concur, it
was Johnson who made it a somewhat regular
practice. Of the sixteen Justices who served on
the Marshall Court, seven of them never wrote
a concurrence. .I()hl]SOH wrote [\\’CI][}’—OI]C. or
52.5 percent, of the concurrences of the Mar-
shall Court. His behavior raises the question
early in the Court’s history of whether concur-
ring behavior is merely idiosyncratic or poten-
tially influenced by institutional dynamics.
Examining the themes of the first concur-
rences allows us to consider not just how the
number of concurrences changed over time,
but also how the content of those concurrences
may or may not have changed. Laura Krug-
man Ray, who utilizes a functional characteri-
zation of concurring opinions, insightfully ob-
serves that the “diversity in the functions of
the concurrence apparently has discouraged
commentators on the appellate process from
extended analysis of its role,” which is more
“pragmatic” than dissent.”® While her work
concerned a limited and contemporary time
period—the early Rehnquist era—she notes
that the “dual nature” of concurrence makes
it both “an agent of stare decisis and an agent

5]

for change.”" As the starting point for our
future examinations of the concurrences of
the Courts to follow, the Marshall Court gives
us reason to suspect that such diversity and
dual nature was present from the outset, even
though the use of the concurring practice was

not frequent.

Concurrence in the Antebellum Era

When Roger B. Taney assumed the Chief Jus-
ticeship in 1837, he became head of an insti-
tution with which he was very familiar. Taney
had served as Attorney General from 1831 to
1833, a post in which he argued many cases
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Justice William Johnson (pictured) was by far the
most prolific concurrer on the Marshall Court, con-
tributing twenty-one of the concurrences during that
era, or 52.5 percent.

before the Supreme Court and had ample op-
portunity to observe the practices and culture
of the Marshall Court. Following a great in-
novator, Taney was faced with the decision
of whether to maintain the practices and pro-
cesses that Marshall had developed over nearly
thirty-five years or to strike out on his own and
endeavor to reshape the Court. On the whole,
Taney and his associates kept the most funda-
mental aspects of the Court intact. There was,
for example, no return to the seriatim opinion
writing that some Democrats may have de-
sired.”? Despite this surface-level procedural
consistency, the concurring opinion continued
to develop in small but significant ways during
Taney’s twenty-eight years as Chief.

The quantity of concurrences on the Taney
Court suggests that the practice of concurrence
writing did not drastically expand or contract
during Taney’s tenure. The most contentious
period for the Court, in terms of both concur-
rence and dissent, was from 1853 to 1858. This
six-year period is only about one-fifth of the
Taney Court era, but 45 percent of all Taney
Court concurrences and 34 percent of dissents



BEGINNING TO WRITE SEPARATELY

were written in these tense antebellum years.
Despite this intensive period—which includes
Taney’s most infamous decision, Dred Scott v.
Sandford®3—the overall percentage of concur-
ring opinions remained essentially the same as
it had been during the Marshall Court.

In addition to consistency in the number
and ratio of concurrences, observation of the
form of reported opinions indicates an addi-
tional area in which there was a lack of signif-
icant institutional change over the course of the
Taney Court. The first six years of the Taney
Court were reported by Peters, whose formal-
ization of reporting is discussed above. Jus-
tices Baldwin and John Catron were unhappy
with Peters for his delays in publication and
led a move to fire him in 1842.* The fact that
Taney was unable to delay the vote on this mat-
ter until the full Court, which would have sup-
ported Peters, arrived may indicate his relative
lack of power as Chief. The opinions for the
remainder of this era were collected by three
different reporters: Benjamin Howard (1843—
1860), Jeremiah Black (1861-1862), and John
William Wallace (1863—-1864). Howard ap-
pears to have continued the competent tradi-
tions of Peters with little innovation. Black
had served as Chief Justice of the Pennsyl-
vania Supreme Court, U.S. Attorney General,
and Secretary of State, and at one point he
was considered a possible successor to Taney
as Chief.>> He was nominated as an Asso-
ciate Justice during the lame duck period of
the Buchanan administration in early 1861,
but not confirmed. These circumstances, com-
bined with the outbreak of the Civil War, made
his brief two Terms as reporter competent,
though not expansive. Finally, Wallace was a
wartime appointee who reported for Taney’s
final two Terms and did not add new elements
to the reports during this time. Despite the
mutiny against Peters, therefore, reporting on
the Taney Court seems to have continued the
standards he established.

Some evidence of Taney’s thoughts about
concurrences can be seen in the separate opin-
ions he authored himself. An important con-
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currence here is Taney’s opinion in the Fugi-
tive Slave Act case of Prigg v. Pennsylvania
(1842), discussed in Donald E. Lively’s 1992
work, Foreshadows of the Law: Supreme
Court Dissents and Constitutional Devel-
opment.>® Lively characterizes the views ex-
pressed in Taney’s concurring opinion as “so
profoundly divergent from the Court’s, how-
ever, [that] it is [the opinion’s] dissenting spirit
that is most notable.””’ Taney’ own writing of
forceful concurrences suggests that the prac-
tice may have been accepted as standard in this
era. Such concurrences, coupled with Taney’s
much greater willingness to allow majority
opinions to be written by others, might indicate
that Court culture became somewhat more ac-
cepting of separate writing on the Taney Court,
even if there was not a dramatic increase in the
practice.

Post—Civil War Docket Growth

The Supreme Court under Chief Justice
Salmon Chase (1864—1873) “was of only ‘lit-
tle less importance’ than that under John
Marshall,” according to one source citing a
contemporary remark. This source continues,
describing the Court during this period as be-
ing characterized “by forcefulness and not
timidity, by judicious and self-imposed re-
straint rather than retreat, by boldness and defi-
ance instead of cowardice and impotence, and
by a creative and determinative role with no
abdication of its rightful powers”>® It is worth
noting that during this period, the Court also
decided one of the most closely divided and
multivocal decisions of the nineteenth century:
the Slaughter-House Cases of 1873.%°

On this latter point, Robert J. Steamer
charges in his 1986 study of Chief Justice lead-
ership that “Chase appears to have had less
interest in crafting opinions or in obtaining a
consensus on the Court than any chief before
or since.”®® Historian Charles Fairman notes
that a regular practice at the Chase Court con-
ference was for each Justice who had been
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assigned the writing of an opinion to bring his
manuscript and simply read it, the others hear-
ing it for the first time and essentially as an
individual effort.5!

Concurring Behavior in the Late
Nineteenth to Early Twentieth Century

The Waite-Fuller Chief Justiceships (1874—
1888, 1888—1910) are often considered to-
gether as a single Court era of judicial
supremacy and pro-business rulings. The
White Court (1910-1921), on the other hand,
is sometimes distinguished as a period of oc-
casional Progressivism and a less unequivocal
approach to the judicial role. While this pe-
riodization may make sense jurisprudentially,
for the purposes of our analysis of concur-
rence, it is appropriate to speak of a Waite-
Fuller-White era of the norm of public una-
nimity. An institutional as well as individual
compulsion toward consensus obtained under
these three Chiefs, but there is some evidence
of intra-Court discord and, in Chief Justice Ed-
ward Douglass White’s case, no exercise of
sanctions against overt conflict by the Court
leader.?

Court leadership is obviously related to
Court conflict, or at least the management
thereof. Steamer identifies Morrison R. Waite
and Melville Fuller as good social lead-
ers, Chiefs who used persuasion and com-
promise to bring about unanimity.%® Indeed,
Waite worked energetically toward consensus
through the use of personal relations and a
willingness to sacrifice his own views.%* This
picture of consideration and concession com-
ports with an analysis of Waite’s docket books
showing the Justices’ private conference votes,
which reveal disagreement at conference fol-
lowed by consensual public voting and specif-
ically a movement from the minority to the
majority coalition.®> Of course, such patterns
are not conclusive evidence of specific so-
cial leadership—as opposed to a general Court
norm of consensus—being responsible for ju-
dicial unity.
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Steamer’s portrait of White in the lead-
ership realm of his job diverges sharply from
the above observations and is worth quoting
in full because of its implication for judicial
inter-agreement:

White, a genial, well-liked man did
not, could not give the conference
firm leadership. Encountering a dif-
ficult case, he was known to say:
“Here’s a baffling case. I don’t know
what to do with it. God help us!”
Clearly, such prefatory remarks to the
discussion of a case give wide berth
to the brethren to debate ad infinitum
until one of them assumes the leader-
ship role abandoned by the chief.5

Despite this, the early White period was fairly
tranquil, with dissent being far less frequent
than it was during courteous but ailing Fuller’s
final decade in office. Indeed, at the opening
of White’s time as Chief Justice, his colleague
Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes recalled that
White was “plainly anxious to create an atmo-
sphere of friendliness and to promote agree-
ment in the disposition of cases ... [W]e
became a reasonably happy family.”®” Har-
mony really only dissipated on the White
Court with the appointments of certain strong-
willed and/or strong-intellect judges—James
C. McReynolds in 1914, Louis D. Brandeis in
1915, John H. Clarke in 1916—whose pres-
ence, combined with White’s diffuse style of
conference management, induced discord. Yet
none of this is really apparent in aggregate fig-
ures for concurrence, which remain fairly con-
stant from 1874 to 1921. Still, Supreme Court
Compendium figures report a discernible in-
crease in cases with concurring filings from
19041909, then an uptick again in 1920. Cur-
sory examination of these years of the White
Court reveals that this may be an artifact of
ambiguities in the description of the data. As
Lee Epstein and her coauthors explain, “[W]e
cannot determine whether data [prior to the
1953 Term] represent the number of concur-
ring opinions or the number of cases with
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concurring opinions. Hence, the proportion
may not be comparable across all terms.”®®

More qualitative, detailed analysis of par-
ticular concurring opinions is necessary to as-
certain the developmental pattern of the Waite-
Fuller-White era and to tease out differences
between Court concurring behaviors under
these three Chief Justiceships. But our future
study will be guided by our preliminary inves-
tigation of the founding and Marshall periods
of the Court, and by the question that emerged
from our observation of “the Johnson factor™:
whether concurring behavior across the pre-
modern Court era was merely idiosyncratic
or was influenced by changing institutional
dynamics.

Discussion

The observations presented above suggest a
few conclusions. First, even before the end of
the practice of seriatim, Justices began issu-
ing opinions that could be considered proto-
concurrences. Second, there was more con-
curring vocality in the early Court than most
previous scholarship has acknowledged.® Not
only were concurring voices raised, but con-
curring purposes were more varied than the
relatively low frequencies of concurring opin-
ions might suggest. Third, even with the inclu-
sion of this larger number of concurrences, the
patterns of concurrence in the nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries clearly differ from
the patterns in more recent Courts. Contem-
porary Justices arguably value and practice
both deciding and speaking. Ultimately, our
goal is to learn when, why and how individual
Justices and, more importantly, the Supreme
Court as a collective came to see the judicial
task in this way, facilitating dissent and con-
currence. Fourth, there is both explicit and im-
plicit evidence to suggest that institutional fac-
tors have shaped the Court’s decision-making
patterns. The preferences of Chief Justices, the
adherence to common-law traditions of En-
glish, colonial, and early state and federal court
systems, and the individual Justices’ views of
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their job responsibilities were all variables that
contributed to the number and type of concur-
rences.

From its earliest instance, the concurring
message was a judicial tool in collegial Court
decision-making. This relationship between
concurrence and collegiality marks the devel-
opmental history of the Supreme Court.
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STEPHEN G. BREYER

Thank you for inviting me to deliver the 2009 Annual Lecture of the Supreme Court
Historical Society. I am a great admirer of the Society’s commitment to preserving the history
of the Supreme Court and to increasing the public’s awareness of the Court’s contributions to

our nation’s history.

This is an especially interesting time for
the Society to be meeting because the Court,
for the third time in the past fifteen years, is
about to have a change in its membership. As
soon as my friend and colleague Justice Souter
announced his intent to retire, public specula-
tion began as to whom President Obama would
nominate to replace him. And as soon as the
President put an end to the speculation with his
announcement that he had selected Judge So-
tomayor, commentators began discussing and
debating her legal views and how her presence
will affect the Court’s decisions. The public’s
interest in a change in the Court’s membership
reminds us that the Court, for all the technical
cases it decides, also can decide controversial,
contentious cases that raise questions that lie
at the heart of contemporary political debates.

Today, I shall re-examine one such case:
the Dred Scott decision, a case that many be-
lieve is the Court’s worst mistake. By examin-

ing the case in detail, I hope to find something
of value for our present-day judicial institu-
tion.

The case I have chosen stands at the in-
tersection of law and politics. Throughout its
history, the Supreme Court has decided cases
containing legal issues that have a significant
political impact. And how the Court can, or
should, make its decisions in such cases is a
topic of abiding interest. Alexander Hamilton,
one of the Framers of our Constitution, ar-
gued that a court is better suited than a leg-
islative or executive body to insist that the
Constitution be followed—particularly in an
instance where doing so is politically unpop-
ular. But he did not explain how we know in
such instances that the public—or the other
branches of government—will do what the
Court says. And while we now assume as a
matter of course that the Court’s decisions will
be followed, that was not always the case. For
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example, despite an 1834 Court determina-
tion that the Cherokee Indians owned northern
Georgia, President Andrew Jackson evicted
the Indians, supposedly saying that Chief Jus-
tice John Marshall “has made his decision;
now let him enforce it.”

Americans have gradually, over time, de-
veloped customs and traditions that lead them
to accept and follow Court decisions. But how
that has come to be is a complicated ques-
tion, a question that itself touches on politics.
The answer, in part, has something to do with
the way in which the Court has responded to
legal issues that have political impact. This
afternoon I hope to illustrate the relation by
speaking about Dred Scott. The Court decided
Dred Scott in 1817 at a time when political
tensions about slavery ran high. In that case,
the Supreme Court held that no African Amer-
ican could be a citizen entitled to sue in federal
court and that no African American could be-
come free simply because he was taken into
a free state by his owner. Dred Scott was a
legal and practical mistake. And for that very
reason it can tell us something about the more
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general question: namely, it can tell us what
courts cannot and should not do when politics
and law overlap.

Let us, then, look back to the mid-
nineteenth century, to the era of slavery in the
United States. And let us consider the back-
ground, the issues, the reasoning, the imme-
diate consequences, and the topical lessons of
Dred Scott.

I. Background

Three individuals play key roles in this story:
Dred Scott, Roger Taney, and Benjamin Curtis.
Scott was born a slave on a Virginia plantation
in the early 1800s. His first owner, Peter Blow,
took Scott with him to St. Louis, Missouri;
he sold Scott to an army doctor, John Emer-
son; Emerson took Scott with him from base to
base, including Fort Armstrong in the free state
of Tllinois and Fort Snelling in the free territory
of Wisconsin (now in Minnesota). During his
three-year stay at Fort Snelling, Scott married.
Dr. Emerson then returned to St. Louis with

- \ .

After Dred Scott—pictured here with his wife, Harriet—Ilost his suit before the Supreme Court, he was bought
by a son of his original owner, Peter Blow, who set them both free. Within a year, however, Scott had died of
tuberculosis.
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Scott, Scott’s wife, Harriet, and Scott’s newly
born child, Eliza. After Emerson died, Scott
and his family ultimately became the property
first of Emerson’s wife and eventually of his
wife’s brother, Sanford. Scott—or perhaps his
wife Harriet—was not satisfied with this ar-
rangement, and they brought a lawsuit, first in
state, then in federal court. They argued that
their lengthy stay in free territory legally had
made Scott a free man.

Roger Taney, Chief Justice of the United
States, wrote the majority opinion in the Dred
Scott case. Taney was born in Maryland in
1777 to a family of tobacco farmers. A long-
time supporter of Andrew Jackson, he became
Attorney General in the Jackson administra-
tion and was appointed Chief Justice in 1835.
He was an excellent lawyer, possessing what
one observer called a “moonlight mind”—a
mind that gave “all the light of day without
its glare.” He had argued for a gradual end to
slavery, an institution which he viewed to be
an “evil” and a “blot on our national charac-
ter;” he had represented abolitionists; and he
had freed his own slaves. On the other hand, as
Attorney General, Taney advised the President
that the “African race, even when free, . . . hold
whatever rights they enjoy” at the “mercy” of
the “white population.”

And, finally, Benjamin Curtis wrote the
main dissent in Dred Scott. Curtis was a native
of Massachusetts. President Millard Fillmore
appointed him to the Supreme Courtin 1851 in
part because of his reputation as a “moderate”
on the slavery issue. He served on the Court for
only six years, resigning after the Dred Scott
decision, in part because, as he said, he doubted
his usefulness on the Court “in [its] present
state,” and perhaps for financial reasons as
well.

You should also keep in mind that slavery
was the main political issue of the day. The
Constitution’s Framers, aware that the South
would not join a Union that prohibited slav-
ery, in effect postponed the question, writing
into the Constitution a series of compromises.
They included language that said Congress,
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prior to 1808, could not prohibit the “migra-
tion or importation” of slaves into the United
States; that prohibited any amendment affect-
ing that bar; and that apportioned legislators
(in the lower house of Congress) among the
states according to population, which was to
be determined by “adding to the whole num-
ber of free persons, . . . [and] three fifths of all
other persons”—that is, slaves. This method of
counting—allowing the South more represen-
tatives based on its slaves while it forbid slaves
to vote—meant that the South was overrepre-
sented in the lower House of Congress and in
the vote count for President, giving it sufficient
political power to block abolitionist efforts.

During the first half of the nineteenth cen-
tury, however, population grew in the North-
west, rather than in the Southwest, as the South
had expected. That fact cost the South its po-
litical advantage, and the South began to fear
abolitionist legislation. At the same time, the
North feared that the South would use every
political and legal device within reach to ex-
tend slavery into new territories, thereby se-
curing the election of pro-slavery Senators
and helping the South to maintain its politi-
cal power.

In this atmosphere, Congress had to de-
cide how to treat new territories—for exam-
ple, those taken from Mexico in 1848. In the
1830s, Congress forbade slavery in territories
north and west of Missouri; in 1845, it admit-
ted Texas as a slave state; in 1850, it admitted
California as a free state. And in 1854 it de-
parted from the Missouri Compromise princi-
ples, permitting two states north and west of
Missouri—namely Kansas and Nebraska—to
choose themselves whether to become slave
states or free states.

The upshot is that in 1854, the legal status
of slaves in the territories was of enormous po-
litical importance. The South feared those ter-
ritories, if free, would soon mean a Congress
that abolished slavery; it wanted the Supreme
Court to find that the right to own slaves, even
in the territories, was a right the Constitution
required the North to respect. The North feared
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that a pro-slavery interpretation of the Con-
stitution would permit the South, not only to
maintain its evil institution, but also to spread
slavery throughout the nation. Many hoped, or
feared, that the Court would use the Dred Scott
case to clarify the legal status of slaves brought
by their owners into free territory.

Il. The Legal Issues

Dred Scott initially brought his case against
his owner, Mrs. Emerson, in a Missouri state
court. He pointed to earlier Missouri cases
holding that a slave who resided for a time in
free territory became a free man. The Missouri
supreme court, however, rejected his claim,
noting that “times are not now as they were
when the former decisions were made.” Before
the Missouri court decision was final, Scott
brought the same suit against his new owner,
Sanford, in a lower federal court. That court,
stating that it must accept Missouri’s decision,
rejected Scott’s claim. And Scott appealed to
the U.S. Supreme Court.

S S
Benjamin Curtis vigorously dissented in Dred Scott,
concluding that Congress had the right to prohibit
slavery under the Missouri Compromise. He resigned
from the Court shortly thereafter, citing the need to
return to private practice to support his family.
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The case attracted considerable atten-
tion. A prominent attorney, later a mem-
ber of President Lincoln’s Cabinet (along
with Benjamin Curtis’s brother), represented
Scott. Three prominent lawyers, including two
United States Senators, represented Sanford.
The issues were the following:

e First, ajurisdictional question—a question
about the Court’s power to hear the case:
The lawsuit was properly in federal court
only if a “citizen” of one state was suing
a “citizen” of another state. Sanford was a
citizen of New York. Even if we assume,
with Scott, that the law made him a free
man, was he then a “citizen” of Missouri?

e Second, if Scott was a “citizen” and ju-
risdiction was proper, then what about the
basic issue on the merits? Did the law make
Scott a free man?

The lawyers argued this case over the
course of four days in February 1856. On May
12, the Court asked for re-argument on the ju-
risdictional question. Court notes reveal that a
majority agreed to a compromise: Justice Grier
would write a short jurisdiction-based opin-
ion rejecting Scott’s claim. When two of the
Justices said they would write a dissent, how-
ever, the compromise unraveled. Chief Justice
Taney reassigned the opinion to himself. On
March 6, 1857, Taney read his lengthy opinion
from the Bench; the next day Curtis read and
then released his dissent. Taney then rewrote
his opinion, releasing his final version in May.

Ill. The Decision and the Reasoning
Behind It

Let me turn now to the decision itself. The
Court initially considered the jurisdictional
question. That question, the Chief Justice says,
is whether “a negro, whose ancestors were im-
ported into this country, and sold as slaves”
is “entitled to sue as a citizen in the courts
of the United States.” The Chief Justice, and
the majority, setting forth highly legalistic
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arguments, held that the answer to this ques-
tion is “no.” Even if Dred Scott is a free man,
he is not a “citizen.”

Here is why: The Constitution allows the
suit only if the case arises “between citizens of
different States.” The word “citizens” is lim-
ited to “citizens of the United States when the
Constitution was adopted.” And that group,
says Taney, could not possibly have included
freed slaves. Why not? “Public opinion” would
not have allowed it. Writing in language that
has since become infamous, Taney explains
that public opinion at that time considered
Africans “so far inferior” to the “white race”
that they had “no rights which the white man
was bound to respect.” Even northern states,
such as Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Con-
necticut, and New Hampshire—states where
abolitionist sentiment was strong and slavery
had been outlawed—forbade slaves to serve
in the state militia, limited their educational
opportunities, and forbade interracial mar-
riage. Moreover, many of the Founders, them-
selves slaveholders, could not have intended
the “equality” they preached to extend to slaves
or former slaves. Further, some contempora-
neous federal statutes distinguished between
“citizens” and “persons of color,” showing that
the latter were not included among the former.
In addition, some Attorneys General of the
United States had expressed that view.

Finally, the Constitution guarantees to
“citizens of each State . . . all privileges and im-
munities of the several States.” How, in 1789,
could anyone have thought that the South
would have granted “privileges and immuni-
ties” to former slaves whom the North consid-
ered free? The Court, Taney concludes, must
not “give to the words of the Constitution a
more liberal construction in their favor than
they were intended to bear when the instru-
ment was framed and adopted ... It must be
construed now as it was understood then.”

Curtis, in a powerful dissent, strongly dis-
agreed. In his view, “every free person born on
the soil of a State, who is a citizen of a State
by force of its Constitution or laws, is also a
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citizen of the United States” and consequently
can sue a citizen of a different State in federal
court. Why?

For one thing, looking back to the Repub-
lic’s founding in 1789, one finds five states—
New Hampshire, Massachusetts, New York,
New Jersey, and North Carolina—which then
included freed slaves among their citizens.
Granted, these states imposed some disabilities
on those freed slaves, but the laws of the first
four states permitted those freed slaves to vote,
and the supreme court of the fifth state, North
Carolina, had explicitly held that “slaves, man-
umitted here, became freemen and therefore,
if born within North Carolina, are citizens of
North Carolina.” How can one read the Consti-
tution, silent on the subject, as excluding from
its term “citizen” some of those very persons
who were allowed, in those states, to vote on
the Constitution’s ratification?

For another thing, without (Curtis says)
entering “into an examination of the existing
opinions of that period respecting the African
race,” a “calm comparison” of the assertion in
the Declaration of Independence that “all men
are created equal” with the “individual opin-
ions and acts” of its authors “would not leave
these men under a reproach of inconsistency.”
It would show that they “were ready and anx-
ious to make” the “great natural rights which
the Declaration of Independence asserts ...
effectual wherever a necessary regard to cir-
cumstances would allow.”

Further, the purpose of the jurisdictional
clause was to extend federal judicial power “to
those controversies into which local feelings
or interests might so enter as to disturb the
course of justice.” And that purpose is simi-
larly served whether a party to the case is of
“white” or “African descent.”

Curtis also states that the majority’s argu-
ments are unusually weak. Its statutory claim
proves nothing, for, if the language of some old
federal statutes suggests that freed slaves are
not “citizens,” the language of other old fed-
eral statutes suggests the precise opposite. Nor
is its “privileges and immunities” argument
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convincing once one learns that the Constitu-
tional provision simply repeats an older guar-
antee in the Articles of Confederation that en-
titled “free inhabitants of each of these States
... to all the privileges and immunities of free
citizens in the several States.” That is because,
at the time the earlier language was adopted,
state delegates explicitly voted down, by a vote
of eight to two, a North Carolina amendment
that would have inserted the word “white” be-
tween the words “free” and “inhabitants,” so
that the guarantee would have applied only to
free white inhabitants. How can one say then
that the Framers intended to exclude all but
white persons from the clause’s protection?
The Court, after having held that it had
no jurisdiction to decide the merits of Dred
Scott’s legal claim, then nonetheless went on
to do just that. Curtis, in reply, points out that
a court that lacks jurisdiction cannot decide
anything further; in violating this basic legal
rule the majority “transcends the limits of the
authority of the court,” though Curtis concedes
that he can go on to express his views on the
merits because he believes jurisdiction exists.
Finally, the Court majority held that Dred
Scott’s claims lacked legal merit: his three-
year sojourn in the free Territory of Wisconsin
and in the free state of Illinois did not eman-
cipate him. The majority might have reached
this conclusion by simply relying on the fact
that Missouri state courts had reached it and
federal courts should follow state courts as
a matter of state law. But in the 1850s that
was not always so: federal courts often second-
guessed state courts on state law matters, par-
ticularly where the matter concerned common
law, not statutory law. And in respect to slavery,
both common law and foreign law were uni-
form and clear. As Curtis pointed out, when
a master took a slave into free territory, living
there “for an indefinite period of time,” taking
“part,” for example, in the territory’s “civil
or military affairs,” and certainly when the
slave married and had children in that place,
the slave became free. Indeed, important fed-
eral statutes—the Missouri Compromise, for
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example—made this clear, for they insisted
that the law of the locality determined the sta-
tus of the slave; and the law of Wisconsin, the
locality around Fort Snelling, gave Dred Scott
his freedom.

The majority reasoned that the laws of
Congress did not apply, however, for, in its
view, Congress lacked the power to make
those laws. It had to concede that the Con-
stitution’s “Territories Clause,” Article IV,
Section 3, Clause 2, says that Congress “shall
have the power to dispose of and make all need-
ful rules and regulations respecting the terri-
tory or other property of the United States.”
But, says the majority, the language, history,
and structure of the Constitution make clear
that this clause applies only to those terri-
tories that were territories in 1789—namely,
certain land belonging then to Virginia, North
Carolina, and a few other states, which those
states intended to cede to the federal govern-
ment. Congress, the majority conceded, has an
implied power to hold territory for the sole pur-
pose of turning that territory into new states.
But it cannot interfere with the rights of citi-
zens entering or living within that territory, any
more than if they were citizens of states. And
were they such citizens, the Constitution would
forbid the federal government to interfere with
their rights to own slaves. That is because the
Constitution forbids Congress to “deprive” a
“person” of “property” without “due process
of law.” It recognizes the “right of property
of the master in a slave.” And nothing gives
“Congress a greater power over slave property
... than property of any other description.”
Rather, the Territories Clause insists that the
federal government “guard” and “protect” the
slave “owner in his rights.”

The Court’s conclusion: it “is the opinion
of the Court that the act of Congress, which
prohibited a citizen from holding and own-
ing property of this kind ... is not warranted
by the Constitution and is therefore void; and
that neither Dred Scott himself, nor any of his
family, were made free by being carried into
this territory, even if they had been carried
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there by the owner with the intention of be-
coming a permanent resident.”

Curtis, adopting the common-law position
discussed earlier, replies to the majority’s ar-
gument as follows: First, the Territories Clause
certainly does give Congress the right to hold
territory acquired from a foreign nation, to
make all necessary rules for governing that
territory, and to include among those rules a
prohibition against slavery. Congress has acted
upon that assumption since the Nation was
founded, buying the Territory of Louisiana
from France, carving it into at least six present
states, enacting ordinances and laws exclud-
ing slavery from various ones of the territories
(for example, the Northwest Ordinance, the
Missouri Compromise) and explicitly exclud-
ing slavery from at least eight states carved
out of either Louisiana or other acquired ter-
ritories. When interpreting the Constitution,
Curtis writes, a “practical construction nearly
contemporaneous with the adoption of the
Constitution and continued by repeated in-
stances through a long series of years may in-
fluence the judicial mind and in doubtful cases
should determine the judicial mind.”

As for the Fifth Amendment’s due-process
argument, a slave is not an ordinary piece of
“property.” Slavery is a “right existing by pos-
itive law ... without foundation in the law
of nature or the unwritten common law.” Nor
could “due process of law” mean that a slave
remains a slave when his master moves from,
say, slave state A to live permanently in free
state B. What law would then govern the slave,
the slaves wife, his house, his children, his
grandchildren? State B has no such laws. And
State B’s judges could not work with a prolif-
erating legal system under which each slave,
coming to B, brought with him his own law,
from A or from C or from whatever other slave
state he happened to be from.

More importantly, says Curtis, the phrase
“due process of law” comes from the Magna
Carta. When Congress passed the Northwest
Ordinance in 1787, it did not think that law
violated the Magna Carta. And “I am not aware
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that such laws, though they may exist in many
States were ever supposed to be in conflict with
the principle of Magna Carta incorporated into
the State Constitutions.”

Still, Curtis and two others were in dissent.
The Court’s majority of six had prevailed. That
majority held:

1) Scott cannot bring his case in federal
court because freed slaves are not citi-
zens of the United States.

2) Many  congressional  anti-slavery-
spreading statutes, including the
Missouri Compromise, are unconstitu-
tional.

3) The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process
Clause protects the ownership rights of
slave holders even when they take their
slaves into free territories and into free
states to live for extended periods of
times.

IV. The Aftermath

The Chief Justice issued his opinion in
the spring of 1857. The South and South-
ern sympathizers reacted favorably; President
Buchanan (perhaps forewarned) favorably re-
ferred to the opinion in his March inaugu-
ral address and in his December State of the
Union address. But the Northerners’ reac-
tion was vehemently negative. Horace Greely’s
New York Herald Tribune described the hold-
ing as “wicked” and “inhumane.” “If epithets
and denunciations could sink a judicial body,”
another observer wrote, “the Supreme Court
... would never be heard of again.”

For example, the New York state senate ju-
diciary committee’s report stated that the deci-
sion had “destroyed the confidence of the peo-
ple in the Court,” predicted that it would be
“overruled,” and described Taney’s statement
that “the colored race” had “no rights which
white men were bound to respect” as “in-
human, unchristian, atrocious, —disgraceful
to the judge who uttered it and to the tri-
bunal which sanctioned it.” The report said the
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opinion paved the way for slavery’s spread to
free states. If “a master may take his slave into
a free State without dissolving the relation of
master and slave,” then “some future decision
of the Supreme Court will authorize a slave
driver ... to call the roll of his manacled gang
at the foot of the monument on Bunker Hill,
reared and consecrated to freedom.”

In another example, Frederick Douglass,
the well-known abolitionist, devoted a New
York lecture to the subject, saying that, de-

spite this “devilish decision” produced by “the
slaveholding wing of the Supreme Court,” the
Court “cannot” make “evil good” or “good
evil.” The “decision,” he concluded, “is a
means of keeping the nation awake on the
subject”; “my hopes were never brighter than
now.”

Indeed, the decision did keep the na-
tion awake. Northern supporters circulated
the Curtis dissent widely in the form
of a pamphlet. Abraham Lincoln, then a
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Republican candidate for Senate, spoke often
about the decision, describing it as a “legal as-
tonisher,” while arguing that Taney’s “whites
only” views had turned “our once glorious
Declaration” of Independence into a “wreck”
and “mangled ruin.” Lincoln based his Coop-
ers’ Union speech—a speech that made him
a national political figure—on Curtis’s dis-
sent. He argued for the Founders’ view of the
Constitution—a view that denied the despo-
tism of slavery—unless, he added, that view
conflicted with some yet more basic principle
that the Founders had held, of which there was
none. Lincoln fed the North’s fear of spreading
slavery by asking, what “is necessary for the
nationalization of slavery? It is merely for the
Supreme Court to decide that no State under
the Constitution can exclude it, just as they
have already decided that under the Constitu-
tion neither Congress nor the Territorial legis-
lature can do it.”

Historians debate the precise role Dred
Scott played in bringing on the Civil War, but at
the least the decision energized the antislavery
North. It became the Republican party’s rally-
ing cry; it helped bring about Lincoln’s nom-
ination and election as President; and these
circumstances together led to that most fierce
War Between the States.

Eventually, the North won. And the Na-
tion added the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fif-
teenth amendments to the Constitution, ending
slavery while securing equal treatment, vot-
ing rights, and basic civil rights to the newly
freed slaves. On a more individual level, Chief
Justice Taney remained on the Court until his
death in 1864; Curtis resigned from the Court
immediately after Dred Scott; and Dred Scott
and his family were bought by a son of his
original owner Peter Blow, who set them all
free. Within a year, however, Scott died of tu-
berculosis.

V. Topical Lessons

History has not treated Dred Scott—or Roger
Taney—kindly. Modern critics describe the
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case as, for example, “infamous,” “notorious,”
“an abomination,” “odious,” a “ghastly error,”
and “judicial review at its worst.” Chief Justice
Charles Evans Hughes said the decision was a
“self-inflicted wound that almost destroyed the
Supreme Court.” The Oxford Companion to
the Supreme Court says that “American legal
and constitutional scholars consider the Dred
Scott decision to be the worst ever rendered by
the Supreme Court.”

These judgments reflect the immorality
of the decision. But what can people today
learn from it? By reading with care, one can
draw certain lessons that remain relevant to-
day. I suggest five. The first concerns judi-
cial rhetoric. Today, as in 1857, the language
a judge uses to set forth his argument matters.
Taney’s words about Americans of African de-
scent having no “rights that a white man must
respect” is lurid, more so than can be found
in other Supreme Court opinions, including
opinions that Taney wrote. An experienced
Supreme Court Justice does not write such
a phrase ignorant of the fact that others will
repeat it and will emphasize its judicial ori-
gin in order to make the sentiment appear le-
gitimate. Putting the words in the mouths of
others—that is, writing that others might have
thought this, as Taney wrote—does not help.
The public will simply ignore the effort to put
moral distance between the sentiment and the
author. And the Justice knows it. The language
was morally repugnant then and now. Curtis’s
disdainful reply seems right: “I shall not enter
into an examination of the existing opinions of
that period respecting the African race,” while
calling for a “calm comparison.”

The second lesson reinforces the opti-
mistic judicial view that, when a judge writes
an opinion, even in a highly visible, politically
controversial case with public feeling running
high, the opinion’s reasoning—not simply the
author’s conclusion—can make all the differ-
ence. Curtis’s opinion was but one of three dis-
sents. Its language is not the most colorful. But
its reasoning is by far the strongest. Indeed, it
paints the Taney majority into a logical corner
from which it has never emerged.
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What is the answer to Curtis’s claim
that five states treated slaves as citizens—
and hence they were U.S. citizens—at the time
the Constitution was written? He supports the
claim by pointing to a state supreme court de-
cision, explicit on the point, and to the fact
that five states allowed freed slaves to vote.
Taney, in reply, refers only to racially discrim-
inatory marriage and military service laws—
laws that are consistent with citizenship and
hence do not significantly undercut Curtis’s
argument.

What is the answer to Curtis’s jurisdic-
tional argument? If Dred Scott was not a
“citizen,” then the Court lacked jurisdiction
to hear the case. If it lacked jurisdiction, it
had no business deciding the merits of the
case, holding the Missouri Compromise un-
constitutional, and depriving Congress of the
power to maintain slavery-free territories in the
process.

What sound response can the majority
make to Curtis’s explanation of the scope of
the Constitution’s Due Process and Territories
clauses? The Constitution is a practical docu-
ment, yet the majority’s proposed legal system
is not a practical system. How could judges of
a single free state or territory (say, Wisconsin)
administer a legal system under which differ-
ent slave-state laws (say, Alabama law, Geor-
gia law, Virginia law, and so on), would have
to govern well into the future the family re-
lationships of different slave families brought
permanently to live in that single free state?
How could one harmonize the majority’s view
of the Territories Clause with the fact that fed-
eral legislation enacted under the authority of
that clause had led to the admission into the
Union of several new states? It is not surpris-
ing that modern historians believe that the Cur-
tis dissent paints the more accurate historical
picture.

Given the strength of the Curtis reason-
ing, it is not surprising that those opposed
to slavery circulated Curtis’s dissent, not the
other dissents, in pamphlet form throughout
the Nation. Nor is it surprising that Lincoln’s
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speeches, abolitionist lectures, and informed
Northern reaction reflected Curtis’s analysis.
A third lesson concerns the relation between
Court decisions and politics. The kindest view
of the majority’s opinion sees it as seeking
a political objective. Many in Congress had
asked the Court to “‘umpire” the great political
issue dividing the nation. Taney and his ma-
jority might have thought that by reaching out
unnecessarily to decide a politically sensitive
legal question—that is, by settling the consti-
tutional status of slavery in the territories—
the Court would promote an eventual, peace-
ful resolution of the slavery question, perhaps
through eventual abolition.

If that is what Taney believed, he was
wrong. The Court’s decision did nothing to
heal the Nation. It did not slow the momentum
toward civil war. It reinforced the North’s fears
of Southern dominance by, in the words of
New York’s legislature, permitting the “slave
driver” to bring his “manacled gang” to the
foot of Bunker Hill. It helped Lincoln obtain
the Republican party’s nomination for Presi-
dent. It promoted the political standing of that
antislavery party. As Douglass predicted, it so-
lidified the case for abolition, thereby helping
to “awaken” America to the strength of that
case. And as a purely legal matter, the antislav-
ery constitutional amendments resulting from
the Civil War effectively reversed the Dred
Scott decision.

There are, of course, institutional, ju-
risprudential, and ethical arguments that mili-
tate strongly against judges of a constitutional
court holding up their fingers to the politi-
cal winds. Hamilton’s writings make clear that
the very point of granting such a Court the
power of judicial review was to offer constitu-
tional security where doing so is politically
unpopular. But to such reasons, Dred Scott
adds another, purely practical consideration.
Judges are not necessarily good politicians.
Their view about what is politically expedient
could well turn out to be completely wrong.
Such, as history shows us, was the case in
Dred Scott.
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The fourth lesson concerns the Constitu-
tion seen as a whole. The Taney Court’s deci-
sion must find its constitutional justification in
a view of the underlying document as no more
than a political compact among independent
states, with its central focus upon compromise
about slavery in particular. Such a view would
permit the majority to argue for a reading of the
Constitution consistent with a need to secure
a consensus that included slave states before
the Nation embarked upon a course that would
lead to abolition.

Yet the Constitution’s language does not
support such a reading. The protection it pro-
vides the slave trade expired in the year 1808.
The constitutional guarantees of equal state
representation in the Senate and the census-
related supermajority status of slave states
in the House of Representatives were writ-
ten in terms that permitted the political de-
struction of the protection they offered the
South. The Preamble says that “We the People
of the United States ... ordain and establish
this Constitution”—language broad enough to
cover Dred Scott.

One cannot easily reconcile Taney’s vi-
sion with the expressed abolitionist hopes of
many of the Framers. Nor, most importantly,
can one reconcile this vision with the Con-
stitution’s most basic objective, the creation
of a single nation. The Constitution does so
by creating political institutions strong enough
to permit the “people” to govern themselves,
determining policies and resolving problems
ranging in subject matter from defense to ter-
ritorial expansion to commerce, while protect-
ing basic personal liberties across (the Framers
hoped) the centuries. The concept of a political
treaty among sovereigns, focusing primarily
upon slavery, is not compatible with this more
basic constitutional objective. And, of course,
if the Dred Scott majority doubted that fact
in 1859, the post—-Civil War amendments to
the Constitution—ending slavery, guarantee-
ing voting rights, defining citizenship, assur-
ing individuals equal protection of the laws,
and protecting basic individual liberty from
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state interference—overturned the legal prece-
dent they created.

The upshot is that Taney’s vision of the
Constitution was not a constitutional vision; it
was a view about a treaty that linked states,
not about a Constitution that created a central
government.

Finally, Dred Scott tells us something
about morality’s relation to law. A famous
and good novel of the day, Uncle Tom’s
Cabin, well describes the moral incoherence
of slavery. And a contemporary personal ex-
perience showed me the relation between
that moral incoherence and judicial decision-
making. When discussing Dred Scott at a law-
school conference, 1 asked the audience to
consider a hypothetical question. Suppose you
were Benjamin Curtis. Imagine that Chief Jus-
tice Taney comes to your Chambers and pro-
poses a narrow ground for deciding the case.
He asks if you will agree to a single para-
graph unsigned opinion for the entire Court,
in which the Court upholds the lower court on
the ground that the matter is one of Missouri
law in respect to which the Missouri supreme
court must have the last word. He will agree to
this approach provided that there is no dissent.

Should you agree? If you do, the major-
ity will say nothing about citizenship, noth-
ing about the Missouri Compromise, nothing
about slavery in the territories and the Due
Process Clause. As a result the Court will cre-
ate no significant new law; it will not diminish
its own position in the eyes of much of the Na-
tion; it will not issue an opinion that increases
the likelihood of civil war; and, since no one
knows who would win such a war (the North
almost lost), the prospects for an eventual abo-
lition of slavery will be unaffected, perhaps in-
creased. Not a bad bargain. The audience was
uncertain. Then a small voice came from the
back of the room. “Say no.” And the audience
broke into applause. That applause made clear
the moral nature of the judge’s legal obligation
in that case.

A close examination of the Dred Scott
opinion, then, can teach us something about
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rhetoric, reason, politics, constitutional vision,
and morality. These lessons still might apply to
the work of a Supreme Court judge. They help
us understand the role of the judge in a politi-
cally sensitive case, including cases involving
the protection of individual rights, particularly
in instances where the Constitution points one
way and public opinion another. To understand
how courts do act, or might best act, today un-
der such circumstances, we need to know more
about the kinds of cases modern courts must
resolve. But our examination of Dred Scott,
the Court’s “worst case,” can teach us, through
negative example, at least the basic elements
of an answer.
* % %
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There is much to learn from this single
historical example. Dred Scott teaches us the
importance of solid reasoning, the dangers of
reliance upon rhetoric, the need for practical
constitutional interpretation consistent with
our nation’s underlying values. And it teaches
us the important role that morality and values
play—or should play—at the intersection of
law and politics. Dred Scott is thus one exam-
ple that helps shed light on how courts can, and
should, decide cases. But it is one of many. The
Supreme Court Historical Society, by helping
to ensure that the Court is studied and its de-
cisions discussed and deliberated, plays a key
role in helping us to think about these broader
questions. I thank the Society for its interest.



The Judicial and Ancient Game:
James Wilson, John Marshall
Harlan, and the Beginnings of Golf
at the Supreme Court

ROSS E. DAVIES'

Golf has a long history at the Supreme Court simply as an entertaining pastime for some
of its members. Yet the Justices’ interest in the sport can also be viewed as a reflection of the
evolving work and culture of the institution and of the nation it serves. This article revisits a
few early developments involving the first golfer on the Court (Justice James Wilson), the first
golf enthusiast (the first Justice John Marshall Harlan), and the first golfing majority (October

Term 1906).
Wilson in Scotland

The earliest visible connection between the
Supreme Court and golf predates the Court. In
the summer of 1765, James Wilson was in Ed-
inburgh, Scotland, studying bookkeeping and
merchant accounting. According to Wilson bi-
ographer Charles Page Smith, “[t]he drudgery

of accounting turned out to be no more con- |

genial than the drudgery of tutoring [Wilson
had recently given up teaching], and his brief
experience with ledgers and accounts merely
hardened Wilson’s resolve to go to America.”!
Wilson would indeed emigrate the next year
and, after a distinguished career in private prac-

tice and public service, serve on the Supreme
Court from 1790 until his death in 1798. But
before he left Scotland in 1766, he played at
least one round of golf. Writing to Wilson in
1785, his accounting instructor recalled the
event:

Upon recollection you will remem-
ber, that on June 13th, 1765, you
did me the honour to begin the writ-
ing [of] a Course of Bookkeeping. . . .
I have often reflected with regret,
that our acquaintance had no sooner
commenced, than it was inter[rjupted,
by your going abroad.... You will
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perhaps recollect, that during your
stay here, I one day pressed and pre-
vailed with you, to take a game at golf
with me on Brun[t]sfield links,? a di-
version you was totally unacquainted
with, my proposal was to instruct you
in it, but how sadly was I mortify’d at
your beating me every round; this I
thought often since, had something
prophetic in it; & may it always hap-
pen to you, and your opponents in all
your laudable undertakings.?

Wilson does not seem to have kept up
with the game in the New World. There are
glimpses to be had of golf in America from
the mid-eighteenth century to the early nine-
teenth, scattered from New York to the District
of Columbia to South Carolina to Georgia. But
there is not enough evidence to say with confi-
dence that the game was actually being played
anywhere in particular at any particular time,
or perhaps even at all. Thus, although Wilson’s
work on the Court and on circuit took him to
or through all those places,* it may well be that
he never encountered someone with whom to
play.?

The consensus among golf scholars is that
if anyone was playing golf in the early Repub-
lic, they gave it up sometime in the early 1800s,
and no one took up the game again for a long
time. In his authoritative A History of Golf,
Robert Browning offers a compact and repre-
sentative summary of this stage of golf in the
United States:

A reference to golf in Georgia ap-
pears as late as 1818, but the dec-
laration of war by the United States
against Great Britain in 1812 may
have had something to do with the
fading out of the popularity of the
game. For the next seventy years or
so golf in the United States would
appear to have fallen into desuetude,
and it is not until the early eighties
that we find the game beginning to
attract attention again.®
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And so it should come as no surprise that there
is nothing to be seen of members of the Court
playing the game during that period.

‘The Return of Golf

During the American golf renaissance {or per-
haps nascence) in the late nineteenth century,’
golf reconnected with the bar in general® and
the Supreme Court in particular.

The first recorded reconnection with the
Court was a remotely familial one involving
Beatrix Hoyt, a granddaughter of Chief Justice
Salmon P. Chase (1864—1873). In 1896, the
sixteen-year-old Hoyt won the U.S. women’s
amateur golf championship.® She repeated in
1897 and 1898, and remained the youngest
women’s amateur champion until 1971, when
Laura Baugh succeeded to that honor.!° Since
Hoyt’s heyday, several fine players have served
or served on the Court, but none has come
close to matching her accomplishments.

Golf was soon making closer approaches
to the Court. Indeed, in the late 1890s and
early 1900s, several Justices were in the van-
guard of what rapidly became one of the coun-
try’s most popular pastimes.!! And a vanguard
it was. The idea of mature, devout, profes-
sional men engaging in frivolous, strenuous,
competitive sports—especially on Sundays—
was still novel and controversial.!? Thus, for
example, one turn-of-the-century periodical
could approvingly report of President William
McKinley,

The President is not a sportsman. . . .
Tho Cabinet officers and even Jus-
tices of the Supreme Court have been
known to play golf or tennis, no Presi-
dent has ever done so. Mr. McKinley
is fortunate in requiring little exer-
cise. ...

And another could almost simultaneously ob-
serve that

[m]any prominent public men are
devotees of the game [of golf], and
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find in it great relaxation from the
severe strain of public life. The Jus-
tices of the Supreme Court of the
United States do not consider them-
selves lapsing too much from their
dignity when wielding a mashie, or
fear that they may get into a legal
bunker at their next session if they
devote too much time to lofting a
stymie.!?

Justice John Marshall Harlan was the first of

those Justices, and one of the greatest golf

enthusiasts in the history of the Court.!>

Harlan in Canada

While Hoyt was winning championships, Har-
lan was learning the game. In Some Memories
of a Long Life, 1854-1911, Malvina Shanklin
Harlan recalled her husband’s introduction to
golf in 1897:

Shortly after his arrival at Murray
Bay [a resort town in Quebec, now
known as La Malbaie], sometime in
July, my husband was persuaded to
learn the game of golf, which was,
and still is, the chief diversion among
the men visitors at Murray Bay. It
was a radical change in his habits of
life, for up to that summer he had
never indulged in any out-of-door di-
version as a relief from the constant
strain of his exhausting professional
labours. It proved to be a most health-
ful pastime for him, both mentally
and physically. His love for the game
grew upon him steadily, and during
the next fifteen summers which he
spent at Murray Bay [that is, until his
death in 1911] his interest in it never
flagged.'®

Malvina then cut short her golf narrative, say-
ing,
As my son Richard was the one who
persuaded my husband to take up
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Golf, giving him his first lessons, he
is better qualified than I am to tell
the story of how his father became
interested in “The Ancient and Royal
Game.”!"

At this point, alas, the publisher of Malv-
ina’s memoir confesses, “This story was never
added.” It would seem that Malvina, who com-
pleted her memoir in 1915 and died the follow-
ing year, never had a chance to incorporate her
son’s memories of Justice Harlan and golf.!®
But that does not mean that Richard Harlan
never told the story.!® It appeared in Scrib-
ner’s Magazine in 1917, shortly after Malv-
ina’s death,? and is reproduced in its entirety
at the end of this article.

In short, Richard’s narrative described a
typical introduction to golf. Justice Harlan at
first was reluctant to play. Then, when he tried
it, he found it simultaneously frustrating and
fascinating. Finally, once he was good enough
to fail less than spectacularly some of the time,
he was hooked for life. Every summer there-
after, Harlan would play innumerable rounds
of golf at Murray Bay, many of them with his
good friend William Howard Taft.?!

Harlan in the U.S.A.

When Harlan returned to Washington from
Murray Bay in 1897, the newspapers quickly
noted that he had brought his newfound pas-
sion for golf home with him. In October, the
Baltimore Sun reported,

Lately Justice Harlan developed a
fancy for golf, and is so much fasci-
nated with the game that he devotes
much of his leisure time to its en-
joyment. He finds abundant room in
the spacious grounds attached to his
mansion on Fourteenth street for in-
dulgence in the pastime, and takes
much pleasure in showing off his
prowess with the crooked club to his
friends.??
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Golf remained a part of Harlan’s routine
for the rest of his life. As his son reported in
the Scribner’s article, Harlan filled his sum-
mers with golf at Murray Bay. And in other
seasons he golfed wherever and whenever he
could. Contemporary news stories and gossip
columns make clear that when the Supreme
Court was in session, he played nearly every
day at the Chevy Chase Club in Bethesda,
Maryland, weather permitting.> And when
opportunity knocked, he played on circuit as
well 2

Moreover, golf became an important part
of Harlan’s public persona. When he shot a
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John Marshall Harlan
was the first Justice to
be passionate about
golf. When golfing,
he preferred to wear
leggings, rather than
baggy trousers.

75 on his seventy-fifth birthday in 1908, it
was national news.?* From 1897 until his death
in 1911, newspapers and magazines abounded
with anecdotes about his golf.?® Some made
connections between his work as a judge and
his passion for the game. For example, in 1908
the Green Bag published this story under the
title “Conflicting Evidence™:

The venerable and learned Justice
John M. Harlan, during a game of
golf at Chevy Chase, explained the
intricacies of evidence to a young
man.
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“Usually, in conflicting evidence,”
he said, “one statement is far more
probable than the other, so that we
can decide easily which to believe.

“It is like the boy and the house
hunter.

“A house hunter, getting off a train
at a suburban station, said to a boy:

“*My lad, I am looking for Mr.
Smithson’s new block of semide-
tached cottages. How far are they
from here?’

Harlan and his friend
William Howard Taft
played golf together at
their summer enclave
in Murray Bay, near
Quebec, where it was a
popular pastime among
the men.

“‘About twenty minutes’ walk,’
the boy replied.

““Twenty minutes!” exclaimed the
house hunter. ‘Nonsense! The adver-
tisement says five.’

““Well,” said the boy, ‘you can be-
lieve me or you can believe the adver-
tisement; but I ain’t tryin’ to make no
sale.”?’

Nor was public attention to Harlan’s interest
in golf limited to the journalistic. Speaking
at a dinner in 1902 honoring Harlan “[i]n
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recognition of the completion of twenty-five
years of distinguished service on the bench,”
Edward Blake—a prominent Canadian Lib-
eral party politician, longtime chancellor of
the University of Toronto, and “the lead-
ing Canadian lawyer of his day”?®*—took as
his theme a week in the life of Harlan the
vacationer at Murray Bay. Blake concluded
with a few comments about Harlan’s golf
habit:

But almost all that I have talked about
is play. I come to the serious side
and the real business of his Murray
Bay life. I have known Harlan the
Golfer! [Laughter.] Not that I play the
game. It is enough for me to watch
the judge. My wife and I have often
driven, in the late afternoon, on the
village road which borders the links.
They are all deserted; the golfers have
gone home for the day. Presently we
catch in the distance, between trees
and rocks, a little scarlet gleam that
lights up the sombre landscape. As
we approach we discern one human
form—did I say human? No! A form
“larger than human, on the turf-clad
hill.” [Laughter.] It is the Judge, clad
in a red garment, followed by one for-
lorn and melancholy caddie; filling
all alone the vast area of the links;
selecting his weapon; poising it and
testing it; meditating his tactics; and
in the end delivering, hit or miss, a
terrific assault upon one small ball,
driving it I know not whither, and
pursuing it I know not why. [Great
laughter.] Strenuous in this as in all
else, he enables me to apply to a
good man the description the Ro-
man writer gives of one of those “bad
men who do,” spoken of by the Pres-
ident [Theodore Roosevelt] to-night,
“Quid vult id valde vult.”* And my
opinion is that, next to those prime
objects of his devotion which have
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been mentioned—the Bible and the
Constitution—he holds in his heart
the laws and practices of the game of
golf 30

At the same event, Justices David J. Brewer
and William R. Day reportedly combined to
characterize Harlan’s three great interests in
life, saying that he “slept with the Bible in one
hand, the constitution in the other and his golf
sticks under his pillow.”!

Other Harlan-and-golf anecdotes revealed
durable truths about the game that might res-
onate with modern observers of the Court.
Compare, for example, the story of Harlan’s
game with the Reverend Doctor James M. Ster-
rett in Richard Harlan’s essay below to Justice
John Paul Stevens’ recent insight in FCC v.
Fox Television Stations, Inc., the cursing-on-
television case:

As any golfer who has watched
his partner shank a short approach
knows, it would be absurd to accept
the suggestion that the resultant four-
letter word uttered on the golf course
describes sex or excrement and is
therefore indecent. But that is the ab-
surdity the FCC has embraced in its
new approach to indecency.>?

Although Harlan’s interest in golf was in-
tense, and media attention to his playing was
also intense, there are no reports that his con-
suming hobby interfered seriously with his day
job, although there were small inroads and
close calls, as this 1899 report indicates:

Sometimes Mr. Harlan overstays his
time at the links. Then his man drives
out to the club for him and takes him
straight to the Supreme Court Cham-
bers, the Justice meanwhile reading
his morning mail as he drives into
town. On one or two occasions Mr.
Harlan has arrived at the Capitol so
late that he has barely had time to rush
into the robing-room, throw his black
silk gown over his golf suit in time
to join the stately procession of the
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Justices as they cross the main cor-
ridor of the Capitol and file with
solemn dignity into the courtroom.**

Similarly, the April 22, 1902 Washington Post
reported that, “Justice Harlan, of the Supreme
Court, arrived at the Capitol yesterday just in
time to don his silk robe and fall in the proces-
sion of justices on their way to the courtroom.
These are the mornings when Justice Harlan
likes to make a tour of eighteen holes before
he goes to court.” In the same vein, both
news reports and Harlan’s summertime per-
sonal correspondence suggest that his love of
golf trumped his good intentions to catch up
on Court work during summer recesses. He
seems to have completed opinions he had to
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write in decided cases,*® but beyond that, not
much.?® As he wrote to Justice Day in Septem-
ber 1904, “I cannot say that I have given any
material time to study. I have lived constantly
in the open air, working on my place here [Mur-
ray Bay] or playing golf.”*” And in July 1906,
“Of course I allow nothing to interfere with
my golf.”#

There was, however, at least one report
that Harlan mixed golf friendship with Court
business in a way that may have been accept-
able then but would not pass muster today.
The story had him signaling to his “golf friend,
Solicitor-General [John K.] Richards,” the out-
come in Downes v. Bidwell, a 1901 customs
case in which Richards represented the gov-
ernment.>’

Richard Harlan eventu-
ally published a short
memoir about teach-
ing his father how to
play golf and encour-
aging him to learn the
game. He is pictured
here golfing at Murray
Bay with Harlan and
his brother.
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And so perhaps it is a good thing that
Harlan was never confronted with a golf case:
it might have taxed his self-restraint or un-
dermined his dignity.*° It is suggestive of the
bar’s appreciation of Harlan’s appreciation of
golfthat golf became a tool of argument before
the Court not long after he took up the game.
A brief filed in Reloj Cattle Co. v. United
States*' on February 15, 1901 contained the
first recorded golf analogy presented to the
Court. Counsel for Reloj Cattle challenged
the government’s evidence regarding the lo-
cation and existence of a land grant as fol-
lows: “A hundred people may search for a lost
golf ball, but what is their evidence worth as
against that of one man who actually finds
the ball?”*? It was to no avail. The Court
unanimously affirmed judgment for the United
States.

As Harlan advanced in years, his vigorous
pursuit of golf became entwined with specula-
tion about his inclination and capacity to con-
tinue serving on the Court. Thus, for example,
in 1903, the Albany Law Journal reported that
Harlan had reached the age (seventy) at which
he could retire from the Court with a full pen-
sion, but then went on to observe that “he be-
trays few signs of dotage. In fact, he is the
picture of a hale and vigorous old man. To see
him . .. as he makes his way to the golf links,
one would very likely put him down mentally
as not a year over fifty-five.”* And five years
later, when Harlan reached thirty years’ ser-
vice on the Court, Law Notes paired a report
on “[t]he imperishable rumor that Judge Har-
lan is about to resign” with the observation
that “[h]e is seventy-four years old, but is still
hale and hearty, and frequently plays golf as
a recreation.”** And in 1910, the year before
Harlan’s death, the New York Times doubted
he would retire, because “he is still in vigor-
ous health, and puts in his spare afternoons
tramping sturdily around the golf links. ...”%
Thus was begun golf’s long service as a
bellwether of continuing service by senior
Justices.6
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The Golfing Court

At the opening of the Court’s Term in Oc-
tober 1897, John Marshall Harlan was the
lone golfing Justice. I have found no evi-
dence that anyone else who was on the Court
when Harlan returned from Murray Bay with
his clubs for the 1897 Term had ever played
the game—not Stephen J. Field (1863-1897),
Horace Gray (1882-1902), Melville W. Fuller
(1888-1910), David J. Brewer (1890-1910),
Henry B. Brown (1891-1906), George Shi-
ras, Jr. (1892-1903), Edward D. White (1894—
1921), or Rufus W. Peckham (1896-1909).
Moreover, of Harlan’s eight 1897 colleagues,
only a couple—Chief Justice Fuller and Jus-
tice Brewer—would eventually pick it up.*’
Thereafter, however, everyone who joined the
Court during Harlan’s tenure played,*® except
for Oliver Wendell Holmes, who had no inter-
est in sports of any sort.*

First came Joseph McKenna, President
William McKinley’s only Supreme Court ap-
pointee, who joined the Court in 1898. The
limited available evidence can be read to sup-
port an inference that it was Harlan who in-
troduced McKenna to golf. In the summer of
1899, the New York Times reported that “Jus-
tice McKenna plays well, it is admitted by Jus-
tice Harlan, ‘for a beginner.”””*° The same story
implied that at that time Harlan and McKenna
were the only golfers:

The other Supreme Court Justices as
yet content themselves with exercise
not much more violent than the daily
walks they take between their homes
and the Capitol, American conser-
vatism about sport being quite differ-
ent from that English reverence for
outdoor sports.>!

And a 1901 Washington Post story reported
that “Justice McKenna, of the Supreme
Court, has caught the enthusiasm [for golf],
which inspires Justice Harlan, and is devel-
oping into a fine player.””? Plainly Harlan
and McKenna were compatible—McKenna’s
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“principal source of diversion was golf which
he frequently played in the company of Jus-
tice Harlan at the aristocratic Chevy Chase
Country Club”>—and over time his game im-
proved relative to Harlan’s. In 1907, Harlan
“celebrated the thirtieth anniversary of his ap-
pointment to the United States Supreme Court
by playing a hotly contested game of golf with
Justice McKenna, in which he held his own,
notwithstanding his seventy-five years.”>* By
1910, the Montgomery Advertiser was report-
ing that “Justice McKenna is a golf player and
says that he can beat Justice Harlan on the
links.”%

Next came William R. Day, an avid sports-
man, in 1903. President Theodore Roosevelt
had appointed Holmes (the non-sportsman) to
the Court in 1902 and then elevated Day from
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Cir-
cuit the following year. News reports connect-
ing Day with sports tended to dwell on his
intense interest in baseball.*® But that does

Golf became fashionable in America at the turn of the nineteenth century. Above, Katherine Hartley, U.S.
women's amateur golf champion, is shown posing for the camera in 1908. Below, members of Washington
society play golf at an area club. Concerns that golf was too frivolous a pastime for Washington men to
undertake—particularly on Sundays—did not hold sway.
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not mean that he neglected golf. Indeed, by
the late spring of 1904, he and Harlan were
corresponding about the prospect of golfing
together at Harlan’s Murray Bay summer re-
treat.>” And correspondence between Day and
Vice President Charles W. Fairbanks in the
summer of 1906 suggests that it was Day
who taught the game to Fairbanks.’® Day
did not, however, become a resident member
of Harlan’s club—the Chevy Chase Club—
until 1914, which may explain the dearth of
Washington-area media coverage of Day and
Harlan playing together.*

Roosevelt’s third and last appointment to
the Court was William Henry Moody, in 1906.
Like Day, Moody was more prominently con-
nected with baseball than with golf, but he
did play.%® Sadly, it was not for long. Moody
suffered from increasingly severe rheumatism,
the upshot of which was that he retired from
the Court after less than four years’ service and
passed away in 1917 at the age of sixty-three.

Although Harlan clearly played a great
deal of golf with McKenna and at least oc-
casionally with Day or Brewer—and surely
relished the rising popularity of his beloved
sport on the Court—his favorite golf partner
was not a Supreme Court colleague. It was
William Howard Taft, with whom he played in
Washington, as well as at Murray Bay, from
the late 1890s onward.®' And so it was fit-
ting, at least from a golfing perspective, that
by the time Harlans number-one golf buddy
took the presidential oath of office on March 4,
1909, the Court was majority-golfer—Harlan,
Brewer, McKenna, Day, and Moody—and thus
in all likelihood well prepared to accept the
Taft Golf Court that was soon to come.5?

Justice Harlan and the Game of Golf

By Richard D. Harlan

Note: The article reproduced here—
Richard Harlan’s story about teach-
ing his father, the Supreme Court Jus-
tice, to play golf during their summer
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vacation in 1897—first appeared on
pages 626 to 635 in the November
1917 issue of Scribners Magazine,
although it seems perfectly suited to
fill a gap in Malvina Shanklin Har-
lan’s 1915 autobiography.5®> The text
is from the original. The footnotes are
mine.—Ross Davies

It was in the summer of 1897, shortly
after he had passed his sixty-fourth birthday,
that Justice Harlan took up the royal and an-
cient game of golf, of which he soon became a
devotee.

From early manhood walking had been his
only outdoor recreation. It had been his daily
habit to walk from his residence to the court,
a distance of two miles or more, and usually
he would return on foot after the adjournment
in the afternoon. He was fond of occasional
tramps, and on holidays and not infrequently
on Sunday afternoons he was to be seen with a
friend or some of his children making his way
through the fields and woods of the country-
side around Washington. But he had taken no
other form of physical exercise and had never
indulged in any sort of game, except chess
and an occasional rubber of old-fashioned
whist.

While he took a keen interest in current
events both at home and abroad, and in a gen-
eral way followed the world’s progress, his
chief mental diversion had been found in books
of history and biography. He was a diligent
reader of the lives of the great English states-
men and judges and of the great men of his
own country. It is true also, as has many times
been said of him, that it was his nightly habit,
after retiring, to light the candles near the head
of his bed, and then to read his Bible until he
was ready to fall asleep. He was a constant
reader of the Scriptures, and he particularly
enjoyed the Psalms.

Perhaps the greatest relief to him from
the tedium and pressure of his judicial labors
was to meet his law students at The George
Washington University, where, for more than
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twenty years, and to very large classes, he lec-
tured twice a week (often without notes) on
the Constitution and constitutional law. For an
even longer period he conducted a men’s Bible
class at the New York Avenue Presbyterian
Church in Washington, of which he was one of
the ruling elders. This contact with young men
was a source of great satisfaction and pleasure
to him.,

In the fulfillment of his judicial duties he
was a hard taskmaster for himself. During the
long years of his service in the Supreme Court
of the United States he had usually been at
his desk until midnight and frequently until
one or two o’clock in the morning. At times
he would reverse his schedule and, retiring at
about eleven o’clock, would get up before day-
light to continue the study of his cases or work
at his opinions until starting for the Capitol
just in time for the opening of the court at the
noon hour.

In that summer of 1897 he had sent his
family to Murray Bay, the Canadian resort on
the lower Saint Lawrence, eighty miles below
Quebec, which from that time on and until
his death was his summer residence, while he
himself, for the month of June, went down
to the summer law school of the University
of Virginia to deliver a course of lectures on
the Constitution. For the rest of that summer
he had laid out his usual vacation tasks, having
sent on to Murray Bay the records and briefs in
a number of cases, in order, as was his custom,
to work at them during the summer and to have
his opinions ready when the court resumed its
sessions in October.

In spite of the rigor of his court work, his
physical strength had shown no signs of abate-
ment; but at that time his family had reason-
able grounds for fearing that the continuation
of his intense labors in these different ways
might within the next few years somewhat im-
pair his vigor unless he could be persuaded
to give himself more diversion, and particu-
larly in the open air. Very fortunately, one of
his sons, early that first summer at Murray
Bay, had just taken up golf—the sport was
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then comparatively new in this country. At
once he saw that it was the very game for
his father. He therefore wrote several letters
to him, at the University of Virginia, in which
he dwelt upon the importance of an outdoor
diversion for a man of his years, his sedentary
habits and exacting labors. He described “this
new game of golf”; he expressed the opin-
ion that it would afford him a much-needed
recreation, as old age was drawing on, besides
being a form of exercise in which he would
find no small pleasure and interest; and he
urged him to buy a set of clubs and suitable
clothes and bring them up with him to Murray
Bay.

Those members of his family who spe-
cially wished him to take up golf were con-
fident that he would become a good player.
He had what sportsmen call “a good eye.” For
example, he had always been able to defeat
his boys at such a game as quoits. He was a
good shot with the rifle. Often, in the shooting-
gallery improvised at the annual outing given
by the lawyers of the District of Columbia, at
Marshall Hall on the Potomac, he had been
know to hit the bull’s-eye nine times out of
ten.

But apparently his son’s enthusiasm for
golfhad as yet made no impression on him, for
when he wrote from the University of Virginia
in reply to his son’s letters he did not even refer
to what had been their chief theme.

When he arrived at Murray Bay in July
he found that the place had gone golf-mad and
that the entire summer colony was absorbed in
it, either in actually playing it or in forming a
gallery to watch the game of the more expert of
the Canadian and American players. His own
sons were among the most enthusiastic of the
beginners at “this new game of golf.” The re-
sult was that his summer home was somewhat
deserted during the day, and during the evening
there was much golf talk among his family and
the friends who dropped in. All of this left him
somewhat out of the running, so to speak, and
this was unusual, for he had always been the
centre of the family interests.
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The concerted efforts in the family to
interest him in the game made little or no
progress for a week or two. To all of the argu-
ments in favor of a form of exercise so suitable
for elderly men, and to the assurances we gave
him that he would not fail to find it an inter-
esting and beneficial diversion, his invariable
reply was:

“It would never do for a judge to be seen
playing a game of that kind.”

That dictum represented the attitude to-
ward sport that was then generally taken by
men of his own and the other learned profes-
sions. But it had nothing in it of the austere,
Puritan objection to sports as such. It was what
might be called the American view, which, up
to that time, had characterized our strenuous
national life.

For example, up to twenty-five years ago,
no prominent senator or representative would
have dared, in the course of a great debate in
Congress, to snatch an afternoon off in or-
der to take part in a golf match, or would
even have dreamed of doing so—although
that was the very thing such a leader of the
British Parliament as Mr. Balfour often did
at that time, without impairing in the least
his prestige or reputation as a serious-minded
politician.®

When his oft-repeated objection as to the
propriety of “a judge playing a game of this
kind” showed that the justice was apparently
adamant in his feeling that it would be be-
neath the dignity of a professional man to be
“wasting his time” by indulging in any out-
door sport, one of his sons, with a carefully
feigned nonchalance, casually remarked one
day that he had been “teaching Chief Judge
Andrews of the New York Court of Appeals to
play golf,” and that he had developed “quite a
good game.”®

That far-from-innocent passing remark
evidently arrested the justice’s attention, for,
after a few moments of eloquent silence (dur-
ing which, as will appear later on in this story,
he began to be attracted by the idea of beating
his fellow jurist at “this new game”), he said
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that if he played at all he would “only play
very early in the morning—long before any
one else was on the links.” His son replied that
it made no difference at what hour he played,
and that after a few days he intended to give
him his first lesson. The justice did not “know
about that,” and would “make no promises.”
There the matter was allowed to rest, and we
all waited for the fruitful seed of rivairy to
germinate.

A day or two thereafter his curiosity as to
“this new game” tempted him to walk round
the links and watch his sons play. He was prob-
ably struck by the absurd disparity between
the tiny ball and the six-foot-four enthusiast
who was trying so hard and ineffectually to
make a good shot. At all events, after observing
several very poor drives, the justice remarked
rather severely that the game did not “seem
to be worthy of the attention of a grown-up,
serious-minded man.”

The criticism must have somewhat nettled
his son, for he turned on his father rather sav-
agely and said that it was very unfair and even
unjudicial to condemn a game so sweepingly
without first trying it himself; and at the next
tee we forced a club into his hands and insisted
upon his making “one drive, anyway.”

The principle embodied in the ancient le-
gal maxim, “Audi alteram partem,”®® must
have appealed to his judicial conscience, for
he consented to “try one shot.” He missed the
ball entirely! Whereupon, with a gesture of
mingled disgust and anger, he threw the club
on the ground, exclaiming that the game was
“even sillier” than he had “supposed.” And at
that moment it looked as if his objections to
taking it up might prove to be insurmountable.

Nevertheless, a day or two afterward he
was seen in an out-of-the-way field secretly
trying a few shots, in the company of a sym-
pathetic and close-mouthed clergyman of his
acquaintance. And finally he consented to al-
low the writer to give him his first regular
lesson; and an arrangement was made with a
small French-Canadian caddy to meet them on
the links at six o’clock the next morning.
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Justices Joseph McKenna (pictured) and William R. Day were also early golf enthusiasts.

The night before that first lesson, in
a conversation with Senator Newlands, of
Nevada,®’ the justice was overheard saying,
rather solemnly:

“I observe that my parson son, Richard, is
playing this new game of golf. | suppose it’s all
right, here in Murray Bay, during his vacation:
but I hope he will not keep it up after returning

to Rochester. I fear that his congregation would
not like to see their minister playing a game
of that kind.” The old American idea as to the
propriety of a professional man indulging in a
sport was dying very hard in his mind.

Six o’clock the next morning saw the jus-
tice and his son and his caddy on the links,
and he felt that for two hours he could make a
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thorough trial of this newfangled sport without
risk of discovery.

After being given a few instructions as to
his stance and the method of holding his club
and approaching the ball, he took his position
for the drive. He looked rather scornfully at
the tiny white object perched so invitingly on
the top of the high tee that had been arranged
for him. Then, quickly drawing back his pow-
erful arms, he swung the club through with a
mighty effort, fully expecting, as he afterward
confessed, to “knock the ball to thunder.” To
his amazement, he missed it altogether!

Again the golfer’s everlasting chant,
“Keep your eye on the ball,” was repeated to
him. He was, first, to look at the place where
the ball had been, and then he could look up
to see where it had gone to. But his second
effort was almost as complete a failure as his
first; for the breath of his powerful swing only
caused the ball to slip off the tee for a foot or
two.

In his angry surprise and chagrin, his great
dome of a forehead turned to a bright scar-
let, and he sternly commanded his amateur
teacher to “put the ball up again.” Once more
the golfer’s orthodox “Don’ts” were repeated
to him. He was rot to take his eye off the ball;
he was “not to try to knock the cover off the
ball,” as he had been doing, but was simply
to bring his arms through and let their weight
“do the rest.” His third attempt was a complete
success. The ball went like a rifle-shot, at an
angle of about 25°, to a distance of perhaps 150
yards—a pretty fair drive for ordinary play-
ers. Turning round, with a delightfully boyish
look of glee upon his face, he exclaimed: “Oh,
Richard, this is a great game!”®®

At that thrilling moment the old American
idea as to the propriety of sport in the life of a
professional man had received its death-blow
in his mind, and from that delightful hour to
the end of his life he was a confirmed golfer.

For a week or two he continued his se-
cret, early morning lessons. He improved so
rapidly and became so enthusiastic that a four-
some match was suggested, consisting of him-
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self and Judge William Howard Taft, as repre-
senting Uncle Sam, against Chief Judge An-
drews and the writer, as representing the Em-
pire State. By that time the golfing fever had
so taken hold of him, and his former ideas as
to the propriety of “a judge playing a game of
that kind” had been so completely thrown to
the winds, that he readily agreed to play the
foursome during the regular hours.

The rumor of the great match having
spread through the colony of summer visitors,
quite a large gallery followed the contestants
around the links. “Charley” Taft, now a re-
doubtable member of the Yale football eleven,
acted as caddy for his distinguished and genial
father. At the start the little lad was quite confi-
dent that Uncle Sam would win; but toward the
end he followed the match with almost tearful
anxiety, for the Empire State won by two or
three holes.

On the way back to our cottage the jus-
tice was very silent. Evidently he was playing
the match over in his mind and was wonder-
ing just how it happened that he and Judge
Taft had lost it. Meaning to have a little quiet
fun out of the situation, the writer determined
to make no comments on the match, but to
wait and see what his father would say and
do next; and, hurrying into the cottage in ad-
vance, he enlisted the other members of the
household in a conspiracy of silence. Accord-
ingly, no questions were asked as to the re-
sult of the great match, and the justice, like
“Tar Baby” in Uncle Remus’s story, “kep’ on
sayin’ nuffin,” while the writer, like the Bre’r
Fox, “lay low” and waited for developments.%
We might have been returning from the most
commonplace tramp across the Murray Bay
hills.

During supper that evening no one even
mentioned golf, and the justice did not open his
mouth upon any topic—which was unusual,
for he was fond of table-talk. After supper he
sat in his favorite corner near the blazing log
fire, silent and very thoughtful. At about half-
past eight he rose from his chimney-corner and
said, “I think I will go to bed,” and, bidding us
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all “good night,” he slowly climbed the stairs
to his bedroom.

The next morning we two were taking an
early breakfast alone. Neither of us had even
so much as mentioned golf since leaving the
club-house the day before, and [ was waiting
to hear what he would say. Finally, he broke
his long silence on the subject, and, just as
if only one topic had been in our minds ever
since the close of the match and he were only
continuing a discussion that had been going on
all night, he casually remarked that he “didn
think much of Taft’s game!”

In after years the justice was in the habit of
saying that “Golf is not a game, but a disease”;
and from that somewhat disparaging remark
about the other fellow’s game it was then evi-
dent that his own had already become a chronic
case.

Hiding a smile with some difficulty, the
writer admitted that Judge Taft had certainly
been “clean off his game” the day before, and
that he had never seen him play so badly—
for the ex-President,’® even then as a begin-
ner, was a very dangerous antagonist; pos-
sibly “Charley’s” ill-concealed filial anxiety
had “queered him.” To that explanation, slowly
nodding his head up and down, with an air of
having reached a final and thoroughly judicial
conclusion, the justice replied:

“Well, I think / can learn this game; but
Andrews never will!”

From that time on my father’s interest in
the game increased apace. Especially during
that first summer, he practised his strokes at
all hours and in all places, whether suitable
or not. For him, the sitting-room rug was a
good imitation of the putting green and a salt-
cellar an excellent counterfeit of the inviting
but elusive hole. But woe betide the chandelier,
or the passer-by in the rear, when at night he
practised some new idea as to stance or swing
which he had gotten from Harry Vardon’! or
Travers,”? and the numerous other books by fa-
mous golfers which he read with great avidity
at that period.
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A week or two after he had thus tasted
blood in his first real match game, he saw one
of his daughters-in-law knitting a fancy red-
and-black waistcoat, and he asked her what it
was. Being told that it was a golf waistcoat
for her husband, he asked her to let him try it
on—which he immediately proceeded to do.
It was never seen again except upon his portly
form! Not only did he thus commandeer an-
other man’s waistcoat, but he also bought a
red coat to match it. He balked, however, at
the knickerbockers then in vogue even for el-
derly men; but he compromised by putting on
leggings, which gave him a very trim, sports-
manlike appearance.

Another anecdote is perhaps worth repeat-
ing, as additional evidence that a large amount
of a very lovable kind of “human nature” went
into the make-up of his character.

At the close of his first season at Murray
Bay he played a match with a distinguished
French-Canadian judge, and somewhat to his
surprise he was badly beaten. Some friend of
the Quebec jurist had evidently seen the match
and been interested in its spicy international
aspect, for several days afterward there ap-
peared in one of the Montreal papers a full and
rather amusing account of it, in which special
emphasis was laid on the fact that the Canadian
jurist had worsted “the United States Supreme
Court at the ancient and royal game of golf,”
and the justice had to stand quite a bit of good-
humored chaffing on the subject, at the hands
of his boys and his Canadian and American
friends at Murray Bay. Of course he took it
most good-naturedly, but it was evident to his
family that his growing pride as a golfer and
his pride as an American had both received
a rude shock, and we boys had premonitions
then of a challenge from him for a return match
at the very opening of the next summer.

Thanks to the opportunities for practice
snatched at intervals during the open Wash-
ington winters at the Chevy Chase Country
Club (which he joined immediately upon his
return that autumn), his game had greatly
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improved by the following summer, and as
soon as the Quebec jurist arrived at Mur-
ray Bay he was served with a good-humored,
formal challenge to a return match in the
“Canadian-American Champion Series.” On
that occasion the justice, to his great delight,
was decidedly victorious.

For several days afterward it was ob-
served that he carefully examined the sport-
ing columns of that same Montreal paper—
the part of a newspaper that he had never been
known so much as to glance at. Finally, point-
ing accusingly at the paper in his hands, he
said to the writer, somewhat quizzically (his
very words are here quoted substantially as he
uttered them):

“Last year, when Judge B., who had played
golf all his life, beat me, that Montreal paper
took nearly a half-column to tell its readers
how the French-Canadian jurist had downed
the Supreme Court of the United States; but I
wish simply to call your attention to the fact
that, this year, when the American judge was
even more victorious than his opponent had
been last year, this same enterprising Canadian
newspaper doesn’t even give a line to the return
match.”

It was a touch of “human nature” in a
golfer that bridged all the years between father
and son.

By the end of his second or third year on
the links his descent of the golfer’s Avernus’
had become so complete that, quite as a mat-
ter of course, he accepted an election for one
or two years to the presidency of the Murray
Bay Golf Club, and for twelve or more years,
during the happy summers spent in the brac-
ing air of the lower Saint Lawrence region, he
rarely missed a day on the links. In the first
two or three summers he often played twice
a day, making his thirty-six holes. To him an
ordinary rain was no obstacle at all; he would
say that it was “only a Scotch mist,” and that it
could easily be negotiated with the help of an
umbrella, which he always carried in his golf-
bag, as if it were one of his clubs. After mak-
ing his stroke he would hoist the umbrella and,
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blissfully oblivious of even a sharp shower, he
would follow up his ball with a stately and
springy step, full of high hopes for his next
stroke. And when he returned to the cottage
he would tell us how he had made one hole in
four strokes and a certain very difficult hole
in five, and another, a short and very “sporty”
hole, in three; and what hard luck he had on
another, “perfectly simple hole,” etc., etc.

Eventually he developed a very accu-
rate and effective game. Many a better golfer
was quite often beaten by him because of
his steady playing through the fair green—
his safer though shorter shots more than mak-
ing up for the longer but erratic shots of his
more brilliant opponent. And on the putting-
green he won many a hole with his deadly
eight and ten foot putts, which, standing erect
like a flagstaff, he generally made with one
hand.

He became such a familiar and welcome
figure on the Murray Bay links, and was so
closely associated with the development of the
club, that when, in later years, the course was
rearranged and names given to the holes, one
of his favorites was named “The Justice,” in his
honor, another hole being called “The Presi-
dent,” in honor of his partner in that first four-
some match of “Uncle Sam vs. the Empire
State.”

So contagious was his pleasure in the
game and such was his genial camaraderie that
he became a much-sought-after companion on
the links, both at Murray Bay and at Chevy
Chase. Younger men were specially keen to
try conclusions with “the justice.”

The writer remembers one instance where
the much younger golfer (a certain Mr. S.)
came home from the links “a sadder and a
wiser man.” This gentleman was the writer’s
guest at Murray Bay about the summer of
1900, by which time the justice was among
the best of the group listed in golf-clubs as
“Class C.”

Mr. S. was inclined to take his own game
rather seriously. Though at the time he was on
the shady side of fifty-five and was at least ten
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years younger than the justice, he never admit-
ted his age, preferring to be classed with the
“boys” in the forties. He confessed to the writer
that he would like to see what /e could do
against “the justice.” Slyly encouraged thereto
by the writer, he sent him a respectful chal-
lenge, which was gleefully accepted. Upon
his return from the links, when asked by the
writer how the match had turned out, Mr. S.
exclaimed:

“He’s a wonder! Why. he beat me seven
up, with six to play. I felt like that Texan whose
house and barns and chickens and wife had
been swept away by a tornado: it was ‘so d—-d
complete’ that [ had to laugh.”

The next morning Mr. S. had a caller in
the person of Jackson, the colored messenger
assigned to the justice by the marshal of the
court. Jackson had become so much attached
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to the family, and they to him, and had so
identified himself with the justice and all that
concerned him, that, in speaking to or of the
justice, he never used the pronouns of the sec-
ond or third persons, but always said “we” and
“our.” The following dialogue then ensued:

“How are you feeling this morning,
Mr. S.2”

“Oh, I'm feeling very well, Jackson.
Why?”

“Well, Mr. S., we were just wondering how
you felt this morning, after the game; for we
have made up our minds that, after this season,
we are only going to play with the young men,
with the men of our class.”

And this double shot from the faithful
henchman of a man of sixty-seven, who was
also a novice! Mr. S., however, was a good
enough “sport” to tell this good story on

Harlan (right) and Lord Gerald Fitzgibbon, a prominent Irish judge, were photographed in 1899 during a visit

Fitzgibbon paid to Canada.
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himself all over Rochester. He is probably still
telling it.

The writer can vouch for the truth of a cer-
tain other story about the justice which even
now, every once in a while some paragrapher
sends on its fresh rounds through the newspa-
pers.

Among his favorite companions on the
Chevy Chase links was a prominent Episco-
palian clergyman in Washington. The reverend
doctor had just missed his drive completely.
Though greatly surprised and disgusted, not
a word escaped his lips. Whereupon the jus-
tice (quoting unconsciously from one of John
Kendrick Bangs’s delightful golf tales, which
he had recently read’* ) remarked:

“Doctor Sterrett, the things you didn’t say
were something awful. That was the most pro-
fane silence I ever heard!””

Often, during the mild Washington win-
ters, when he was troubled by a knotty point
in some case before the court, he would go out
very early in the morning to Chevy Chase, for
a short singleton on the links, his small negro
caddy being his only companion; and then re-
turning home, with a freshened mind, he would
successfully attack the legal problem that had
perplexed him. And as the spring approached
he would begin to look forward to the good
times he meant to have, during the next sum-
mer, on the wind-swept links at Murray Bay,
drinking in the glorious views of the majestic
Saint Lawrence between strokes, and accumu-
lating new strength of body and clearness of
mind for his arduous work on the bench.

There can be no doubt that “this game of
golf,” at which he shied so decidedly when
first he was urged and tempted to try it, added
not a few years to his life. It certainly kept him
physically and mentally vigorous to the very
end of his days.

A telegram of congratulation that was sent
to him by a fellow golfer on his seventieth
birthday will make an appropriate finis to this
story:

“Many happy returns of the day,

Seventy years up, and many more to play.”
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And he did “play” eight years more—keenly
enjoying his game up to almost the very last,
when the curtain dropped upon his earthly
life.”6
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My Dear Dr. Harlan:
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the Game of Golf”. It seems to me to present
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friends thought to be a very human side of Jus-
tice Harlan’s character, and I think it will be
greatly enjoyed by all who read it. I find noth-
ing in it which can detract from his well-known
character and standing in the more serious af-
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Letter from William R. Day to Richard D. Harlan, Mar.
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Joining the Court: Pierce Butler

DAVID SCHROEDER

In a four-year span beginning in the summer of 1921, five new members took their seats

on the Supreme Court, and three of those men—the middle three—arrived on the Bench within
four months of each other. The first of the five was William Howard Taft, who, upon the death
of Edward Douglass White, was named Chief Justice of the United States by President Warren
G. Harding. Minnesota corporate lawyer Pierce Butler wrote Taft a genial letter, extending his
congratulations and best wishes. “1 felicitate you because it is an honor to any man to be chosen
to that, the most exalted position in the world, and because no one who is qualified to discharge
the duties of the office can fail to rejoice in attaining it. But the country is to be congratulated

much more than you are.”"

Years earlier, former President Taft and
attorney Butler both had been involved in the
Grand Trunk Railroad arbitration, Taft as one
of three arbitrators and Butler as one of two
counsel for the Canadian government. Dur-
ing the proceedings, each man sized up the
other professionally, and each was favorably
impressed; the men developed a cordial per-
sonal relationship, staying at the same hotel
and dining together several nights a week. As
President, Taft had relished appointing men to
the Supreme Court, and as Chief Justice he
felt free to offer Harding and Attorney Gen-
eral Harry Daugherty advice on whom they
should consider for a number of imminent
vacancies. As the Court paused for its 1922
summer recess, the Chief believed it was not
inconceivable that four seats might become
vacant within a year or two. Oliver Wendell

Holmes, Jr., was eighty-one and weakening
physically. Joseph McKenna was seventy-nine
and ailing mentally. At seventy-three, William
Rufus Day had been quite ill earlier in the
year and planned to retire soon. Mahlon Pit-
ney was only sixty-four, but he had suffered
a stroke the previous year. In addition to the
possibility of those vacancies came an actual
and unexpected vacancy: John Hessin Clarke
resigned to devote his energies to encouraging
America’s entry into the League of Nations
and “to read many books; to travel; and to
serve my neighbors and some public causes.”
Taft weighed in on Clarke’s resignation and
replacement.

If this is true [Taft told Harding], and
you have appointed Senator [George]
Sutherland, I have no doubt he will be



PIERCE BUTLER

promptly confirmed, and I congratu-
late you on the strength he will give to
the Court. Clarke was a good fellow,
but I differed with him a good deal
in respect to his constitutional views,
and I do not think he has been happy
on the Court. He lost his sister dur-
ing this last year, who was his only
relative, and it has seriously affected
his peace of mind. I think, too, he is
not in good health, nor do I think that
the work on the Court was pleasing to
him. It seems a curious circumstance,
though I could explain it, that he and
McReynolds are bitter enemies, due
largely to McReynolds’ overbearing
and insulting attitude toward Clarke.

Sutherland’s appointment was anticipated: he
bhad expressed to Harding his wish for a
Court appointment, and Harding had all but
promised him the first open seat.*

With Sutherland on the Bench and Day’s
retirement imminent, Harding and Harry
Daugherty were bombarded with suggestions.
Very early, Harding had voiced his desire to
appoint a Democrat; a second criterion, that
the nominee be a Catholic, seemed reasonable
since the only representatives of that faith were
the late Chief Justice and McKenna, whose
seat many expected to be vacant soon. Taft and
his alter ego Justice Willis Van Devanter saw
John W. Davis, a Democrat and Solicitor Gen-
eral in the Wilson administration, as the best
candidate. Charles Hilles, personal secretary
to President Taft and Republican party insider
during the 1920s, suggested Victor Dowling (a
member of the Appellate Division of the New
York Supreme Court) and Martin Manton (a
U.S. Circuit Court judge), both of whom met
both criteria. Taft liked Dowling personally but
thought he lacked the gravitas expected of a
Justice, and Taft and others had grave reserva-
tions concerning Manton’s ethics and judicial
ability.

By the first week of October, Davis, who
remained Taft’s first choice, had not commit-
ted to accepting the nomination if it were of-

145

fered. Taft began to look for another choice,
given the distinct possibility that Davis would
refuse to serve and Taft’s perceived need to de-
rail Manton’s attempts to be nominated. Van
Devanter mentioned Pierce Butler’s name to
Taft, and the Chief saw in the Catholic Demo-
crat Butler a way to block Manton. Van Devan-
ter and Butler had become acquainted and then
good friends when the former sat on the bench
of the Eighth Circuit and the latter argued cases
before that court. By the early 1920s, big-
hearted Van Devanter had grown quite fond
of Butler, telling him candidly, “I am glad to
be your friend.”

Van Devanter wrote his trusted friend
Judge Walter H. Sanborn of the Eighth Cir-
cuit to sound him out regarding Butler:

Please be good enough to let me take
up the following matter with you in
a confidential way. By so doing we
may be able to work out some pub-
lic good, and, in any event, it will not
do any harm. . ., Personally I am also
disposed to think that Pierce Butler,
of your city, would be an excellent ap-
pointee. He is a democrat, and . . . he
is a Catholic. You know him well,
both as a man and a lawyer, and
have known him during all his profes-
sional career. Won'’t you tell me just
what you think of him for the place?
He probably knows nothing about the
mention of his name, and it is just as
well that he should not know.... I
may add confidentially that the Chief
Justice and I are quite agreed in opin-
ion respecting both Davis and Butler.
But it has seemed to me that, while
you do not know Davis well, you do
know Butler thoroughly well, and that
I would like to have your opinion of
him and your suggestions generally
in this important matter.®

Sanborn replied several days later with a
ringing endorsement. “I have to say that I
cannot think of anyone better qualified for
such a place by character, ability, learning,
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In 1922, Justice Willis Van Devanter recommended Pierce Butler (left) to Chief Justice William Howard Taft
(right) for the next vacancy on the Court. Van Devanter and Butler had become good friends when the former
sat on the bench of the Eighth Circuit and the latter argued cases before that court.

judgment and temperament, than he.” In
all respects, Sanborn wrote, Butler pos-
sessed the requisite qualities of a Supreme
Court Justice: character—"above reproach™;
intellect—"clear, calm, analytic and unusu-
ally powerful”; work ethic—"indefatigable™;
judgment—-‘well endowed with the saving gift
of common sense”: disposition—"even, calm
and judicial.” In short, Sanborn considered
Butler “one of the few great men of my ac-
quaintance.”’

Max Pam, a Chicago lawyer and confi-
dant of Taft, went to St. Paul to determine
Butler’s willingness to serve on the Supreme
Court. In Butler’s absence—he was in Toronto
on a railroad valuation case—Pam met with
Butler’s oldest son. Pierce, Jr., who commu-
nicated the details of the meeting to his fa-
ther. Butler quickly wrote Taft a three-page
letter, expressing “complete surprise” and that
he was “quite overwhelm[ed].” assuring Taft
that he “did nothing directly or indirectly to
suggest the thought to anyone or in any way to
inspire the suggestion.”™ However, given that
his name had received some attention, But-

ler eagerly began to promote himself to Taft.
Butler stated he wanted Harding to have “full
information” on him, but he noted that, since
“I have not been in public life the sources of
information such as the President should like
to have (if, as Mr. Pam says, he is considering
me) are comparatively few.” Butler asked Taft
for “information and friendly advice,” and he
told the Chief he had asked Pierce, Jr., and
Butler’s law partner William Mitchell to “re-
main inactive” on the subject. In response, Taft
said he would be delighted if Butler joined the
Court and that was “quite within the bounds
of possibility.”

At the same time Taft wrote Butler, Min-
nesota Senator Frank Kellogg telegraphed
Harding and, apparently not thinking of But-
ler as a possibility, suggested Judge Francis
E. Baker, “the best qualified and most avail-
able man I know. ... He would be a splendid
judge.” But once Kellogg heard Butler was be-
ing considered, he—in a second telegraph of
the same day—endorsed him enthusiastically:
in the Midwest, “I consider Pierce Butler the
very best man you could appoint. He is an
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exceedingly able lawyer; a man of high char-
acter and standing; young and vigorous and
would be a great addition.” In a third telegram
to Harding that same day, Kellogg qualified his
recommendation of Butler, suggesting Corde-
nio A. Severance, “the most eminent lawyer
in the Northwest and the best qualified man I
know for the position and is the right age,” un-
less the President was looking for a Democrat.
Five days later Kellogg telegraphed Harding
again, and, qualifying his previous note, said
Severance would “heartily endorse Butler and
call on you” to speak about the matter.” Kel-
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Minnesota Senator
Frank Kellogg (pic-

tured, with his wife)
also endorsed Butler
but asked President
Warren Harding to hold
off on nominating the
conservative Democrat
until after the next
election, for fear the
endorsement would
hurt  Kellogg's re-
election bid. (Kellogg
was defeated by a
liberal opponent.)

logg ended the flurry of correspondence with a
strong endorsement of Butler, and he mused in
a postscript that the appointment of a Demo-
crat should not hurt Kellogg in the coming
election, “but the Lord only knows what will
hurt a man, and if you can it would be a good
plan to hold up the appointment until after
election.”!®

As the calendar turned to November, But-
ler wrote a remarkable letter to Pierce, Jr. The
letter is quite extraordinary because of its can-
dor, and it is an excellent example of Butler’s
stream of consciousness style of writing.!'
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Butler recapped events as he knew them and
then turned to the difficult task of promoting
himself without being seen to do so.

[The President] does not know who
such friends of mine [who could
provide helpful information] are nor
does K[ellogg] and S[everance] and
anyone else besides you and Mitchell,
except to a limited extent.... The
problem of much difficulty is due to
the fact that my friends who would
want to help know nothing of the sit-
uation. I cannot and am not at all
inclined to tell them. I will not ask
anyone to do anything to promote the
matter and I think you should avoid
doing so. Yet I feel that there are some
who would think that they ought to be
told what is going on at least. So there
you are. A dilemma in a sense.

Then Butler conceived a bit of intrigue, both
revealing how appealing the idea of a spot on
the Supreme Court had become and steeling
himself that the appointment might go to an-
other.

If you call on the Chief or Vande-
vanter [sic] or both do so as soon as
convenient. I think calls on Justices
are only made at their residences,
and that callers are never received
at the Capitol. . . . They do their work
at home. It would seem certain that
either both will receive you cordially.
I think I would call on Chief first.
Possibly it would be best to ’phone
his residence to ask whether he will
receive you, and if so, when. His sec-
retary will answer ’phone and you
will tell him—if you are asked—that
your call is merely personal and so-
cial. You will not ask anything of ei-
ther. Merely call to pay your respects
and mine and let the situation be de-
veloped for you. If asked directly or
indirectly to tell what is going on
speak without any reservation as to
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facts, and observe most carefully ex-
actly what is said. Effort may be made
to impart what you are wanted to
know or understand without very def-
inite statement, you know—naturally
there will be some,—there may be
much—reserve. ... [Mlake it per-
fectly plain that you have not come
to Washington to see them and also
that I am not initiating any activity
on your part or on the part of anyone
else. . .. [T]he appointment of some-
one else will not be a calamity to me
or to you or any of our family....
You cannot under any circumstances
quote a Justice and for the reason that
such a [thing] is very objectionable.
They may not want to see you, or see-
ing you, will not talk freely—

Butler concluded by recommending that
Pierce, Jr., “[s]ee Severance first at Washing-
ton and take his advice about seeing Justices.
He will be able to guide you. Would follow
his views as to that—"" There is no record that
Pierce, Jr., spoke to Severance, Taft, or Van
Devanter.

Taft also busied himself advancing But-
ler’s prospects, writing Harding October 30
that “he would make a great Justice of our
Court” and enclosing Sanborn’s zealous let-
ter from October 14.'2 And Taft encouraged
Butler to ask Pierce, Jr., and Mitchell to so-
licit letters on Butler’s behalf. “[L]etters writ-
ten directly to the President on the subject,
especially by such a man as Governor Preuss
[sic], and by people whom the President is
likely to know, like the Archbishop of your
Diocese, and the head of the University of
Minnesota, would be of utmost value, and the
sooner they are sent, the better.” Taft also won-
dered if members of the Interstate Commerce
Commission (ICC) would plug Butler’s exper-
tise in railroad valuation. “Let me hear from
you about this, for I am deeply interested. I
have seen a letter from John Davis, saying that
he will not accept....”!> Van Devanter, too,
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thought generating more communication on
Butler’s behalf was necessary. He wrote San-
born that “the absence of any real effort for him
may tend to produce a mistaken impression of
his worth.”!4

Pierce, Jr., and Mitchell looked after But-
ler’s interests while he was in Toronto. But-
ler reported to Taft that support was com-
ing, or would come, from Minnesota Sen-
ator Knute Nelson, Governor J.A.O. Preus,
Sanborn, Chief Justice Calvin Brown of the
Minnesota supreme court, and President Lo-
tus Coffman of the University of Minnesota,
and Butler anticipated “the favorable inter-
est and desire to help” on the part of St.
Paul’s Archbishop Austin Dowling. Butler was
weighing his prospects and felt his chances
were good: “We are not hearing of others hav-
ing the combination of qualifications that the
President is understood to have in mind now,
prominently mentioned, but possibly there are
some.”!® Taft’s five-page response said noth-
ing to discourage Butler, but neither did it
confirm his hopes that the nomination was
forthcoming soon. Taft expressed concern that
Manton seemed yet to be a viable candidate,
and he vented his disdain for Manton and that
his Catholicism was becoming a subterfuge to
keep his aspirations alive. “[P]oliticians.. . . are
quite willing to piece out a man’s indifferent
qualifications for our Bench by the plea that
we need a Catholic or a Jew, and that there-
fore we should take one or the other, with
mediocre qualifications, just because he is
one or the other.” Taft blamed a conspiracy
for relentlessly pushing the President to con-
sider Manton, and he held the Catholic Church
partly culpable. “Archbishop [Patrick] Hayes
[of New York] should be ashamed of him-
self for pressing Manton. Probably he does not
know how unfit he is, and the Church should be
saved from responsibility for his promotion to
the Bench.” Fortunately, Taft said, Butler—*“so
eminently qualified for the place”—would, as
a Catholic, neutralize Manton’s momentum. ‘¢

Butler wrote Archbishop Dowling on
November 4 that he had been told, “by one
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whose name I am not at liberty to write,
that a personal letter from you direct to the
President is desirable as soon as possible. I
understand that your approval and estimate
of my qualities as a man lawyer and citizen
is deemed important and desirable.” Butler
also mentioned that he understood the Pres-
ident would “highly appreciate” the advice of
Bishop Thomas Shahan, Rector of the Catholic
University of America.!” Pierce, Jr., also wrote
Dowling in early November, requesting that
he write Harding. He stated that, despite Man-
ton’s “want of qualifications,” the President
might nominate him because it would be “good
politics.” Pierce, Jr., suggested that “our peo-
ple are more interested in the quality of the
Court. .. [and it] would be well if the Presi-
dent were made to realize that,—that to hope
to gain the support he seeks by such a sop is
poor politics, and a stimulus to resentment.”'®
Dowling’s willingness to help Butler was not in
doubt, but—at least when compared with the
late Archbishop John Ireland—there was less
certainty regarding his understanding of how
to accomplish it. Walter Sanborn surmised that
Dowling “does not know how to do the very
helpful things which Archbishop Ireland could
quietly bring about with silence and certainty,”
but Sanborn was hopeful that those in favor of
Butler’s appointment “will teach him how to
write a letter.” When Dowling did write Hard-
ing, he was effusive in his praise of Butler, “a
big, wholesome, capable man without fear and
without bias in whom we, who know him, have
the fullest confidence and whom we endorse
without the slightest reservation.”

As a lawyer he is particularly
expert—-as others better equiped [sic]
to do so than I will tell you—in the
intricacies of Railroad evaluation; as
a citizen he has interested himself in
the equally important matter of pub-
lic education and no member of the
Board of Regents of our State Uni-
versity has had a stronger or more
beneficent influence than he has had.
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Butler wrote to the Archbishop of his diocese, Austin
Dowling (pictured), asking him to send a letter of
endorsement to President Harding. Butler hoped to
stave off a rival candidate named Martin Manton, a
circuit judge who was, like Butler, a Roman Catholic.
The only Catholic on the Court in 1922 was Joseph
McKenna, and his retirement was imminent.

I...know from experience how wise
his counsel is and how sane and tol-
erant his outlook, how informed and
unerring his judgment. Sincerely re-
ligious and courageous in the profes-
sion of his convictions he has gone his
way without offense and enjoys the
esteem and confidence of the whole
community. "’

Bishop Shahan’s letter, which reached Harding
in mid-November, was a bit more vague and
restrained than Dowling’s, calling Butler “a
representative Catholic man [who] enjoys the
esteem of the Catholic people of Minnesota”
and affirming Dowling’s regard for Butler.?’
Van Devanter remained optimistic that
the place would go to Butler, telling Sanborn
that “at this writing the indications are, and
they are strong, that Pierce Butler will be se-
lected to succeed Justice Day. . .. Things have
been turning in Mr. Butler’s direction, and his
friends seem to have acted with discretion.”'

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

And Butler himself continued to act prudently,
looking for possible sources of support and
avoiding potential critics. To Taft’s suggestion
that Butler look to members of the ICC for
endorsement, Butler told Pierce, Jr., that was
unlikely, because “most of them differed from
us in RR valuation.” In fact, Butler said, “I feel
that there is some danger that opposition may
arise from some of them.”?* “The less that my
railroad work is emphasized the better.” Butler
began to consider newspaper coverage should
he be appointed, and he hinted that Pierce, Jr.,
should find “a Twin City newspaper man of
prominence whom Mitchell or you could trust
now and who would take an interest in get-
ting the right kind of ‘stuff” out when the time
comes, if it does come.”” A week later, But-
ler identified Fred Snyder and Bill McNally
as men who “practically control The Mpls Tri-
bune. McN is (of any who ought to be) per-
sonally very friendly. If you could see him
or SnydcTor both so as to get good stuff in
‘if and when’. It might help.”** Even before
Butler was nominated, Pierce, Jr., reported to
his father in Toronto that the Minneapolis Star,
“the Socialist paper of Van Lear former Social-
ist mayor of Minneapolis,” indicated a number
of disgruntled University of Minnesota profes-
sors planned to protest Butler’s appointment.®

Given the rather intense politicking to
keep Butler’s name at or at least near the top
of the President’s mental list of possible nom-
inees, the tenor and date of a letter Pierce, Jr.,
wrote to Butler’s brother Cooley are somewhat
perplexing. “Confidentially,” Pierce, Jr., wrote
his uncle, “the President is seriously consid-
ering appointing father to the U.S. Supreme
Court and may so announce next week. It. . . is
a dignity far in excess of a position in the Cab-
inet. It is a life job and by many lawyers is
regarded as of more responsibility and worth
than that of President.” Pierce, Jr., expressed
concern that his father could not afford to serve
on the Court and for that reason might de-
cline the President’s offer. “It would of course
entail a great sacrifice in father’s income,—
the salary being 12000 per year,” Pierce, Jr.,
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confided in his uncle. “Father spends more
than that now and could not live on twice
that sum. He would have to entertain
considerably—ambassadors and such,—and
that would increase the drain. His savings are
almost all invested with Leo [Butler] and if
Leo gets on O.K. [in the family construction
business] his income would be about 25000.”
Pierce, Jr., calculated that a compromise might
produce the best result: “Of course, he could
resign after 4 or 5 years, and would then have a
position at the bar similar only to that held by
C.E. Hughes. . ..” The son encouraged Cooley
to write Butler, because “{t]he advice of his
brothers, and their affectionate counsel and
support, he always values above that of any
other men.”%¢

Finally, neither did the Chief Justice leave
anything to chance. On November 17, Taft
wrote Harding, “I have secured, from the best
source possible, facts as to Pierce Butler’s
record as a Democrat, and also what his pro-
fessional relations have been, and I enclose
them. .. for your consideration and possible
use or reference.” Taft’s “best source possible”
was none other than Pierce Butler himself.?”

On November 23, 1922, Butler’s long
wait was over. The following day, Butler tele-
graphed the President with his response:

Have been informed that you have
nominated me associate justice of the
Supreme Court and beg leave to say
that I intend to accept the office. I
fully appreciate the great honor con-
ferred upon me and hope to be given
and long retain the power to meet the
great responsibilities involved. With
highest appreciation I beg leave to
extend my best wishes for all good
things to you and yours.?®

Justice Van Devanter had been among the
first, if not the first, to float Butler’s name
for consideration for appointment, and he was
among the first to congratulate Butler on his
appointment. “It is a long time since any-
thing has been so gratifying to me as was your
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nomination by the President today. For several
weeks I have been striving and hoping for this
result in a very modest way—not as a matter of
friendship for you, but to promote the public
good and maintain the high reputation and tra-
ditions of the greatest institution established by
the Constitution.”?’ Taft was no less pleased—
“I am delighted that that which I anticipated
has come about”—but, ever the politician and
tactician, he anticipated “there may be some
opposition to the confirmation by Borah, La
Follette, Ladd or Norris” and suggested that
Butler’s friends see “that your fitness and judi-
cial qualities and wide and honorable service
at the Bar. . . be brought to the attention of as
many members of the Senate as possible.”°
The month behind Butler had been filled with
consulting and letter-writing and expectations;
the month ahead brought more of the same.

Editorials in the Minneapolis Journal
and Minneapolis Tribune were favorable and
congratulatory to Butler and the state. Both
noted that the Midwest had been underrep-
resented on the Court, and Butler’s nomi-
nation produced “a better geographical bal-
ance.” The Tribune noted that the Supreme
Court is, at least theoretically, a nonparti-
san body, but the Journal applauded that
Butler’s appointment was “designed. . . to re-
inforce [sic] the Democratic minority, now
composed of the Wilson appointees, Justices
Pitney, McReynolds, and Brandesis. . . . The po-
litical balance is much more important than
the sectional one.” The Journal noted Butler’s
winning characteristics—his “fine legal at-
tainments and sound judicial temperament”—
and his “experience in railroad law . . . [which]
should prove of great value to the Supreme
Court.” Finally, the Journal commended But-
ler on his work as a regent at the University of
Minnesota: “A partisan when partisanship was
proper, [Butler] always put public weal before
every other consideration.”!

The Minneapolis Star ran a blistering,
page-one attack against Butler and his nom-
ination. The article quoted an assortment
of “progressives, liberal lawyers, progressive
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republicans, farmer-labor party leaders and in-
dependent democrats,” all of whom had some-
thing scathing to say about Butler, the man
who appointed him, and the Minnesota men
who endorsed his appointment. Butler was vil-
ified as “an implacable enemy of organized la-
bor,” “a pugnacious and aggressive defender
of the so-called vested interests against human
rights,” and a man who, as a regent, “distin-
guished himself for suppression of academic
freedom.” Minnesota’s Senator-elect Henrik
Shipstead, a progressive who had defeated in-
cumbent Frank Kellogg earlier that month,
said, “I consider it very bad public policy to
select our supreme court justices from that
group of lawyers in this country who are in the
employ of the big corporations and are usually
found defending those corporations against
the public interest.” The article predicted the
demise of the Republican party in Minnesota
and a drive for a constitutional amendment
to curtail the power of the Supreme Court.
Albert Rankin, a retired Minnesota professor
who several weeks previously had said he and
other professors would oppose Butler’s confir-
mation should he be nominated, changed his
tune: “If we could get him out of the state by
letting him be appointed to the supreme bench
we agreed it would be a good thing for the uni-
versity.”*? The Star’s editorial the following
day saw in Butler’s appointment a conspiracy
to thwart the will of the voters and a calculated
attempt to stem the tide of progressivism. In
short, “Mr. Butler is known as one of the most
pronounced reactionaries in the northwest.”*

Papers outside Minnesota reacted with a
bit more deliberation. In fact, neither the Wash-
ington Post nor the Washington Star editorial-
ized on Harding’s appointment, and The New
York Times stirred in jabs at Wisconsin’s Pro-
gressive Senator Robert La Follette with their
praise of Butler. The Times called Butler a rail-
road lawyer—“like Abraham Lincoln”—and
saw Butler’s railroad work as an asset, making
him “familiar with an important branch of the
law.” The paper also noted Butler’s prosecu-
tion for the government against the meatpack-
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ers, something that “should rehabilitate him a
little in Mr. La Follette’s difficult esteem.” Fi-
nally, it pleased The Times that a Republican
had appointed a Democrat and that Butler was
a Catholic, “worth mentioning only because
certain belated bigots in various parts of the
country [were] trying to proscribe many mil-
lions of our citizens on account of their race or
their religion.”*

In the following weeks, The Nation ran
two pieces, each a bit more far-reaching
in its criticisms. The editorial, “No Longer
Supreme,” took issue with Butler’s appoint-
ment, but its attack was broader and more
ominous than the obvious concern over Butler.
In The Nation’s estimation, the Court would
be “no longer supreme” if it continued to
make “backward decisions” and if the Pres-
ident continued to appoint men whose char-
acter and learning the public no longer re-
spected. And The Nation voiced the familiar
lament that Harding likely would have oppor-
tunity to make three more appointments. The
second piece, an article that called Butler a
“Friend of Intolerance,” was written by M.H.
Hedges, at the time “connected” with the Min-
neapolis Star. Hedges identified a quality in
Butler “that endears him to his friends and
makes him not so much hated by, as hateful to,
his victims—a kind of intellectual brutality.”
Hedges saw “an inquisitorial intolerance” in
Butler, most evident in his work as a regent.
“Is it likely,” Hedges asked, “that the mere
donning of judicial robes will change the in-
quisitorial zeal with which he has opposed the
opinions of others, or change the intellectual
habits of a lifetime formed in the service of
corporations?”3

Writing for The New Republic in its De-
cember 13 edition, Abraham Harris rather
complacently laid out Butler’s experiences as
an attorney, only hinting at criticisms of some
of his clients. But Harris aimed hostile words
at the person and character of Butler: “a veri-
table bully” in court, “aggressive to the point
of being insulting, unscrupulous,” “handl[ing]
witnesses with a ruthlessness seldom seen”;
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“a reactionary of the most pronounced type”;
“a professional flag-waver” during the war
“and ready, figuratively, to shoot the radicals
at sunrise without a trial.” Harris concluded
with a litany of charges against Butler as re-
gent.3¢ The magazine’s editorial the following
week continued Harris’s tirade, calling But-
ler “a blind and bumptious bigot” as regent,
a man “who would assuredly use a warped
or doubtful interpretation of a phrase in the
Constitution to prevent needed experiments in
economics and government.” Butler’s appoint-
ment, “a piece of crass stupidity,” portended
the collapse of America’s system of checks and
balances and threatened to relegate the Court
to being “a medium of obscurantism, immo-
bility and implicit violence rather than that of
enlightenment, progress and constructive con-
sent.”’

While the commentators were harangu-
ing Butler, the Senate began its job of ad-
vising the President and consenting to his
choice. Between November 23, when Hard-
ing sent in Butler’s name, and November 28,
when the Senate Judiciary Committee first rec-
ommended that the full Senate confirm But-
ler’s nomination, three individuals contacted
a number of Senators to try to create oppo-
sition to Butler. On Saturday, November 25,
D.J. Leary wired Judiciary Committee Chair-
man Senator Nelson from Butte, Montana, and
asked to appear before the committee. Leary
claimed he knew “the real Pierce Butler and
[could] show him [to be] a criminal conspir-
ator [and] member of the infamous Butler-
O’Brien gang who have encouraged and pro-
tected vice and prostituted justice in the city
of St. Paul for more than twenty-five years.”
Leary wagered one thousand dollars that he
could prove his charges, which he based on
his belief that Butler had falsely prosecuted
him in the early 1890s.3® At the same time, an
unnamed professor at the University of Min-
nesota wrote Senator Edwin Ladd of North
Dakota, and Ladd gave the letter to the St.
Paul Pioneer Press, where it was published
that Sunday. The anonymous writer cited But-
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ler’s combative tactics in court, his domi-
neering behavior as a university regent, and
his less-than-progressive attitude toward the
law.3® The final complainant was Professor
William Schaper, formerly at the University
of Minnesota, who traveled to Washington
that weekend to meet with two members of
the Judiciary Committee—Nebraska’s George
Norris and Nelson—and progressive Senators
he thought would be willing to listen to his
concerns about Butler—Ladd, La Follette, and
Iowa’s Smith Brookhart. Schaper was encour-
aged that La Follette, and, to a lesser extent
Brookhart and Norris, sympathized with his
protest against Butler. The Regents of the Uni-
versity of Minnesota, responding to concerns
expressed by the state’s Commission of Pub-
lic Safety, had terminated Schaper’s service
as professor of political science, questioning
his patriotism and loyalty to America dur-
ing World War 1. While Schaper drafted spe-
cific charges against Butler—he accused Re-
gent Butler of leading the charge to get him
fired from the university—for presentation to
the Judiciary Committee, La Follette tried to
collect additional information about Butler.*’
With Butler’s confirmation by the full Senate
imminent, La Follette asked that Butler’s nom-
ination be removed from the list of 1,700 other
names before the Senate, threatening that he
would demand that each nomination be voted
on separately if it were not.

La Follette’s crusade against Pierce But-
ler was rooted in a number of distinct, al-
beit connected, factors. Results from the re-
cent election—including, in Minnesota, the
liberal Shipstead’s defeat of the conservative
Kellogg—re-energized and emboldened La
Follette to push his progressive agenda in the
Senate and perhaps encouraged him to expect
more success in his legislative initiatives. La
Follette saw in the election returns—or thought
he saw in them—a growing sympathy for his
views; since his views and Butler’s were dia-
metrically opposed, the Senator thought it was
his duty to defeat the man whose views contra-
dicted those expressed in the recent election.
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One of La Follette’s progressive ideas was
aradical reshaping of the relationship between
the legislative branch and the Supreme Court.
In June 1922—before the election and well
before there were rumblings that Butler would
be named to the Court—La Follette addressed
the annual convention of the American Feder-
ation of Labor (AFL). Part of his speech was
an attack on the Supreme Court: “The actual
ruler of the American people is the Supreme
Court. ... The law is what they say it is and
not what the people through Congress enacts
[sic].” Even the Constitution, he preached, is
“what these nine men construe it to be. In fact,
five of these nine men are actually the supreme
rulers.” La Follette asked the AFL delegates,
“Shall the people rule through their elected
representatives or shall they be ruled by a ju-
dicial oligarchy?” The Senator answered his
own question, proposing the broad outlines
of a constitutional amendment that would al-
low Congress to revote on pieces of legisla-
tion declared unconstitutional by the Supreme
Court.*!

But there was something personal, too,
in La Follette’s attack on Butler. The same
Minnesota Commission of Public Safety who
was at least partially responsible for Profes-
sor Schaper’s troubles had vexed the Sena-
tor as well. In the fall of 1917, the Nonparti-
san League held a Producers’ and Consumers’
Conference in St. Paul, and La Follette was
invited to speak. Conference organizers inten-
tionally excluded foreign policy—specifically
discussion of the war—from the agenda; when
League officials rejected La Follette’s pre-
pared remarks on maintaining free speech
during wartime, the Senator spoke extem-
poraneously. La Follette had just begun his
impromptu speech when he offered a brief
editorial on the war. The Senator said, and
local papers reported him saying, “I don’t
mean to say that we hadn’t suffered grievances;
we had—at the hands of Germany. Serious
grievances!” But the Associated Press sent
“We had no grievances against Germany”
(plus other inaccuracies) over its wires. This
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gave Minnesotans who loathed the Nonparti-
san League ammunition with which to attack
it, and La Follette had given officials who de-
tested him and his views an opening to exco-
riate him. The Commission of Public Safety
began an investigation, and the committee’s
chair, Governor Joseph A.A. Burnquist, sug-
gested that La Follette’s arrest and trial under
the state’s espionage law were possibilities.
The commission, as well as others in Min-
nesota and out, petitioned the Senate to expel
La Follette, and Minnesota’s Senator Kellogg
introduced a resolution in the Senate to punish
him. The Wisconsin Senator forgave neither
the Commission of Public Safety nor Kellogg,
and Butler and what he represented personi-
fied both.

In addition to La Follette’s personal
grudges and political maneuvering for power
in the Senate, the Wisconsin Senator and But-
ler viewed the world from different perspec-
tives. La Follette rued that the courts had be-
come something not intended by the founders
of the country: rather than aggressively insur-
ing liberty and freely providing remedies for
wrongs and injuries, the courts protected prop-
erty interests. In La Follette’s mind, Butler on
the Supreme Court would multiply that mis-
use of the judiciary and further empower those
who used their property against the common
good. “A study of his record,” La Follette said
of the nominee, “leaves one with the convic-
tion that the highest court in the land is being
builded [sic] into a final citadel for special
privilege in general, and special railroad priv-
ilege in particular.” The selection of attorneys
such as Butler, La Follette believed, would “do
much to confirm and intensify the conviction
in the public mind that our federal courts are
becoming more and more the bulwark of spe-
cial interests.”*?

Senator Nelson, the committee chair, re-
ceived several somewhat unlikely endorse-
ments from Butler’s home state. After reading
the professor’s letter in the St. Paul Pioneer
Press, A.O. Moreaux and O.E. Ferguson of
Luverne wired the Senator to defend Butler’s
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conduct in a case involving a Minnesota man
named John Meints. Citizens in and around
Luverne suspected Meints of contributing to
a Nonpartisan League newspaper and gener-
ally accused him of disloyalty during the war.
In the summer of 1918, several dozen men—
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Progressive Wisconsin
Senator Robert LaFol-
lette railed against But-
ler's nomination, con-
demning the corporate
lawyer for his strong
ties to the railroad
companies he repre-
sented.

the writers of the telegram and “thirty other
business and professional men of Luverne and
farmers of Rock County”—kidnapped Meints
and took him to South Dakota to teach him
a lesson about patriotism and make him an
example to others not sufficiently zealous in
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support of the war. Once the men crossed into
South Dakota, they turned Meints over to oth-
ers, who tarred and feathered him. Butler de-
fended the thirty-plus Minnesotans, hired as
their attorney “because he was recognized as
the ablest lawyer in the Northwest.,” Moreaux
and Ferguson called Butler “a gentleman of the
highest type,” and they and “all other men in
Rock County who were good citizens during
the war” deemed Butler “eminently worthy” of
serving on the Court.*? The trial court found
the Minnesotans not guilty of tarring and feath-
ering Meints and therefore not liable for dam-
ages; when Meints appealed, Butler counseled
his clients to settle by paying damages, and the
amount exceeded Meints’ expectations. An-
other correspondent, Arthur Le Sueur, an as-
sociate of Nonpartisan Leaguer Arthur Town-
ley, told the committee that “[wThile I consider
the crime which Mr. Butler’s clients commit-
ted [against Meints] as grievous as murder,
there was nothing in his conduct . . . which in-
dicated ‘a lack of devotion to law and order or
a lack of moral integrity.””** In another case,
Le Sueur and Minneapolis lawyer Thomas La-
timer represented the workers while Butler was
counsel for the Minneapolis Steel and Machin-
ery Company in a labor dispute; the workers’
lawyers assured the committee that Butler’s
“conduct in protecting his clients’ interests
was in no wise short of the ethics of the profes-
sion to which he belongs,” and “nothing done
by him...carried any inference of unfitness
for the judicial position to which he has been
nominated.”*

On December 2, Butler from St. Paul wor-
ried to Taft that “[nJow—Saturday afternoon
at four o’clock Washington time—it seems to
me that the Senate will very likely not con-
firm during the present Congress. A friend in
Washington phoned me an hour or two ago that
the President today asked some of the leaders
in the Senate to try to bring about a confirma-
tion before Monday noon. . .. I hope this may
be done.”*® Congress adjourned the follow-
ing Monday, December 4, without the Senate
taking action on Butler’s nomination.
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As Butler’s friend and confidant, Taft
wrote to provide encouragement for the “un-
pleasant hours” that lay ahead, denigrating
Butler’s critics as “vermin whom you have
stepped on in the discharge of your duties”
and noting that the attack on Butler’s nomina-
tion was really an attack on Harding and the
Court. As Chief Justice and strategist, Taft said
Butler’s friends should keep in contact with
Chairman Nelson and also select a body of
“leading men” from the Twin Cities, Chicago,
and the Dakotas who would testify to But-
ler’s “high standing at the Barand . . . influence
as a professional man and barrister,” and the
Chief noted that the good word of Minnesota’s
President Coffman would rebut the attacks
by “those disloyal traitors” at the university.
Taft expressed annoyance that “Uncle Knute”
could be “a bit slow in pressing matters,” but
he seemed confident of Butler’s confirmation,
despite “the fuss that a few people can make
for their own publicity under the rules of the
Senate.”¥’

Having done all he could to secure Butler’s
nomination, Taft turned his attention to filling
the next vacancy. The bill permitting Justice
Pitney to retire was awaiting the President’s
signature, ensuring the President his fourth
appointment in less than two years. Mentally
surveying the possibilities, Taft wished to dis-
suade Harding from considering a “Progres-
sive” like Judge Learned Hand:

He is an able Judge and a hard worker.
I appointed him [District Judge] on
Wickersham’s recommendation, but
he turned out to be a wild Roosevelt
man and a Progressive, and though on
the Bench, he went into the campaign.
If promoted to our Bench, he would
almost certainly herd with Brandeis
and be a dissenter. [ think it would be
risking too much to appoint him.

Better, said Taft, to realize that the present at-
tack on Butler was “part of the program [La
Follette and Norris] are deliberately setting out
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upon to attack you and the Court and the Con-
stitution” and to respond accordingly:

The more blatant they make it, the
better I think it will be to unite the
conservative elements of the coun-
try to resist their plotting against our
present social order, and I hope you
will feel that the best way to deal
with them is to hit them between the
eyes by the appointment of staunch
friends of the Constitution who will
do nothing to sap the pillars of our
Government as they have weathered
the storm of many assaults and vindi-
cated the wisdom of our ancestors.*?

Like Taft, Learned Hand was sharing his
thoughts on the makeup of the Supreme Court,
and, while he was ambivalent toward Butler’s
nomination, he was critical of Harding’s pre-
vious nomination:

Dont [sic] be too hard on P. But-
ler. Whatever he may turn out to
be, he certainly saved us Manton,
and he will be welcome for that. I
know whereof I speak and there is
no shadow of doubt that till a few
days before the appointment Manton
had it. The [Catholic] hierarchy was
solid behind him; the White House
was flooded with telegrams. . . . How
he got such a backing I dont [sic]
know. ... Now I think his [Butler’s]
way is clear.

Yes, the S.C. is not pleasing to look
at. Sutherland I believe is not much
and will probably revert from any lib-
eral tendencies he ever showed.*’

President Harding resubmitted Butler’s
name on December 5, the same day Professor
Schaper and Minnesota’s Senator-elect Ship-
stead requested a hearing before the Judiciary
Committee. On December 7, Shipstead
filed four charges against Butler with the
committee, and the committee was asked
to call a half-dozen witnesses. Schaper and
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Shipstead stated that as a long-time lawyer
for corporations, Butler could not objectively
decide cases involving large companies.
Because he had been counsel for railroads
and utilities in particular, Butler would be dis-
qualified from sitting on cases in those areas,
and the public deserved to have a full Court
hear those cases.® The final two charges
impeached Butler’s ethics and character: as
attorney for the Twin City Rapid Transit
Company, Butler was helping his client
obstruct justice, and as regent But-
ler repeatedly behaved in ways that
demonstrated his lack of a judicial
temperament.>!

Judiciary Committee Chairman Nelson
created a subcommittec of three to hear
Schaper and Shipstead’s charges against But-
ler. Republican Albert Cummins of lowa,
Democrat Thomas Walsh of Montana, and
Nelson first met in the afternoon of Friday,
December 8, and Schaper and Shipstead were
their first witnesses. Shipstead acknowledged
that he did not know Butler personally and had
no personal knowledge of the charges but was,
he said, appearing before the subcommittee
on behalf of others who wished to be heard.
Walsh and Cummins were not troubled by the
charges that Butler represented corporations
or by his theories regarding railroad valuation;
while Walsh and Cummins did not agree with
Butler’s ideas, they stated that should not pre-
clude him from serving on the Supreme Court,
especially since he would recuse himself from
cases in which he had participated. Neither
were the Senators overly concerned about But-
ler’s actions on Minnesota’s Board of Regents;
they concluded Butler should not be held re-
sponsible if the full board participated in the
decisions, nor should the Senate presume to
second-guess the governing body of a univer-
sity. But the subcommittee was willing to let
Schaper air all his grievances against Butler,
so Nelson scheduled another hearing for the
following Wednesday, December 13.

The day after the subcommittee met for
the first time, Butler wrote Taft a long letter
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Senator Knute Nelson (pictured) presided over Butler's confirmation hearings as chairman of the Senate
Judiciary Committee. He organized a special subcommittee to hear the testimony of a liberal professor of
political science at the University of Minnesota who claimed he had been fired for his political views. Butler
served as a member of the board of regents of the university from 1907 to 1924, and several liberal professors
claimed he could not tolerate dissent. Nelson's committee unanimously recommended Butler's confirmation.

defending himself against Schaper and other
disgruntled professors; his tone painted him-
selfas a victim, and he did not betray any con-
cern that the professors’ charges would be fatal
to his confirmation. Butler did express con-
cern, however, with the National Association
of Railroad Commissioners and that their “op-
position might possibly influence against con-
firmation some of the senators.” That aside,
Butler’s mental tally of Senators led him to an-
ticipate confirmation, though *“the opposition
[might] be stubborn and cause considerable
delay.” Mitchell, Butler’s counterpart, was in
Washington and planned to remain there “un-
til the matter is over. He represents me in all
things.™? If Butler felt persecuted by profes-
sors and others leveling charges against him,
Taft’s letter of response must have been the
perfect salve. “You have the misfortune,” Taft
soothed, “of being appointed to the Bench at
a time when there is a radical flare-back, and
a movement to attack the Supreme Court and
to attack Harding. To this extent you are the

goat.” Taft assured his friend that after confir-
mation, “the disagreeable effect of the dem-
agogic attack will pass away, as a bad smell
does in the open air.” Taft blamed La Follette,
“a master of dirty publicity,” for the attack
on Butler, and he regretted that the nominee
was not allowed to appear before the commit-
tee, when “everybody that has any grievance
against [the nominee] may go there and be
heard, if he can only get some lout-mouthed
[sic] Senator to demand it.”*

Butler also received a playful boost
from fellow Minnesotan and longtime friend
Elmer Adams. “I thought I would delay un-
til you were a real judge before congratulat-
ing you,” Adams wrote. Taking a swipe at
another Minnesotan—Butler’s Senate accuser,
Dr. Shipstead—Adams offered his thoughts on
health and dentistry:

You know that during the past few
years, nearly all of our illnesses have
been attributed to defective teeth and
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it is not unlikely that in the pursuance
of this policy, Senator Shipstead is
of the opinion that your health would
be better if he removed your teeth.
Whether this doctor of dental surgery
is correct in this theory or not, I do
not know but we have too many men
on the bench and other places now
without teeth.>*

Butler returned the joke: “Having in mind re-
cent learning of the medical profession, I am
spending a little time with our family den-
tist, but he does not advise the removal of the
same kind of teeth that Shipstead seems to be
after.”>

At 2:00 on December 13, the subcommit-
tee met as scheduled and Professor Schaper
resumed his testimony, relating in detail
his dismissal from the University of Min-
nesota. Shipstead did not attend the Decem-
ber 13 meeting. Schaper presented a letter
from retired Minnesota Professor Rankin, who
charged that “it was the habit of Pierce But-
ler to issue orders to the University president
directing him to dismiss, or fail to recom-
mend, such persons as had fallen under Mr.
Butler’s displeasure because of their political
or economic views.” Rankin’s letter also tes-
tified that there was “current talk, the truth
of which the committee [of Academic Free-
dom, of which Rankin had been a member]
established to its entire satisfaction, that Mr.
Butler was insulting and arrogant in his action
and conduct whenever a man or woman came
before the regents for investigation, [falling]
upon the defendant, just as a prosecuting at-
torney might attack a criminal, acting in the
triple capacity of judge, prosecutor and exe-
cutioner.”*® Marion L. Burton, then president
of the University of Michigan but formerly
president at Minnesota, had wired Nelson that
Butler was “thoroughly devoted to [the] wel-
fare of institution, vigorous and aggressive in
his attack upon its problems, {and] always thor-
oughly genuine and sincere.” Burton conceded
the men “disagreed sharply but were always
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friendly,” and the president praised Butler as
having “one of the keenest analytical minds,”
thoroughly believing in the Constitution, and
being “eminently worthy” of the Supreme
Court.”” The committee also heard testimony
regarding Professor John Gray, whom La Fol-
lette had encouraged to attend the subcommit-
tee meeting. Gray did not, in fact, attend, and
the testimony regarding him came in the form
of a long and detailed telegram from Butler,
in which he vigorously defended himself of
any wrongdoing in Gray’s dismissal from the
University of Minnesota in 1917. The final
witness was C.F. Staples, formerly a mem-
ber of Minnesota’s Railroad and Warehouse
Commission, and, at the time of the hear-
ings, a member of the ICC. Staples also re-
futed Gray’s claims that Butler had a vendetta
against him because Gray had, when on leave
from the university and serving as an exam-
iner in railroad valuation work for the govern-
ment, ruled against Butler when he, too, was
doing valuation work for the railroad compa-
nies. Nelson asked Staples if he had heard of
Butler’s complaints against Gray, and Staples
answered, “Yes, [but] I never heard anything
of the sort, or anything that would give rise to
such a question, until yesterday, and that was
from somebody not connected with the com-
mission.”® Cummins was satisfied with Sta-
ples’ response, indicating he had only wanted
to know whether Butler was the kind of man
who “would try to revenge himself upon the
examiner by getting him dismissed.” The sub-
committee dismissed each witness after he had
spoken, and, after a bit more than two hours
of testimony that day, they rather perfuncto-
rily dismissed the concerns against Butler and
unanimously recommended his confirmation
to the full Judiciary Committee.

Two witnesses Schaper had hoped would
testify against Butler were Max Lowenthal
and Felix Frankfurter, both of whom were
very incidentally—in Schaper’s mind, if not
in fact—connected with the professor’s dis-
missal from the university. On December 8§,
Shipstead indicated to the subcommittee that
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When Butler, a conservative Democrat, took his seat in 1923, he became the seventh Justice to be appointed

by a President of a different party.

he wished both men be summoned to testify,
and that news was reported in various papers.
Frankfurter wrote Pierce, Jr., from Harvard
Law School, repeating what he had seen in
several Boston papers: “It is said that among
the witnesses to be called are Prof. Felix Frank-
furter of Harvard Law School, a son-in-law of
Justice Brandeis.” Frankfurter wrote to assure
Butler and Pierce, Jr., that he did not intend
to appear before the subcommittee. “I should
like you and your father to know that it’s all
rubbish—made out of whole cloth,” the pro-
fessor wrote. “That I am to appear as a wit-
ness, that I have any information to give, that
I am in anywise involved, directly or indi-
rectly, in the opposition to confirmation is no
more true than that I am a son-in-law of Mr.
Justice Brandeis—in other words, it is utterly
without foundation.” Frankfurter said that he
believed all nominations should be “thor-
oughly scrutinized,” but he had expressed
that rather general statement before Harding
submitted Butler’s name. “I cannot,” Frank-
furter concluded, “deny too categorically the
utter baselessness of any suggestion of op-

position emanating from me.” Pierce, Jr.,
conveyed the information to Mitchell, who
shared his relief with Frankfurter: “Your let-
ter confirms the belief I already had that
Shipstead did not know what he was do-
ing and had no basis for believing that his
witnesses would ‘make good.”” Pierce. Jr.
and Mitchell surmised—and then explained
to Frankfurter—that Schaper invoked Frank-
furter’s name because, at the time Schaper
was dismissed, Lowenthal was in St. Paul
and wanted to see Butler “to intercede for
Schaper,” and Lowenthal had with him a let-
ter of introduction from Frankfurter. Mitchell
requested Frankfurter write Nelson to clear up
the matter. “1 feel sure,” Mitchell told Frank-
furter, “that on your own account, you would
not be willing to have the record left silent
on this point, and from Butler’s standpoint it
would be additional proof that the charges are
without substance.”” Frankfurter complied,
telling Nelson he “attributed to irresponsible
gossip [the] mention of my name in connec-
tion with opposition” to Butler; “I have in
nowise. directly or indirectly, been connected
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with the opposition to Mr. Butler’s confirma-
tion.”®! After his father had taken his seat on
the Court, Pierce, Jr., wrote Frankfurter to ac-
knowledge his “thoughtfulness and courtesy in
writing me as you did during the late unpleas-
antness.” But the son’ intent may have been
to burnish his father’s image in Frankfurter’s
eyes—and in the eyes of Frankfurter’s many
correspondents:

[Flather expressed a desire to meet
[Lowenthal], and said at the time that
anything he could do for Schaper or to
place him as an instructor somewhere
he would be glad to do, with the ex-
ception that he would not assist him
in returning to the University of Min-
nesota. He said that of all the men at
the University who were accused or
gave grounds for accusation of dis-
loyalty, he liked Schaper best because
he was the most honest and frank of
the lot, and that he very much regret-
ted that it was Schaper’s misfortune
to be the only one dismissed.5?

The subcommittee’s decision to recom-
mend confirmation was unanimous. On the
following Monday, December 18, the Senate
Judiciary Committee—with William Borah,
James Reed, John Shields, and Norris absent—
voted unanimously to recommend Butler’s
confirmation.®* When the nomination was re-
ported and brought up for confirmation in an
executive session of the Senate on Decem-
ber 20, it was held over till the following day
on the objection of the Democratic minority
leader, Joe Robinson of Arkansas, Taft not-
ing to his brother Harry that “Robinson in my
contact with him is a pretty good man, but the
Ku Klux Klan are very bitter in their attacks
on Butler, because he is a Catholic, and that
Klan is supposed to be strong in Arkansas.”
However, Taft had not “the slightest doubt”
of confirmation when the vote was finally
taken.®

On the afternoon of December 21, the
Senate went into executive session. Senator
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Nelson spoke for an hour and methodically dis-
patched the accusations against Butler, one by
one. Montana’s Senator Thomas Walsh, who,
like Butler was Catholic, spoke in favor of
confirmation. La Follette spoke for more than
an hour. His strategy was to try to convince
enough Senators to vote to refer the nomina-
tion back to the Judiciary Committee, where
some of the Minnesota professors—and oth-
ers, if they could be found—could make their
cases against Butler. La Follette ventured his
entire argument against Butler on Professor
Gray’s account, trying to portray Butler as a
person who lacked the necessary temperament
to be a Justice. La Follette’s gamble did not
pay off: the motion to recommit the nomina-
tion to committee was defeated 63 to 7, and
the motion to confirm passed 61 to 8, with 27
abstentions.®® The following day, Butler tele-
graphed his Chief: “Our gratitude to you is
boundless.”%

Curiously—or perhaps expectedly, given
the Star’s animosity toward Butler—the pa-
per’s one-column headline the day after the
Senate confirmed him said that “Butler Will
Likely Quit Regent Post.” “Butler’s resigna-
tion as a regent would end his 15 years’
connection with that institution,” the paper
said, “where he has been an aggressive per-
sonality and out of which some of the chief
charges against him that held up his confir-
mation by the senate for several weeks, and
resulted in the battle of progressive senators
to prevent his confirmation.” Not surprisingly,
that day’s editorial ended with this dire judg-
ment: “If we want a government of the peo-
ple, for the people, and by the people, we will
have to learn that A MAN CANNOT SAFELY
BE ELECTED TO A LAW-MAKING BODY
OR APPOINTED TO A JUDGESHIP WHO
HAS BEEN TRAINED IN THE SERVICE
OF ANY SPECIAL INTEREST ESSEN-
TIALLY OPPOSED TO THE PUBLIC IN-
TEREST. Pierce Butler’s appointment was
confirmed because the body which did
the confirming is dominated by corporation
lawyers.”®
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Butler's funeral mass in 1939 was attended by his Brethren. Of the members of his conservative bloc, only
Justice McReynolds (front, left) survived to hold the fort against the liberal Justices who had since been
appointed by Franklin D. Roosevelt.

With Butler’s confirmation all but voted
on, Chief Justice Taft turned his attention and
energy to the next open chair on the Court.
On December 21, while anticipating a favor-
able vote on Butler, Taft wrote a “personal
and confidential” letter to Elihu Root, Secre-
tary of State under Teddy Roosevelt and for-
mer Senator from New York, by this time an
elder statesman in the Republican party. Taft
wanted to sound him out on Henry Stimson,
Taft’s Secretary of War and, in the 1920s, a
corporate lawyer on Wall Street, and other
possible candidates for Justice Pitney’s seat.
“My impression,” Taft wrote, “is that [Hard-
ing’s] disposition will be toward a Judge on
the Bench, and that that is likely to be [Ed-
ward] Sanford.” Taft thought Stimson would
be an able member of the Court, telling Root,
“Indeed the only thing I know against Stimson
is his good opinion of [Felix] Frankfurter. . ..
I never liked Frankfurter,” Taft continued can-
didly, ““and have continued to dislike him more
the more 1 have known him.... I suppose

[Stimson’s favorable opinion of Frankfurter]
does not indicate an unsoundness of view as to
the Constitution on Stimson’s part, for it would
be a great disappointment to have him ap-
pointed and then find him herding with Bran-
deis.” While Taft was not happy with Wilson
appointees Brandeis and Clarke, neither did
he want too many men on the Court “who are
as reactionary on the subject of the Consti-
tution as McReynolds.” What was important,
Taft said, was “men who are liberal but who
still believe that the corner stone of our civ-
ilization is in the proper maintenance of the
guarantees of the 14th Amendment and the
5th Amendment [and] I believe that Stimson
believes that.” Taft asked for Root’s thoughts
on the subject before he wrote or spoke to
Harding about it.%

Within the week, Taft wrote to Harding
about a prospective new Justice:

With Pierce Butler confirmed
and the taking effect of Pitney’s
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resignation on the opening of the
year, the election of another member
of our court will press on you. The
eligibles you have under considera-
tion are I believe, Anderson, Bullitt,
Stimson, practitioners, Hough, Rose,
Sanford Judges and possibly Wm.
Moschisker C.J. of Penn. You have
just put on two practitioners. Would
it not be well to vary with a Judge,
preferably a Federal Judge familiar
with the work?%

Several weeks later, Taft again wrote Hard-
ing, this time expressing dismay that at least
one Senator suggested that Taft “was interfer-
ing in the matter of selecting a Justice of the
Supreme Court and that Sanford was my can-
didate.” Taft defended himself, saying, “I have
no candidate but that I considered that it was
not beyond my province to communicate to the
Attorney General and you what I regarded as
reliable information as to all candidates pro-
posed for the office.” Taft seemed not to be
concerned that he had, perhaps, blurred the
lines among the three branches, both with San-
ford, who was nominated the following week,
and with Pierce Butler. Sounding injured and
a bit put out, Taft sniffed, “I greatly regret that
reports have gone out from some source that
I was to be consulted in respect to qualifica-
tions of judges. I can only say I have never
given cause for such a report.””°
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in front of me at the moment.” Francis Butler to Leo But-
ler, February 4, 1964, Box 1, Pierce Butler Family Papers.
2Taft to Harding, October 30, 1922, Reel 153, Harding
Papers.

13Taft to Butler, November 2, 1922, Reel 26, Taft Papers.
14yan Devanter to Sanborn, October 31, 1922, Box 12,
Van Devanter Papers.

15Butler to Taft, November 5, 1922, Reel 247, Taft Papers.
16Taft to Butler, November 7, 1922, Reel 247, Taft
Papers.

17Butler to Austin Dowling, November 4, 1922, Box 8,
Austin Dowling Papers.

18pierce Butler, Jr., to Dowling, no date, Box 8, Dowling
Papers.
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19Dowling to Harding, November 6, 1922, Box 8, Dowling
Papers, and Dowling to Harding, November 8, 1922, Reel
153, Harding Papers.

20Thomas J. Shahan to Harding, November 14, 1922, Reel
153, Harding Papers. Shahan called on Harding twice to
endorse Butler. Butler to Taft, November 11, 1922, Reel
247, Taft Papers.

2lyan Devanter to Sanborn, November 10, 1922, Box 12,
Van Devanter Papers.

22Butler to Pierce Butler, Jr., November 7, 1922, Butler
Papers—Supreme Court.

B Butler to Pierce Butler, Jr., November 14, 1922, Butler
Papers—Supreme Court.

24Butler to Pierce Butler, Jr., November 20, 1922, Butler
Papers—Supreme Court.

Z5Butler to Taft, November 15, 1922, Reel 247, Taft Pa-
pers.

26pierce Butler, Ir., to Cooley Butler, November 15, 1922,
Box 19, Butler Family Papers.

2TTaft to Harding, November 17, 1922, Reel 247, Taft
Papers. In the preceding weeks, in their correspondence,
Taft had asked Butler questions and Butler had responded
at length. Taft compiled Butler’s answers and created a
neat curriculum vitae for the President.

ZBytler to Harding, November 24, 1922, Reel 153, Hard-
ing Papers.

29Van Devanter to Butler, November 23, 1922, Box 12,
Van Devanter Papers.

30Taft to Butler, November 24, 1922, Reel 247, Taft Pa-
pers.

3! Minneapolis Journal, November 24, 1922, page 20;
Minneapolis Tribune, November 24, 1922, page 18.

32 Minneapolis Star, November 24, 1922, pages | and 12.
33Mz'nneapolis Star, November 25, 1922, page 4.

3 The New York Times, November 25, 1922, page 9.
3The Nation 115:2997 (December 13, 1922), 653 and
660-61.

36 The New Republic 33:419 (December 13, 1922), 65-67.
37The New Republic 33:420 (December 20, 1922), 81—
83.

3D.J. Leary to Knute Nelson, November 25, 1922, Pierce
Butler Confirmation Papers.

39Butler Confirmation Papers.

“OButler Confirmation Papers.

4lQuoted in Edward N. Doan, The La Follettes and the
Wisconsin Idea (New York: Rinehart and Company, Inc.,
1947), 103-4.

42Robert La Follette, “Pierce Butler on the Supreme
Court,” La Follette’s Magazine XV:1 (January 1923), 2
and 5, Box 1:0V4, Robert La Follette Family Papers.

43 A.O. Moreaux and O.E. Ferguson to Nelson, incomplete
date, Butler Confirmation Papers.

44 Arthur Le Sueur to Nelson, November 28, 1922, Butler
Confirmation Papers.
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4SThomas Latimer and Arthur Le Sueur to Nelson,
November 28, 1922, Butler Confirmation Papers.
46Butler to Taft, December 2, 1922, Reel 247, Taft Papers.
47 Taft to Butler, December 5, 1922, Reel 248, Taft Papers.
One such person Taft had in mind was George Norris,
whom he described as “an ugly kind of an individual, at
odds with the world generally.”

48Taft to Harding, December 4, 1922, Reel 236, Harding
Papers.

49 earned Hand to Felix Frankfurter, no date (early De-
cember 1922), Reel 26, Part III, Court Papers of Felix
Frankfurter.

39Schaper and Shipstead also argued that Butler’s ideas
on railroad valuation, which they claimed were inconsis-
tent with the public interest, would taint other Justices’
thinking on the subject.

51Butler Confirmation Papers.

52Butler to Taft, December 9, 1922, Reel 248, Taft Papers.
S3Taft to Butler, December 12, 1922, Reel 248, Taft Pa-
pers.

54Elmer Adams to Butler, December 13, 1922, Reel 30,
Elmer Adams Papers.

55Butler to Elmer Adams, December 16, 1922, Reel 30,
Adams Papers.

36 Albert Rankin to Shipstead, December 10, 1922, Butler
Confirmation Papers.

5"Marion L. Burton to Nelson, November 28, 1922, Butler
Confirmation Papers.

38Butler Confirmation Papers.

59Frankfurter to Pierce Butler, Jr., December 9, 1922, Reel
248, Taft Papers.

%Mitchell to Frankfurter, December 15, 1922, Reel 22,
Personal Papers of Felix Frankfurter.

6! Frankfurter to Nelson, December 17, 1922, Reel 22,
Personal Papers of Felix Frankfurter.

62pjerce Butler, Jr., to Frankfurter, January 20, 1923, Reel
22, Personal Papers of Felix Frankfurter.

63Taft to Butler, December 17, 1922, Reel 248, Taft Pa-
pers. It appears that Taft involved himself with the Judi-
ciary Committee’s business as well. He wrote to Butler, “I
think I have arranged it so as to have a very full meeting
of the Judiciary Committee on Monday—at least a full
meeting of the Republicans.”

4 Taft to Harry Taft, December 20, 1922, Reel 248, Taft
Papers.

%5Those who voted “no” were Walter George and William
Harris of Georgia, J. Thomas Heflin of Alabama, La Fol-
lette of Wisconsin, Peter Norbeck of South Dakota, Norris
of Nebraska, Morris Sheppard of Texas, and Park Tram-
mel of Florida. Of Harding’s four appointments, Butler’s
evoked the most antipathy. However, the other three had
more transparent backgrounds: Taft had been President;
George Sutherland had been a two-term Senator; and Ed-
ward Sanford had been a federal district judge for fifteen
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years. That transparency and the records it revealed made
confirmation for each all but a formality.

%Butler to Taft, December 22, 1922, Reel 248, Taft Pa-
pers.

7 Minneapolis Star, December 22, 1922, pages 1, 10, and
12.
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8 Taft to Elihu Root, December 21, 1922, Reel 248, Taft
Papers.
9 Taft to Harding, December 27, 1922, Reel 236, Harding
Papers.
"0Taft to Harding, January 14, 1923, Reel 236, Harding
Papers.



The Obscenity Bargain:
Ralph Ginzburg for Fanny Hill

L.A. POWE, JR.

The next-to-the-last witness at the July 1968 hearings on the nomination of Abe Fortas to
replace Earl Warren as Chief Justice was James Clancy. Along with another attorney, Charles
Keating, who would later gain infamy in the savings and loan scandal of the 1980s, Clancy
appeared on behalf of Citizens for Decent Literature, an anti-smut organization that had filed
amicus briefs supporting censorship “as essential to the development of good family living”!
in the Supreme Court’s important obscenity decisions.? Clancy asserted that everyone should
see the materials Fortas had held were entitled to First Amendment protection, and so he had
assembled a thirty-minute compilation of them for the Judiciary Committee’s viewing.

Fortas had voted to reverse fifty-two ob-
scenity cases in the previous two years, and
Clancy made much of the fact. But so had
Hugo L. Black, William O. Douglas, and
Potter Stewart, joined the previous year by
Thurgood Marshall. Indeed, these four Jus-
tices always voted that the First Amendment
protected whatever materials were before the
Court. Before Marshall joined the Court, the
fifth vote to reverse an obscenity conviction
was as likely to come from William J. Brennan
as it was from Fortas. Furthermore, all the key
opinions—Roth,} Jacobellis,* Ginzburg,® and
Memoirs®—were written by Brennan. Indeed,
his was the law of obscenity.’

Clancy did not know it, but in a deeper
sense he was correct about how important

Fortas’s influence was. Although Fortas was
only one of two Justices who did not write in
the 1965 Term cases,® from inside the Court,
Fortas dictated the results in Ginzburg and
Memoirs.

Everyone knows that Justices bargain over
the wording of opinions. We know there is
strategic voting on whether to hear cases.” We
also know that they bargain over outcomes—
for example, Douglas telling Stewart he would
join Stewart’s draft opinion in Swann v
Charlotte-Mechlenburg Board of Education,'®
the first busing case, if Stewart would switch
the result from affirm to reverse.!! The story
that follows is about a different type of a pact—
different because it explicitly, albeit clan-
destinely, denies equal justice under law—a
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Charles Keating (left) partnered James Clancy who testified on behalf of their anti-smut group—Citizens for
Decent Literature—at Abe Fortas's confirmation hearings to be Chief Justice in 1968. They showed the Jud-
iciary Committee materials from fifty-two obscenity cases in which Fortas (right), as Associate Justice, had
ruled that the works were protected by the First Amendment. Keating was later convicted of swindling small

investors in the savings and loan debacle of the 1980s.

bargain whereby a Justice changed his vote
in one case in exchange for another Justice
changing his vote in a separate case.'? Specifi-
cally, Fortas proposed and Brennan, with War-
ren’s tacit consent, agreed to swap votes in
two obscenity cases. As a result, Fanny Hill
(as Memoirs is typically called) and its rep-
utable publisher, G.P. Putnam’s Sons, escaped
the censor’s ban, while a human being, Ralph
Ginzburg, was sent to jail without even a fig
leaf of due process from the highest Court in
the land.

Memoirs

John Cleland penned Memoirs of a Woman
of Pleasure while in debtors’ prison in mid-
eighteenth-century England. It was published
after he was released, and publication found
him back in court again where he renounced
Fanny Hill as “a Book I disdain to defend, and
wish, from my Soul, buried and forgot.”"?

Fanny Hill was neither buried nor for-
got. Instead, it had a “wide” but “clandestine”
circulation, culminating in the open publica-
tion at issue in Memoirs.'* It is, by all ac-
counts, a very well-written book that lacks a
plot—in essence, a “literary stag film.”' It is
inconceivable that anyone would read the book
for its supposed “elegance and energy,” “un-
doubted historic value,” and “definite literary
appeal.”'® As the New York Herald Tribune
book critic noted, one could have a long career
“searching for anyone who read the book for
any of the above noted reasons.”'” The pub-
lisher, however, was able to find professors
at Harvard, MIT, Williams, Boston University,
and Brandeis who testified to the literary merit
of the work and its historic value.'® The Mas-
sachusetts Supreme Judicial Court did not find
otherwise, but it held the book obscene any-
way. '

That decision came at the end of April
1965. Earlier that month, the U.S. Supreme
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Court, against the wishes of Solicitor Gen-
eral Archibald Cox, had granted certiorari in
Ginzburg as well as in Mishkin v. New York,*
a case involving what was then termed de-
viant sex.?' Lawyers for both G. P. Putnam and
the Commonwealth wanted a Supreme Court
decision unencumbered by prior decisions in
Ginzburg and Mishkin, albeit for different rea-
sons. They agreed to rush a jurisdictional state-
ment to the Court. When it was noted,?? the
three cases were argued together.

Based on the cases that had ruled D. H.
Lawrence’s Lady Chatterly’s Lover,”* Henry
Miller’s Tropic of Cancer,’* and the Louis
Malle film Les Amants®® to be not obscene, it
was reasonably clear that literature or art that
had serious value was protected by the First
Amendment.?® However, this was of no help
to Fanny Hill. The novel could create a seri-
ous erection, as the Commonwealth prosecutor
had acknowledged,?” but it was not serious lit-
erature. Furthermore, it was far more titillating
than anything involved in Ginzburg or Mishkin
or any of the prior cases. At Conference, War-
ren, Tom Clark, Brennan, and Byron White
found Fanny Hill, as well as the materials in
Ginzburg and Mishkin, obscene.?® Based on
his position in Roth, Harlan agreed on the two
state cases but wanted to reverse Ginzburg.?’
Fortas voted to affirm the findings of obscen-
ity in Fanny Hill and Mishkin. In Ginzburg, he
stated that if he exercised an independent judg-
ment, he would reverse the conviction, but if
the Court would reverse only if the lower court
were clearly wrong, then he would reverse on
Housewife’s Handbook but could affirm the
conviction for Eros and the fine for Liaison.>
Fanny Hill and Mishkin were thus 63 votes to
find the materials obscene; Ginzburg was 54,
but whether to affirm or reverse depended on
how Fortas would choose to finally decide.

Warren assigned the opinions to Brennan,
a natural move, since Brennan had dominated
obscenity jurisprudence beginning a decade
earlier with Roth. As is now known, Brennan
reformulated and tightened his Roth test so
that “three elements must coalesce: it must

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

be established that (a) the dominant theme
of the material taken as a whole appeals to
the prurient interest in sex; (b) the material is
patently offensive because it affronts contem-
porary community standards relating to the de-
scription or representation of sexual matters;
and (¢) the material is utterly without redeem-
ing social value.”3! But this was initially writ-
ten into his draft of Ginzburg, affirming that
conviction, before he even started his Memoirs
opinion.*2

At this point, although it appeared five
Justices would sign on, other Justices withheld
joining the opinion until Brennan produced an
opinion affirming, or at least not reversing,
the Massachusetts court in Fanny Hill.>* For-
tas intervened: conceding that obscenity was a
“cess-pool problem,” he nevertheless thought
that the “nation was about to turn to another
wave of ‘book burning.””3* He also “tacitly
conditioned” agreement in Ginzburg to Bren-
nan switching his vote to a reversal in Mem-
oirs.>> Brennan did so, and he brought War-
ren>¢ along as well,?” flipping what had been
a 6-3 affirmance of the Memoirs finding of
obscenity into the 6-3 final product that pro-
tected Fanny Hill because even the court be-
low had acknowledged that the book possessed
“a modicum of social value.”®

Ginzburg
Ralph Ginzburg understood mail-order mar-
keting. By age twenty-three, he was the cir-
culation director at Look magazine. Before he
was thirty, he had sold over 150,000 copies
of his self-published An Unhurried View of
Erotica via direct mail. With the dawn of John
Kennedy’s New Frontier, Ginzburg sent out
millions of solicitations promoting a new mag-
azine, Eros, as “a new quarterly on the joys
of love.”* He announced that “Eros is the re-
sult of recent court decisions that have realisti-
cally interpreted America’s obscenity law that
have given this country a new breath of free-
dom of expression.”*® This hardcover “mag-
azine of sexual candor” would be available
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annually for $19.50 or $10 an issue (a huge
price, showing Eros was intended for the cof-
fee table).*! Ginzburg also offered a biweekly
newsletter, Liaison, basically a digest of ar-
ticles about sex with some off-color jokes,
and a short book, The Housewife’s Hand-
book on Selective Promiscuity, each avail-
able for $4.95. Both local and federal pros-
ecutors received complaints from recipients
of Ginzburg’s mailing. During the summer of
1962, the post office often received 900 com-
plaints about Ginzburg daily,*?

The first issue of Eros appeared in early
1962, opening with classical paintings of
nudes and following with an article by Nat
Hentoff on jazz. Time panned the enterprise,
asserting that “Eros is a four-letter word
spelled ‘bore.””* The next issues “were more
erotic and increasingly perverse.”** At the
Justice Department, Attorney General Robert
Kennedy was offended by the magazine and
wanted to prosecute, but he held off, accord-
ing to then head of the Criminal Division
Nicholas Katzenbach, because it would “hurt
politically” by solidifying Kennedy’s image as
a puritanical Catholic.*’

The winter issue of Eros, the fourth and
last published (with circulation having reached
150,000), caused Kennedy to authorize pros-
ecution. Like other issues, No. 4 consisted
mostly of the printed word, here including a
full-page letter from Allen Ginsberg and a
number of articles, including one on Warren
Harding’s mistress, “The Sexual Side of Anti-
Semitism,” and “My Life and Loves” by Frank
Harris. What was different were eight pages
of color photos entitled “Black and White in
Color.”* They showed a muscular black man
and a white woman, both naked, in various
embraces, including one showing them from
the hips to the neck with their arms tightly
wrapped around each other. None of the pho-
tos showed genitalia or suggested simulated
sex, although a federal judge, who was either
too old or too offended to see what was on
the pages, absurdly stated that they “consti-

tute[] a detailed portrayal of the act of sexual
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intercourse between a completely nude male
and female, leaving nothing to the imagina-
tion.”*” Dwight MacDonald, a literary critic
who did movie reviews on The Today Show in
the 1960s, stated that “from an artistic point
of view [ thought it was very good. In fact, I
thought it was done with great taste.”® The
Chair of the Fine Arts Department of New
York University stated he could “not imagine
the theme being treated in a more lyrical and
delicate manner.”*’

In authorizing the prosecution, Kennedy
had the support of Katzenbach and Solicitor
General Cox. Katzenbach believed Ginzburg
would keep goading them until he was prose-
cuted, so why wait. The green light was given
to the United States Attorney in racially po-
larized Philadelphia, where Congresswoman
Kathryn Ganahan, the Chair of the Post Of-
fice Operations Subcommittee, had demanded
prosecution of Ginzburg and claimed obscen-
ity was “part of an international communist
plot.”>® The United States Attorney obtained
a grand jury indictment, not only for Eros but
also for Liaison and the Housewife’s Hand-
book as well. A month later a New York
County grand jury, sitting where Ginzburg
resided, declined to find Eros obscene.

Ginzburg, who feared the attitudes of
Philadelphians, waived a jury trial, but to
no avail. The government quickly proved the
items had been mailed from Middlesex, New
Jersey and that Ginzburg had attempted to get
mailing privileges from postmasters at Blue
Ball and Intercourse, Pennsylvania. It rested
its case after 87 minutes.>!

The defense put on experts as well as ma-
terials dealing with sex that had been pur-
chased near the courthouse during a lunch
break. The trial judge, Ralph Body, asked his
own questions of the witnesses. It became
clear he was uneasy about discussions of sex
and was particularly disturbed by Housewife’s
Handbook, which, like Fanny Hill, candidly
discussed many sexual escapades. With one
witness, Body closed with an angry question
of whether his prior questions had changed
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the expert’s opinion and received the obvious
“No, your honor.”>? Body had the last word,
however: “Any testimony [on redeeming so-
cial value] is expressly disbelieved by this
Court.”3 Body asked a couple of the witnesses
about what effects reading the book would
have on teenagers>* and he worried about a
“sense of shame...a neurotic condition” in
readers.>

Given his questioning, it was no surprise
that Body held all that three items were ob-
scene and convicted Ginzburg on all twenty-
eight counts in the indictment. The sentence
was steep: five years in jail, three for House-
wife’s Handbook and two for Eros, and a
$28,000 fine for Liaison.>® As Body explained,
“after a thorough reading and review of all the
indicted materials . . . they are devoid of theme
or ideas. Throughout the pages of each can
be found constant repetition of patently offen-
sive words used solely to convey debasing por-
trayals of natural and unnatural experiences.
Each in its own way is a blow to sense, not
merely sensibility. They are all dirt for dirt’s
sake and dirt for money’s sake.”’ A year later
the Third Circuit easily affirmed, in an opin-
ion written by a judge born in 1893, alluding to
“the shoddy business of pandering to and ex-
ploiting for money one of the great weaknesses
of human beings” and concluding that the law
of obscenity was unchanged from Roth.*8

Convicted for materials that did not seem
to be out of the pornographic mainstream
now that Les Amants and Tropic of Cancer
had been held to be protected®® and given
a sentence that screamed injustice, Ginzburg
petitioned for certiorari. He was aided by
three amicus briefs, one from the American
Civil Liberties Union, a second from Authors
League of America, and a third from 111 well-
known leaders in the arts and literature, a group
including Arthur Miller, William Styron, and
Robert Penn Warren. Over the opposition of
the government, certiorari was granted in April
1965.6°

In the Solicitor General’s office, Ralph
Spritzer, the first deputy, turned the case over
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to former Frankfurter clerk Paul Bender, who
was on leave from teaching at the University
of Pennsylvania Law School. After looking the
case over, Bender concluded that the convic-
tion was “ridiculous. We’ve got to confess er-
ror.”®! This was not possible: the time to con-
fess error was before the grant of certiorari,
and in any event the involvement of Kennedy,
Katzenbach, and Cox in initiating the prosecu-
tion would have precluded such a course.

Over the summer, two resignations oc-
curred in Washington that would matter to
Ginzburg. First, Cox, believing that it was
the right thing to do following Lyndon John-
son’s election, submitted a letter of resigna-
tion that he hoped would not be accepted.®?
It was, and Johnson replaced him with Thur-
good Marshall. Second, Johnson maneuvered
Arthur Goldberg, who had cast one of the four
votes to grant cert in Ginzburg, off the Court
for the United Nations (and other future bene-
fits) and replaced him with Fortas.®*

Spritzer agreed with Bender, as did Mar-
shall, that Ginzburg cried out for reversal, and
he told Bender that just because the govern-
ment could not confess error, it “doesn’t mean
we have to win.”* Bender rejected a draft
brief from the Criminal Division and instead
wrote his own, with the goals of being honest
and still remaining on the government side.
His solution was to emphasize and reempha-
size the importance of the Justices looking
at the materials in the case. If they did, then
they would know Eros, Liaison, and House-
wife’s Handbook were not obscene. At oral
argument, Warren asked Bender whether “we
really need to read these things?” to which
Bender answered “yes.”® Ginzburg attended
oral argument and said to the person next to
him, “You know, I don’t think that guy re-
ally wants to win this case.”®® That guy was
Bender.

As noted above, Fortas wanted to convict
Ginzburg in order to get Fanny Hill’s publisher
off. Meanwhile, Warren had a thought about
how Ginzburg’s conviction might be affirmed.
Warren, who never viewed the materials in
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obscenity cases, talked to Fortas about a pan-
dering approach, which had neither been raised
in Bender’s brief nor discussed at Conference.
In so doing Warren was harkening back to
his own concurring opinion in Roth. For War-
ren, crimes of vice, as opposed to robbery or
assault, were about evil people intentionally
making bad choices.” Thus, in Roth Warren
had asserted that “[i]t is not a book that is on
trial; it is a person [who was] plainly engaged
in the commercial exploitation of the morbid
and shameful craving for materials with pruri-
ent interest.”%8

Fortas and Brennan seized this opportu-
nity to placate Warren. When they were fin-
ished, Ginzburg had changed focus once again.
At the Justice Department it was about Eros;
at trial it was about Housewife’s Handbook;
now it was about how Ginzburg hawked his
wares.

When Brennan adopted the pandering ap-
proach, he freed himself from claiming that
Eros, Liaison, and Housewife’s Handbook
were utterly without redeeming value—a use-
ful point, since there was evidence that each
(and especially Housewife’s Handbook) had
value; indeed, the government conceded as
much. Able to finesse the issue because of
the focus on pandering, Brennan asserted

171

Ralph Ginzburg—the
publisher of an erotic art
magazine named Eros,
a biweekly newsletter
entitled Liaison, and The
Housewife’s Handbook
on Selective Promiscu-
ity—appealed his case
to the Supreme Court
in 1965 after he was
convicted on charges of
obscenity and sentenced
to five years in jail.

that in close cases, even nonobscene mate-
rials can support an obscenity conviction.®’
Actually, what he asserted was that in close
cases evidence about the way the materials
were marketed could be allowed to influence
the decision on obscenity. Thus, he focused
on Ginzburg’s efforts in distributing the ma-
terials. This came in two parts: Ginzburg’s
search for a post office and his promotional
materials.

Ginzburg had sought mailing privileges
from the postmasters of both Blue Ball and In-
tercourse, Pennsylvania. When they declined
because the anticipated volume was more than
they could handle, he settled for Middlesex,
New Jersey. Brennan agreed with the trial
judge that these “hamlets were chosen only for
the value their names would have in furthering
petitioners’ efforts to sell their publication on
the basis of salacious appeal.””

The most memorable line from Brennan’s
majority opinion is that the “‘leer of the sen-
sualist’ also permeates the advertising for the
three publications.””' Advertising stressed the
sexual candor of the materials and “openly
boasted that the publishers would take full
advantage of what they regarded as an unre-
stricted license allowed by law in the expres-
sion of sex and sexual matters.””> Housewife’s
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Handbook came with an unconditional
money-back guarantee “if the book fails to
reach you because of U.S. Post Office censor-
ship interference.””® It was this evidence that
“serve[d] to resolve all ambiguity and doubt™
over whether the materials were obscene.”
In essence, Brennan held that Ginzburg was
estopped from denying the materials crossed
the line. “Where the purveyor’s sole empha-
sis is on the sexually provocative aspects of
his publications, that fact may be decisive
in determining obscenity.”” “Justice Fortas
quickly responded favorably to the opinion.””®
He waited to formally join, however, until
Brennan circulated Memoirs.

As dissents by Black. Douglas, Harlan,
and Stewart pointed out, there were sev-
eral major problems with Ginzburg. First,
Ginzburg was not a close case; Fanny Hill
may have been, but it was protected as a result
of the agreement between Brennan and For-
tas. Second, Brennan had rewritten the Com-
stock Act. It is one thing to do that in a civil
case, quite another in a criminal case. There-
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Former Frankfurter clerk Paul Bender ar-
gued on behalf of the government in
Ginzburg but was hoping to lose the case.
His strategy was to ask the Justices to read
the materials and see for themselves that
they were not obscene.

fore, third, Ginzburg had been convicted at
the Court of a crime with which he had never
been charged, much less for which he had been
tried and convicted. He had no opportunity to
rebut the new charges against him. As one of
Warren’s clerks wrote the Chief Justice (to no
avail): “Speaking frankly, sir, my own feel-
ing is that Ginzburg did get cheated out of
a chance to explain. If a southern court did
this to a Negro in a criminal case, I have no
doubt the Court would jump in and with good
reason.””’

To borrow from Warren in Roth, Ginzburg
lost because he was as unattractive a First
Amendment claimant as possible. In Bender’s
words, Ginzburg “looked like a smut ped-
dler.””® But then again, other First Amendment
claimants were also unattractive: consider the
racist Father Terminiello’ and the leaders of
the Communist party, who would have gladly
liquidated the capitalist class if they could.®”
There was just something special about sex, as
the district judge, the Third Circuit, and now
five Justices on the Court were proving.
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The Aftermath

The cases came down on March 21, 1966, three
and a half months after argument. Bender was
in the Court that day. As Brennan announced
that he would deliver the opinion in No. 42
(Ginzburg), Bender told Nat Lewin, who was
sitting next to him, that he was four for four,
“but it was about to be four for five.”8! Accord-
ing to Fred Graham, the New York Times Court
reporter, Brennan was “red faced and emotion-
ally wrought” when he delivered the opinion;
another description was that he had “an air of
churlishness” that surprised observers.%? Ben-
der, now five for five, was stunned and dis-
traught at his victory and sat through Brennan’s
delivery with his head buried in his hands.%?

During Brennan’s announcement, Warren
handed him a note: “Because of the quizzical
expression on the faces of some of the Solic-
itor General’s staff I wonder how happy they
are with Ginzburg, because you know it will
cast quite a work burden on that office and
on the US Attorneys.”® Meeting with some
law clerks later, Marshall quipped that he had
found a sure way to win any case: “Just send
Bender up with instructions to lose.” Unlike
Warren, Brennan understood Bender’s posi-
tion. Bender recalled that every time he came
across the Justice, Brennan would say: “Oh,
I want you to meet Paul Bender. This is the
greatest lawyer I've ever met. He can’t even
lose a case when he wants to.”%® I asked Ben-
der if he thought there was any way the gov-
ernment could have lost the case. Eventually,
he said, “If the prosecutor at trial had argued
his own case.” He felt the man was so atavis-
tic that his argument might have offended a
majority.®

Several weeks later, Fortas sent a note to
Douglas (“alone”) acknowledging that he had
been wrong in Ginzburg. “1 was alarmed by
Brennan’s vote at Conference to affirm the ban
on Fanny Hill. So contrary to my principles, I
went to work, suggested the ‘pandering’ for-
mula to Bill (which I think is as good as any for
this cess-pool problem) and came out against
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The same day it announced the Ginzburg decision,
the Court held, in Memoirs of a Woman of Pleasure
v. Massachusetts, that the First Amendment would
not allow a work to be banned unless it was “utterly
without redeeming social value.” Written by John Cle-
land while he was serving time in a mid-nineteenth-
century debtor’s prison in England, the book, like the
decision regarding it, is more commonly referred to
as Fanny Hill, after the memoir’s fictitious author.

Ginzburg.—I guess that subconsciously I was
affected by G’s slimy qualities—but if I had it
to do over again, I'd vote to reverse at least as
to all except his publication of ‘Liaison.” Well,
live and learn.”® If Goldberg had stayed on
the Court, there would have been no cause for
Fortas’s mea culpa and Ginzburg would have
been set free.

Two weeks later Ginzburg’s petition for re-
hearing was denied.® Fortas had made a deal,
and he kept up his end of the bargain, just
as Cox had when Ginzburg filed for certio-
rari. Ginzburg managed to stay out of jail for
several years and ultimately only served eight
months.*"
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Warren was not alone in thinking
Ginzburg was about to open a whole new era
of obscenity prosecutions. A New York Times
article three days after the decision stated that
“[1]egal experts agreed that the novel concept
announced . . . was likely to result in massive
prosecutions around the country.”®' But War-
ren’s hope for seeing prosecutors bring pan-
dering charges never materialized. Fanny Hill
and then Redrup® a year later brought le-
gal results into conformity with the chang-
ing sexual mores of the 1960s.%* Ironically,
George Wallace summed it up best: there
ceased to be a constitutional distinction be-
tween “smut and great literature.”®* Without
writing a word, that was Fortas’s contribution
to the law of obscenity—that and assisting
Brennan in perpetrating a great injustice and
denying Ralph Ginzburg what every other lit-
igant is promised: equal justice under law.
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The Judicial Bookshelf

DONALD GRIER STEPHENSON, JR.

“The good that Presidents do is often interred with their Administrations. It is their choice of
Supreme Court Justices that lives after them.”! This was the assessment offered by one leading
opinion journal more than seven decades ago, after President Franklin D. Roosevelt nominated
Professor Felix Frankfurter to the Supreme Court to fill the opening occasioned by the death
of Justice Benjamin N. Cardozo. Because vacancies on the Court not only are infrequent but
also occur at irregular intervals, the comment illustrates the reality that selection of Justices is
among the most important and consequential responsibilities that fall to any chief executive.

This truth was amply demonstrated fol-
lowing Justice David H. Souter’s announce-
ment on May 1, 2009 of his intention to retire.
This news was followed on June 1 by Pres-
ident Barrack Obama’s nomination of Judge
Sonia Sotomayor of the United States Court
of Appeals for the Second Circuit to fill Jus-
tice Souter’s seat. Like Samuel A. Alito, Jr.,
the Court’s then most junior Justice, she was a
graduate of Princeton University and Yale Law
School and had experience both as a prosecu-
tor’ and as a judge on a federal court of ap-
peals. Unlike Alito, she had served as a federal
trial judge and had experience in private prac-
tice, but she lacked his other executive-branch
experience in the offices of the Solicitor Gen-
eral and the Attorney General of the United
States.

She was also the first Latina to be named
to the High Court and the first nominee by a

Democratic President in fifteen years. More-
over, she possessed a compelling life story that
had begun in a housing project in the South
Bronx of New York City in the home of Puerto
Rican-born parents. A positive 13—6 vote in
the Senate Committee on the Judiciary on July
28 preceded a favorable confirmation vote of
68-31 by the full Senate on August 6. The neg-
ative votes, however, totaled more than any
Democratic nominee had received since the
Senate rejected President Grover Cleveland’s
nomination of Wheeler Peckham in 1894.2
Chief Justice John G. Roberts, Jr. swore in
the 111" Justice on August 8.

Justice Sotomayor’s appointment demon-
strated a basic truth about American politics.
Although the separate institutions mandated
by the Constitution make possible the Court’s
considerable independence from outside po-
litical pressure, three factors thrust the Court
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into the partisan life of the nation: the role
of interpretation the Constitution allows for
the Justices, the significance of the decisions
the Justices render, and the method of se-
lection of Justices that the Constitution pre-
scribes. Little wonder the appointment of Jus-
tices is of paramount concern to Presidents,
Senators, and citizens alike. Indeed, for some
observers, Justice Sotomayor’s arrival called
to mind a comment offered by then Senator
Joseph Biden following the confirmation of
Justice Sandra Day O’Connor in September
1981: “There is a huge amount of whistling
in the graveyard about what kind of Justice
[she] will be. ... I believe we should caution
the electorate that even if they want us to apply
a litmus test . . . it is not something we do very
well; because once a Justice dons that robe
and walks into that sanctum across the way,
we have no control, and that is how it should
be.... They are a separate, independent, and
equal branch of Government, and all bets are
off.”* This political dimension of the Court’s
work is generously illustrated by recent books
about the Third Branch.

Appropriately, two of these monographs
treat judicial selection itself and thus join an
expanding list of complementary titles.’ Aus-
piciously appearing in print between the ar-
rivals of Justices Alito and Sotomayor was
The Next Justice by Christopher L. Eisgru-
ber, who is Provost and a professor of pub-
lic affairs in the Woodrow Wilson School at
Princeton University. His volume is a sensible,
illuminating, and sometimes insightful look at
the confirmation process for Supreme Court
nominees.” For a subject that can appear com-
plex and often be emotionally charged, the
author has provided an account that is emi-
nently readable and informative, one that is en-
tirely manageable and digestible in an evening.
Eisgruber thus succeeds on two fronts: he
offers something serviceable to the expert
and novice alike. This compact volume un-
folds in three parts. The first offers perspec-
tive, the second description, and the third
prescription.
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For the author, any wide-angle view of
Supreme Court appointments captures a strik-
ing contrast. In the seventy-four years be-
tween 1894 and 1968—that is, from the second
Cleveland presidency deep into Lyndon John-
son’s presidency—the Senate rejected only a
single nomination to the High Court: Hoover’s
choice of Judge John J. Parker to succeed Jus-
tice Edward T. Sanford in 1930. Yet the slightly
more than four decades since Chief Justice
Earl Warren retired in 1969 have witnessed
seven failed nominations, either because of re-
jection by the Senate or because of their with-
drawal by the President.®

The demise of what had been a general
era of good feelings over the business of judi-
cial selection occurred because of three factors
that distinguish the more recent nominations
from earlier ones. First, the Court itself has
become “politically prominent and controver-
sial.”® It is hardly coincidental that confirma-
tion battles became more frequent at or soon
after the end of the Warren Court. Warren’s
tenure had been one of the most active and re-
markable in American history. By one count, in
the approximately 150 years before Warren’s
appointment, the Court overruled eighty-eight
of its precedents. In Warren’s sixteen years, it
added another forty-five to that list. Hardly an
aspect of life went untouched by landmark de-
cisions on race discrimination, legislative ap-
portionment, privacy, and the Bill of Rights.
Under Warren, the Court initiated a revolution
that is measured by President Dwight Eisen-
hower’s latter-day lament over Warren’s ap-
pointment: “the biggest damn fool mistake 1
ever made.”'? “Only during the Marshall era
did the Supreme Court produce so many sig-
nificant decisions.”!!

Second—and  hardly  surprisingly—
Presidents and presidential candidates who
found some of those decisions objectionable
as a matter of law and policy have sought or
promised “nominees who would advance their
ideological perspectives while on the Court.”
Senators who have “battled fiercely about
whether to confirm those nominees”'? now
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Christopher Eisgruber's new book examines the con-
firmation process for Supreme Court nominees.

comprise the third factor. It requires little skill
at reading crystal balls to predict that none of
these conditions capable of generating great
nominational tumult seems likely to diminish
soon. Heightened congressional partisanship
will surely only add to their longevity. Thus,
Eisgruber’s analysis is especially timely.
Because of the changes that the Court can
bring to every American, the selection of
Supreme Court Justices is a serious matter that
requires close attention to the confirmation
process, a requirement that itself demands an
accurate grasp on the part of both Senators
and the public of who a nominee truly is and a
clear understanding of what it is that Justices
actually do.

Eisgruber believes that truly knowing the
nominee has been particularly difficult since
1987. In that year, President Ronald Rea-
gan nominated Judge Robert H. Bork, of the
District of Columbia Court of Appeals, to
fill the seat vacated by Justice Lewis Pow-
ell. For several years, Powell’s votes since his
arrival in late 1971 had made him a pivotal
member of the Court, especially in abortion,
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privacy, church-state, and affirmative-action
cases. With Powell’s departure, Reagan had a
chance to advance judicially his social agenda,
much of which had been rebuffed by Congress.
Of particular concern to some was a woman’s
right to terminate her pregnancy—the “right
to choose.” What had been a firm 7-2 major-
ity for that right in Roe v. Wade'? now seemed
literally to hang in the balance. The views of
Powell’s replacement would be critical for the
future of this application of the constitution-
ally protected right of privacy.

The President’s choice to replace Powell
was Judge Bork. Not since Felix Frankfurter’s
appointment in 1939 had the Senate consid-
ered a Supreme Court nominee with a resume
so rich with articles and published speeches.
Of particular interest along this paper trail was
a 1971 article in the Indiana Law Journal'
that, among other things, called into question
the constitutional underpinnings of Griswold
v. Connecticut,” the landmark 1965 ruling on
a right of privacy and birth control. If Gris-
wold rested on dubious ground, so did Roe v.
Wade. For those who wanted to know Bork’s
thinking, the nominee was more than accom-
modating, as he discussed his views at great
length. The Senate Judiciary Committee held
what became twelve record-setting days of
hearings on the nomination, with Bork testi-
fying and being questioned on five of those
days. Not since Woodrow Wilson nominated
Louis Brandeis in 1916 had a confirmation
battle become so vitriolic. Finally, finding his
views too extreme, Bork’s Senate opponents
prevailed, 58-42—a larger negative vote than
either Clement Haynsworth or Harrold Car-
swell, the two rejected nominees of President
Richard Nixon, had endured. The phrases “to
Bork™ or “to be Borked™ consequently entered
the American political lexicon.

The effects of the Bork confirmation
struggle have been long-lasting, and, in the
author’s view, not altogether salutary. More re-
cent nominees have prudently “been less can-
did. They have played it safe, refusing to say
anything meaningful about their view of the
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Constitution or the Court’s role. In the post-
Bork era, the hearings have become, in the
words of Senator Arlen Specter, ‘a subtle min-
uet, with the nominee answering as many ques-
tions as he thinks necessary in order to be
confirmed.””!® Accepting this rhythmic per-
formance analogy, Eisgruber sees the dance
as both “formal and highly choreographed,
with the nominee knowing just how to match
each move the senators make.”'” In short, suc-
cessful nominees today must master the art
of speaking competently throughout, yet with-
out revealing anything of substance about their
constitutional philosophy.

With this perspective on recent history in
place, the author offers a description of the
job of appellate judging, particularly as illus-
trated by the mainly constitutional jurispru-
dence espoused or practiced by Justices as
varied as Hugo Black, O’Connor, and Antonin
Scalia. This analysis reveals that members of
the Court typically draw upon two kinds of
values, “ideological” and “procedural.” The
former include “political and moral values of
the sort that distinguish liberals from conser-
vatives. Many of these values will describe
what sorts of inequalities are justifiable in a
free society.” Procedural values “pertain to the
jurisdiction, responsibility, or operation of in-
stitutions, including courts.”'® Indeed, as a for-
mer clerk to Judge Patrick E. Higginbotham of
the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit and
Justice John Paul Stevens, the author has seen
these values at work firsthand. Moreover, be-
cause nominees will differ as to which values
are appropriate or desirable, choosing a “good
justice means, among other things, choos-
ing someone who will invoke an attractive
combination of ideological and procedural val-
ues when interpreting the Constitution.”!® Be-
cause of the importance of values, any attempt
by Senators to assess a nominee “through non-
political criteria is a dead end.” Thus, it is
pointless, Eisgruber believes, to extract from
a nominee assurance that she or he will adhere
to principles of judicial restraint or follow the
intention of the Framers of the Constitution.
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Those are “tantalizing but bogus concepts”?’

that reveal little about a prospective Justice’s
real jurisprudential thinking. And it is a nom-
inee’s judicial values that should matter.

In the author’s view, the contemporary
confirmation process for High Court nominees
has been unsatisfactory, not because of “newly
partisan behavior by the Senate,” but because
of “newly aggressive nomination practices by
recent presidents.”?! Accordingly, he proposes
a two-part cure. The first entails building a
consensus on the goal of Senate hearings. The
aim of the Senate and the attentive public that
follows the Senate’s work “should be to under-
stand what a nominee thinks judicial review
is good for, and to evaluate whether that ju-
dicial philosophy is an acceptable one.” The
second sets a standard for Senators’ behav-
ior and expectations. “The Senate ought not
to regard the confirmation hearings either as
the principal means for exploring a nominee’s
Judicial philosophy or as a test that, if passed,
entitles the nominee to confirmation. The Sen-
ate should evaluate nominees on the basis of
their record and reputation, just as presidents
do. If the nominee’s record suggests to sena-
tors that his or her views about the purpose
of judicial review are rigid or extreme rather
than moderate, they have no obligation to de-
fer to the president’s choice.”?? Rather, they
and the public “should be willing to demand
that the nominee present evidence of his or
her moderation. If the nominee refuses to do
so, senators can legitimately reject the nomi-
nation.”?* For Eisgruber, apparently, modera-
tion should be the new litmus test. Given the
power over public policy that the Court wields,
that “kind of transparency is essential to con-
stitutional democracy.”?* Yet the link between
judicial review and constitutional democracy
is also tenuous because of what has some-
times been called the “countermajoritarian”
difficulty or dilemma: the apparent contradic-
tion presented when unelected judges use the
power of judicial review to nullify the actions
of elected legislators or executives.?> Eisgru-
ber’s objective seems to be to make sure that
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Senators and the public truly grasp the thinking
of those who will be able to negate the pop-
ular will in a political system founded on the
principle of government by the consent of the
governed.

While The Next Justice sets goals for
Senators and the general public in assess-
ing Supreme Court nominees, Advice and
Dissent,® by George Washington University
political scientists Sarah A. Binder and For-
rest Maltzman, provides a close and unusually
valuable look at the politics of confirmation of
judges appointed to the United States district
courts and the courts of appeals in the eleven
numbered federal circuits.?” Viewed together,
these benches today include a large number
of judges: current law authorizes 168 judges
for the federal appeals courts and 678 for the
district courts.

For several reasons, this emphasis on
staffing the lower-level federal tribunals
should be of special interest to students of
the High Court. First, service on one of the
courts of appeals now seems to have become
a de facto requirement for nomination to the
Supreme Bench. Thus, to understand the poli-
tics of appointment to the lower federal courts,
especially to the appeals bench is to under-
stand part of the recruitment process for High
Court designees. Indeed, beginning with Jus-
tice O’Connor’s retirement and the arrival of
Justice Alito, the Supreme Court, for the first
time since creation of the courts of appeals
in 1891, has been staffed exclusively by Jus-
tices who were nominated directly from one of
those courts, a pattern that has persisted with
the appointment of Justice Sotomayor. While
some Justices sitting in earlier decades had
appeals-court experience, of course, nominees
often came from much more varied back-
grounds. Consider, for example, the Supreme
Court of 1963. While two Justices (John M.
Harlan and Potter Stewart) were named di-
rectly from an appeals court, one (William J.
Brennan, Jr.,) came from a state supreme court,
one (Black) was nominated while sitting as a
United States Senator, another (Warren) while
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serving as Governor of California, and a third
(William O. Douglas) while serving as chair of
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Two
(Tom C. Clark and Arthur J. Goldberg) moved
to the Court directly from heading Cabinet-
level departments (Justice and Labor), and yet
another (Byron R. White) was deputy attor-
ney general when named. In contrast, with the
recent departures of Justices O’Connor and
Souter, no member of the current Court has
any experience on a state bench.

Second, as the authors explain, the “lower
federal courts are the workhorses of the fed-
eral judiciary.”?® This fact manifests itself in
at least two ways. First, while some cases
accepted for review by the Supreme Court
come from the highest court of a state, a
large fraction comes from one of the lower
federal courts, a fact that should not be sur-
prising given the breadth and complexity of
congressional legislation and rules issued by
the various regulatory agencies. Moreover, the
comparatively small number of cases that the
Supreme Court annually decides today (well
under 100 in most recent Terms) means that,
for the overwhelming majority of cases that
originate within the federal judicial system,
one of the lower federal courts is almost al-
ways the court of last resort.

Third, as the literature amply illustrates,
far more attention attaches to Supreme Court
nominations than to nominations to the lower
federal tribunals. This fact has real con-
sequences. “Out of the public spotlight, a
nominee’s detractors have a far easier time
blocking appointments they oppose. Senators
understand the latitude they have to block nom-
inations, and they do so surreptitiously by ex-
ploiting the Senate’s formal rules and informal
practices.”?

Fourth, “indicators of the health of the
nomination and confirmation process suggest
that something has gone astray in the Senate’s
practice of advice and consent.”? Here the au-
thors point to comparative confirmation rates.
They report that about 80 percent of the nomi-
nees to both the Supreme Court and the courts
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of appeals since 1947 have gained Senate ap-
proval. However, if one looks at the period only
since 1992, the approval rate for the Supreme
Court remains about the same, but for the ap-
pellate level it falls to under 60 percent, with a
rate of below 50 percent in some years. More-
over, the authors have found that the confir-
mation rate is not the same across the circuits.
While nominees for some circuits generate
little controversy, about half of those for the
Fourth and Sixth circuits and the District of
Columbia Circuit have failed since 1991. Also
noteworthy, the authors believe, is the fact that
the duration of the process has stretched out.
“From the 1940s to the 1980s, a typical court
of appeals nominee was confirmed within two
months of nomination. By the late 1990s, the
wait for successful nominees had stretched to
about six months.”>! Even those figures ob-
scure instances during the Clinton and George
W. Bush administrations, when nominations
lingered between one and two years. In addi-
tion, Presidents themselves increasingly take
more time to make nominations. At the end
of the 1950s, once a vacancy occurred, about
200 days would typically elapse before a nom-
ination was announced. By the late 1990s, the
wait time had swelled to more than 600 days.
“Despite the low salience of so many nom-
inations to the lower courts, senators clearly
take stock of these nominees and often exploit
the rules of the game to derail the nomina-
tions on their way to confirmation.”3? Cer-
tainly the political reality is that no President
will probably encounter a decline in his job-
approval ratings for failure to submit a prompt
appellate court nomination, whereas a Sena-
tor might well score political points among
certain groups by judicious application of in-
stitutional rules and procedures to sidetrack a
nominee.

The authors note that two different expla-
nations have been floated to account for this
transformation of nominations and confirma-
tions. A “big bang” theory points to a break-
ing point in national politics, after which the
prevailing norms of deference and restraint in
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judicial selection have fallen apart.”33 Some-
thing as politically traumatic as the confirma-
tion fight over Judge Bork could be such an
event. Alternatively, there is the “nothing-new-
under-the-sun” theory that argues “that ideo-
logical conflict over the makeup of the bench
has been an ever-present force in shaping the
selection of judges and justices,” as Presidents
and Senators compete for influence in shap-
ing the judiciary.’* While there is evidence to
support each approach, the authors prefer a
third explanation that is largely institutional.
And herein rests the book’s real contribution:
an examination of the origin and operation of
Senate rules and practices that heavily influ-
ence the outcome of judicial selection today.
Thus, there is an extensive look at the origin
and development of “advice and consent” and
procedural devices, such as the “blue slip” and
the “hold.” These, in turn, have helped to feed
the heightened partisanship of recent years and
have encouraged Senators to deploy these tools
to determine the fate of judicial nominees.
Findings from the data gathered by Binder
and Maltzman are not altogether surprising.
First, nominees to the courts of appeals are
more often the targets of such derailing de-
vices than are nominees to the district courts.
Second, “appellate courts that are evenly bal-
anced between the parties are more often tar-
geted than appellate courts that have already
tipped to one party or the other.” Similarly, the
“placement of new judgeships corresponds to
judicial demand but also to the electoral and
institutional preferences of the legislators who
create them.”*¢ Third, distinctly negative con-
sequences flow from such tactics. Prolonged
vacancies contribute to swelling court dockets
and increased delays for litigants. One won-
ders, too, ifa confirmation process that closely
resembles an obstacle course tends to dis-
courage some potential nominees who, along
with their families, may be reluctant to sub-
ject themselves to it. Moreover, the authors
offer some evidence to suggest that confirma-
tion conflict over judicial nominees even at
levels below the Supreme Court undercuts the
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public’s long-term trust of federal judges and
their decisions—that is, the legitimacy of the
judicial system.

Finally, the authors consider remedial
measures to set the confirmation process on
a better footing. These range from widespread
adoption of commissions at the state level that
would probably encourage the nomination of
more widely acceptable (and therefore prob-
ably centrist) candidates to providing a non-
statutory fast track for nominations, akin to
budget and trade measures in Congress. They
even look at adjusting the numerical threshold
for confirming nominees.?” They conclude by
leaving responsibility where the Constitution
has lodged it since the Founding: in the Senate.
“How well senators are able to repair the par-
tisan breaches of Senate trust will tell us much
as we look ahead about whether the break-
down in consent over lifetime appointments to
the bench will have temporary or lasting and
harmful effects.”®

Like each of his colleagues in early 2010,
Justice Anthony M. Kennedy reached the
Supreme Court after service on one of the fed-
eral courts of appeals. He thus successfully—
and apparently happily—navigated not only
the process described in The Next Justice but
that examined in Advice & Dissent as well.
[ronically, but for the successive misfortunes
of two Reagan nominees to the High Court in
the fall of 1987, Justice Kennedy might well
have never had office space at One First Street,
N.E. After the negative vote on the Bork nom-
ination in the fall of 1987 that was described
above, President Reagan on October 29 se-
lected Douglas H. Ginsburg, one of Bork’s
colleagues on the District of Columbia Circuit.
Senators never got a chance to query Ginsburg,
however. Problems over possible conflicts of
interest and marijuana usage surfaced quickly,
and on November 7 he withdrew his name from
consideration.

For the first time since 1970, a President
would have to make a third nomination to fill
a single vacancy. Time was critical. Reagan
was nearing the start of his last year in office.

The jurisprudence of Justice Anthony Kennedy, who
has served on the Supreme Court since 1988, is the
subject of two new books.

“Lame-duck™ talk abounded. As had happened
with President Johnson’s nomination of Justice
Abe Fortas to the Chief Justiceship in 1968,
the vacancy might carry over to a successor in
1989. On November 10, Reagan averted that
possibility by nominating Kennedy, a long-
time acquaintance who had been sitting on
the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals after leav-
ing private practice.’ Having exhausted them-
selves in the fight over Bork, Senators could
find little wrong this time with Reagan’s nom-
inee. An hour’s debate in the Senate on Febru-
ary 3, 1988 preceded the vote to confirm, 97—
0, allowing Kennedy to be sworn in on Febru-
ary 18 and ending the seven-month standoff
over Justice Powell’s successor.

Now, after more than two decades on the
Supreme Bench, Justice Kennedy is the sub-
ject of two recent books. While books about
sitting Justices are hardly unprecedented, it
is nonetheless noteworthy to have two on the
same Justice that appear within the same year.
The Tie Goes to Freedom* is authored by po-
litical scientist Helen J. Knowles of the State
University of New York, Oswego. Her volume
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is not a biography. Neither does she claim to
offer an analysis of all of Kennedy’s judicial
opinions, although her book draws heavily on
some and on his addresses and other public
statements. (She also mined the papers of Jus-
tices Brennan, Harry A. Blackmun, and Thur-
good Marshall at the Library of Congress.)
Rather, her goal is to present a jurisprudential
“examination of the justice’s understanding of
the content and boundaries of constitutionally
protected liberty, as it pertains to four areas
of the law—freedom of expression, equal pro-
tection of the law, race-based classifications,
and noneconomic individual decisionmaking
and autonomy.”®! Her guiding question is:
“What meaning has Kennedy, whose vote has
been determinative in so many landmark cases,
given to the constitutional ‘Blessings of Lib-
erty’?”*? Indeed, his votes and some of his
opinion-writing opportunities may even sug-
gest that “the Constitution has become ‘What
Anthony Kennedy says it is.””** Knowles’
question and assertion are important in that
the Justice “continues to baffle those who com-
ment on the judicial behavior of the men and
women appointed to sit on America’s highest
court.”* In the years since he took his seat,
“the votes he has cast and the opinions he has
written have consistently frustrated observers’
attempts to affix ideological labels to him. For
the most part, they have had to be content with
describing him as a judicial centrist—an enig-
matic ‘“Man in the middle.”**

While disavowing any claim “to have
found the definitive key to unlocking the mys-
teries that surround many of the justice’s ju-
dicial decisions,” Knowles nonetheless offers
a clue. From her analysis, she believes that
Kennedy’s jurisprudence, while falling “short
of an all-encompassing judicial philosophy,” is
consistent, flows from a “highly principled ju-
rist,” and reflects a “modest libertarianism.”*®
She finds his approach to adjudication, with
values heavily influenced by his upbringing
in northern California, composed of three ele-
ments: (1) toleration of diverse views, (2) pre-
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serving and protecting human dignity, and (3)
personal responsibility.

Of course, it seems paradoxical to align
an expansive application of judicial review, as
one does find in some of Justice Kennedy’s
opinions, with a theoretical tradition (lib-
ertarianism) that typically prescribes a lim-
ited role for government. However, “imag-
ine a libertarianism that uses the authority of
the state’s judges—neutral decisionmakers—
to ensure that government actions (by the
other branches of government) pass far more
stringent tests when they impinge upon lib-
erty. Now imagine this libertarianism takes an
equally dim view of government actions that
demean the individual, negatively affect a per-
son’s dignity, or diminish personal responsibil-
ity.” This, she concludes “would be a modest
libertarianism that is entirely consistent with
the tenets of libertarian thought. This holds
true even if the means to achieving the goal of
greater individual freedom and respect is vig-
orous use of the authority vested in a govern-
ment institution.”* It is this set of components
of the libertarianism Knowles finds reflected
in Kennedy’s opinions that provide the ratio-
nale for the use of judicial power among those
troubled by the majoritarian dilemma or dif-
ficulty, which Knowles calls the “Madisonian
dilemma.”*® As suggested by the three para-
graphs of Justice Stone’s famous Footnote Four
in 1938,% imposing the judicial will on a polit-
ical majority is justified when a text-based vi-
olation of the Constitution has occurred, when
the Court is protecting the majoritarian po-
litical process itself, or when the Court pro-
tects otherwise defenseless “discrete and in-
sular” victims of that process when it has run
amuck.

Justice Kennedy’s Jurisprudence,*® by
political scientist Frank J. Colucci of Pur-
due University’s Calumet campus, explores
much of the same ground as that covered by
Knowles’ book. As did she, he acknowledges
the widespread interest, particularly among
students of the Court, in the positions of the
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104%™ Justice. Colucci reports that, at least as
of the date his book went into final production,
Kennedy has been in the majority more than
any other Justice since he joined the Court.
Indeed, during the October 2006 Term he was
in the majority in all twenty-four cases de-
cided by a 54 vote.*! Moreover, his willing-
ness to use judicial power qualifies him as the
“justice most likely to strike actions of fed-
eral and state government on constitutional
grounds.”? “Such a count, moreover, “actu-
ally understates his attempts to expand judi-
cial power; even in areas where he has upheld
governmental action—including challenges to
districting for partisan advantage and takings
as well as cases involving federalism and polit-
ical representation—his concurring opinions
subject those policies to more searching con-
stitutional review.” Accordingly, because his
theory of liberty allows him to support inter-
vention into areas favored both by liberals and
by conservatives, his view of the judicial role
“puts him at the center of a divided Court.”>?
For some—and here Colucci echoes one of
Knowles’s observations—his influence is so
profound that the current Court should be con-
sidered the Kennedy Court.”>*

From opinions across a range of constitu-
tional topics, Colucci draws a conclusion that
complements Knowles’ study: that Kennedy
“employs a consistent jurisprudence based on
what he considers the ‘full and necessary
meaning’ of liberty even though Kennedy has
been reluctant, as he explained to the Sen-
ate after his nomination to the High Court,
‘to offer myself as someone with a complete
cosmology of the Constitution. I do not have
an over-arching theory, a unitary theory of
interpretation. ... So many of the things we
are discussing here are, for me, in the nature of
exploration and not the enunciation of some
fixed or immutable ideas.””>S Colucci, how-
ever, finds that a theory has by now indeed
emerged, one that reveals itself in an approach
that “shares much with the moral reading of the
Constitution championed by theorist Ronald
Dworkin and former Justice William J. Bren-
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nan as well as the ‘presumption of liberty’ ad-
vocated more recently by libertarian law pro-
fessor Randy Barnett.”>® Moreover, he argues
that the Justice’s particular concepts of liberty
and human dignity “have clear rhetorical roots
in post-Vatican II Catholic social thought.”
The result is a jurisprudence that “seeks to
bring personal liberty to the forefront of consti-
tutional interpretation”’ in a context in which
it is the judicial duty to enforce and imple-
ment that liberty. Indeed, the phrase “full and
necessary meaning” itself (which Colucci ap-
propriates as a subtitle for his book) comes
from Kennedy’s testimony during confirma-
tion hearings before the Senate Judiciary Com-
mittee, where he insisted that “the enforcement
power of the judiciary is to insure that the word
‘liberty’ in the Constitution is given its full
and necessary meaning, consistent with the
purposes of the document as we understand
it.”>8 It is to resolve disputes over the mean-
ing of liberty, he explained to the Committee,
that “we look to the concept of individuality
and liberty and dignity that those who drafted
the Constitution understood.” Indeed, he be-
lieves that Americans today can have a better
understanding of rights than the Framers did.
“[I]t sometimes takes humans generations to
become aware of moral consequences of their
own conduct. This does not mean that moral
principles have not remained the same.”>

Yet it must surely be ironic that, as cen-
tral as liberty is to what both Knowles and
Colucci have gleaned from Kennedy’s opin-
ion and other statements, the Framers of the
Constitution of 1787 used the word but once:
in the Preamble. It fell to the First Congress,
which drafted the Fifth Amendment, and to
the Fortieth Congress, which drafted the Four-
teenth Amendment, to incorporate that word
into those respective additions to the Constitu-
tion. Viewed both textually and conceptually,
“liberty” may be far more central to the Dec-
laration of Independence than to the original
trunk of the Constitution.

Colucci notes that Kennedy’s pivotal po-
sition on the Court has led some observers
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to “group him with Justice O’Connor dur-
ing their shared years on the Court as a cen-
trist or swing justice. However, “his rhetoric
and approach differ fundamentally from hers.
O’Connor engaged in strategic accommoda-
tion, wrote quasi-legislative, narrow, intensely
fact-specific opinions, and acted as a minimal-
ist who disclaimed any ‘Grand Unified The-
ory’ of constitutional interpretation. In con-
trast, Kennedy’s opinions express a coherent
moral vision about the nature of personal lib-
erty and justify expanding judicial power to
enforce that vision.”®?

As Colucci’s about Justice
O’Connor illustrates, his book hardly ignores
those with whom Kennedy has shared the
Bench. As one finds in The Tie Goes to
Freedom,®' Colucci has also included rich ex-
amples of the interactions among the Justices
in several high-profile cases. For example,
Appendix A reprints a short but poignant
“Dear Harry” letter from “Tony” dated June
21, 1990 that expresses “deep resentment”6?
over words in Blackmun’s opinion in Ohio v.
Akron Center for Reproductive Health.®

Another example of an intra-Court ex-
change involves Lee v. Weisman,%* which was
argued in November 1991. This litigation
challenged the practice in Providence, Rhode
Island, whereby a member of the clergy—
a Jewish rabbi, in this instance—was in-
vited to deliver a prayer at a middle-school
commencement. In a 54 ruling announced
in June 1992, the Supreme Court, speaking
through Justice Kennedy, concluded that the
custom violated the Establishment Clause of
the First Amendment. Drawing particularly
from Justice Blackmun’s papers at the Li-
brary of Congress, Colucci reconstructs part
of the decision-making process and explains
that, at Conference, Kennedy voted with four
other Justices to uphold the policy. Accord-
ing to Blackmun’s record of the discussion,
Kennedy said that the coercion principle that
had been latent in at least two other deci-
sions®® was not applicable in the commence-
ment case. In one of these, Kennedy had dis-
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sented from the holding that a créche on the
grand staircase of the Allegheny County court-
house in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania violated the
Establishment Clause. In Providence, how-
ever, his view was that the “graduation was
a public event and no one could interpret
mere student attendance as participation in
prayer.” Kennedy “also feared that striking the
prayer would ‘undermine confidence with the
people.’”%

After the Conference voted 5—4 against
the prayer’s opponents, Chief Justice William
Rehnquist assigned the majority opinion to
Kennedy. According to Colucci, “Kennedy did
not circulate an opinion for more than three
months. On March 30, 1992, he sent a memo
to Blackmun, the senior Justice in dissent,
‘After writing to reverse in the high school®’
graduation case, my draft looked quite wrong.
So I have written it to rule in favor of the
objecting student.’ ... Kennedy admitted that
‘after the barbs’ . .. [following his vote in the
créche case] ‘between the two of us, I thought
it most important to write something that you
and I and the others who voted this way can
join. That is why it took me longer than it
should have.” Three days later, Blackmun—
the senior member of the new majority—
assigned the majority opinion to Kennedy.”6®
As Colucci interprets this judicial fluidity,
“Kennedy applied the coercion principle. . . to
strike official-led prayer in the context of pub-
lic school graduations. He focused not on the
potential establishment of religion by govern-
ment but on the dissenting students’ right of
conscience.” Although Kennedy was joined by
none of his colleagues who had signed his dis-
sent in the créche case, Colucci believes that
Kennedy’s opinion in Lee “is best read as a
defense of personal liberty, dignity, and con-
science™®® and as such is consistent with his
overall jurisprudential posture.

In seeking to remove doubt that, for
Kennedy, liberty is the nation’s central consti-
tutional value, Colucci concludes by acknowl-
edging that the Justice’s “interpretive approach
stands or falls” on whether he is correct about
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three things: “about the centrality of liberty
as a constitutional value, about his conception
of the substantive nature of that liberty, and
about the proper role of the Court in discover-
ing and enforcing it.”7? It will surely be Justice
Kennedy’s current colleagues, as well as Jus-
tices of Courts yet to be fashioned, who will
make that determination.

Still, with respect to both the Knowles
and the Colucci books, one wishes that each
author had written at greater length about the
maturation of Kennedy’s thinking that has re-
sulted in his evident constitutional fixation on
liberty. Except for occasional intimations, nei-
ther book has much to say about the broad ed-
ucation and shaping of the Justice’s mind. In
this context, one thinks particularly and fondly
of Daniel Meador’s expedition through Jus-
tice Black’s library (admittedly written after
Black’s death).”!

With a handful of exceptions, and exclud-
ing authors of books surveyed in this essay,
every individual discussed in the preceding
paragraphs is the focus of an essay in The
Yale Biographical Dictionary of American
Law,’? an important, comprehensive, and con-
venient desk reference edited by Roger K.
Newman of Columbia University’s School of
Journalism. Readers of the Journal of Supreme
Court History also know him as a biographer
of Justice Hugo L. Black.” At a total length of
about 600 pages, Newman’s most recent con-
tribution contains more than 700 entries au-
thored by nearly 600 contributors.” The rich-
ness of the volume is best grasped by thinking
of the title with an emphasis on “biographical”
rather than on “dictionary.” It is most certainly
not a dictionary of law. That is, it is not a col-
lection of definitions of legal terms. Nor is
it a collection of essays about legal concepts,
movements, or doctrines, although entries fre-
quently refer to some of these. Instead, it is
a collection of legal portraits in miniature—
essays, ranging between 400 and 1,600 words
in length, about individuals who have played a
prominent role in the development of Ameri-
can law from the earliest years of the Republic
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to the present time. Thus, it is similar in de-
sign to, but also numerically far more inclusive
than, Melvin I. Urofsky’s The Supreme Court
Justices: A Biographical Dictionary.” Like-
wise, because the Urofsky book contains far
fewer entries, they are usually significantly
longer and provide greater depth than those
in Newman’. Moreover, anyone consulting
Newman’s Dictionary should also consult two
works edited by John R. Vile, each in two vol-
umes: Great American Lawyers: An Ency-
clopedia, published in 2001, and Great Amer-
ican Judges: An Encyclopedia, published in
2003.

The variety of entries in The Yale Bi-
ographical Dictionary of American Law
is extensive because as Newman explains,
“American law is in many ways the story
of the United States itself. ... To understand
law, one must look at its leading figures.””®
This was presumably Felix Frankfurter’s point
when, in his little book on Justice Oliver Wen-
dell Holmes, he counseled, “In Law, also, men
make a difference. ... There is no inevitabil-
ity in history except as men make it.”’’ The
same thought may explain Newman’s allusion
to Ralph Waldo Emerson’s assessment that all
“history resolves itself very easily into the bi-
ography of a few stout and earnest persons”
where “there is properly no history, only biog-
raphy,”’® although Emerson was also empha-
sizing the unavoidable subjectivity that histor-
ical writing entails.”

As for the “stout and earnest persons” se-
lected for inclusion in Newman’s book, the
first entry is on Wisconsin’s Chief Justice
Shirley S. Abrahamson, while the last entry
treats the late Professor (and former judge)
Irving Younger of the University of Minnesota.
Newman explains that his book is not limited
to constitutional lawmakers and interpreters,

although this group is clearly well represented.

One finds, for example, both Justices who
bear the name John Marshall Harlan. One also
finds an entry on Edward Samuel Corwin and
one on Thomas M. Cooley. Because the cutoff
date for inclusion was 2005, the three most
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recently appointed Supreme Court Justices
(Chief Justice Roberts and Justices Alito and
Sotomayor) could not, of course, be included.
With an individual such as William Howard
Taft, who had a multifaceted career, the es-
say emphasizes the legal dimension thereof
more than the political side. With Franklin D.
Roosevelt, the internment of American cit-
izens of Japanese descent is featured more
prominently than the President’s role in shap-
ing military strategy with the Allies during
World War II. While most of the individuals
chosen as subjects have been lawyers, some
non-lawyers—such as James Madison, jour-
nalist Anthony Lewis, and professor and ju-
dicial biographer Alpheus Thomas Mason—
are incorporated, too. Indeed, Newman notes
that some 10 percent of entries address per-
sons other than practicing lawyers, judges, and
law professors. Similarly, while some entries
concern figures from the founding generation
and from the nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries, contemporary notables are present
too, as illustrated by Theodore Olson, David
Boies, Rudolph William Lewis Giuliani, Lau-
rence Tribe, and Ralph Nader. One is also
pleased to see representation of the recent past,
as well in entries on individuals such as Rex
E. Lee, Solicitor General for four years during
the Reagan administration and a law-school
dean, and Griffin B. Bell, a former federal
judge who served as Attorney General in the
Carter administration and who died in early
2009, just as Newman’s book was in produc-
tion.%" As for other subjects, if there is prop-
erly an entry on Judge James Skelly Wright,
there probably should have been one as well on
Judge J. Waites Waring, and perhaps on Judges
William Augustus Bootle and Susan Webber
Wright.

Although the book is carefully compiled
and complete with a brief bibliographical note-
at the conclusion of each entry, one useful
feature is nonetheless missing: the table of
contents lacks a list of the subjects treated
in the many entries. This is not an insur-
mountable omission, of course. If one wants
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to see whether Clarence Earl Gideon made
the cut (he did, in a brief essay authored by
Anthony Lewis), one merely looks through
the volume to the section where the “G” en-
tries are printed (between pages 213 and 243).
There one finds an entry on Gideon on page
220, sandwiched between Phil S. Gibson’s and
Grant Gilmore’s. But this flip-and-turn, seek-
and-find task would be easier, quicker, and
far more efficient if a list of names had been
inserted at the front of the volume, with corre-
sponding page numbers, as part of the table of
contents showing all individuals who merited
treatment in an entry. While not as convenient
as a full index (which the book also lacks), a
complete table of contents would also not have
been as space-hungry and labor-intensive as an
index, but would have been a much-welcomed
enhancement.

Any publisher contemplating develop-
ment of a project on the scale and of the sort
that Newman has skillfully guided to comple-
tion must surely make a fundamental and pre-
liminary commercial assessment even of the
need for such a volume in the age of the Inter-
net, where so much information is so quickly
accessible online by so many. Resorting to any
one of several leading search engines connects
one with numerous sources within a matter of
seconds or, more often, in a fraction of a single
second. The happy reality is that anyone with a
link to the Internet now has access to resources
and the data they contain that, less than three
decades ago, would have been available only at
a major research library. This is a truth that is
hard to fathom by those who never lived life be-
fore or without the Internet. Today, one might
as well try to imagine life before electricity—
or, say, the world of the Framers of the Consti-
tution, who lived at a time when news traveled,
on average, at about four miles per hour. As
one columnist has explained, “[i]t took about
4,000 years from the invention of writing to
the Roman-era codex of bound pages replacing
scrolls, 1,000 years from the codex to movable
type creating books, 500 years from the print-
ing press to the Internet—and only 25 years
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" to the launch of the iPad.” It and similar de-
vices remind “us there is a digital revolution
redefining the book”®! in progress.

In light of the realities of the contem-
porary online world, one must therefore ask
whether there is still a practical reason to have
a bound copy of the Yale Biographical Dic-
tionary of Law (or a similar work in a differ-
ent field) on one’s shelf. For several reasons,
the answer to this question is clearly an af-
firmative one. The era of the usefulness of
such works has not passed. First, a book like
Newman’s contains finished pieces of content,
synthesis, and analysis. Whatever the topic,
much of the hard research work of mining rep-
utable sources has already been done. In short,
any reader enjoys a tremendous convenience
in turning to a reference like Newman’s. It
is the biographical version of one-stop shop-
ping. Second, some essential sources may not
be available online. This is certainly true for in-
formation and perspective that can be gleaned
only from books, most of which have yet to be
digitized. Third, the printed work (or an elec-
tronically accessible version in digital form on
a wireless reading device) contains carefully
crafted essays by authors chosen, presumably,
for their expertise on particular individuals. An
essay about Justice White, for example, is not
merely a collection of information about Pres-
ident John F. Kennedy’s first Supreme Court
nominee, but is truly a window into this per-
son’s life after that life has been probed and
investigated by someone competent to do so.
The reader may thus have a comfortable degree
of confidence in the accuracy and thorough-
ness of the essay she or he is reading. Fourth,
the essays have been subjected to quality con-
trol by the editor, who, in this instance, has
worked with a nine-member board of editors
and a major university press in a way partially
akin to, although certainly not identical to, the
peer-review process by which articles are
screened for publication in leading academic
journals. This process also assures balance in
avoiding essays that are overly skewed in one
ideological direction or another. Fifth, there
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is therefore a consistency to the presentation
of material that increases the value and utility
of each entry. Sixth, a book facilitates brows-
ing in a way that is difficult when one jumps
from one Internet site to another or among
subjects within a single site. The fortuitous re-
sult is that, in the process of looking for and
reading one essay, other entries will catch the
eye of the user and possibly lead to another
reading adventure. That was certainly the ex-
perience of the author of this review article
when examining the Biographical Dictionary
of American Law. Readers will learn much
about individuals with whom they were previ-
ously entirely unfamiliar and will also become
reacquainted with others about whom they
probably have not thought in a long time.
The appropriate analogy might be to making
friends in a new setting or encountering unex-
pectedly some old acquaintances, or to brows-
ing in the stacks of a library or among the
shelves of a well-stocked bookstore. What one
discovers across the entries in Newman'’s com-
pendium are numerous links between the judi-
ciary and the political process in the United
States. In particular, the volume illustrates
how, thanks to the courts, the Constitution,
along with the litigation it has encouraged, is
now the place where law and politics meet.
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